

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/adr

## Neurosurgery at the crossroads of immunology and nanotechnology. New reality in the COVID-19 pandemic



Vladimir A. Ljubimov<sup>a,\*</sup>, Arshia Ramesh<sup>b</sup>, Saya Davani<sup>c</sup>, Moise Danielpour<sup>a</sup>, Joshua J. Breunig<sup>d</sup>, Keith L. Black<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, USA

<sup>b</sup> University of California Los Angeles, CA, USA

<sup>c</sup> University of California Davis, CA, USA

<sup>d</sup> Department of Biomedical Sciences, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, USA

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 6 September 2021 Revised 19 October 2021 Accepted 28 October 2021 Available online 20 November 2021

Keywords: Nano neurosurgery Nano immunology Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB) Drug delivery Brain cancer SARS-CoV-2 virus

## ABSTRACT

Neurosurgery as one of the most technologically demanding medical fields rapidly adapts the newest developments from multiple scientific disciplines for treating brain tumors. Despite half a century of clinical trials, survival for brain primary tumors such as glioblastoma (GBM), the most common primary brain cancer, or rare ones including primary central nervous system lymphoma (PCNSL), is dismal. Cancer therapy and research have currently shifted toward targeted approaches, and personalized therapies. The orchestration of novel and effective blood–brain barrier (BBB) drug delivery approaches, targeting of cancer cells and regulating tumor microenvironment including the immune system are the key themes of this review. As the global pandemic due to SARS-CoV-2 virus continues, neurosurgery and neuro-oncology must wrestle with the issues related to treatment-related immune dysfunction. The selection of chemotherapeutic treatments, even rare cases of hypersensitivity reactions (HSRs) that occur among immunocompromised people, and number of vaccinations they have to get are emerging as a new chapter for modern Nano neurosurgery.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Intro	oduction	2		
	1.1.	Precision medicine importance in neurosurgery	2		
		1.1.1. Concept of precision medicine	2		
		1.1.2. Glioblastoma as the most common primary malignant brain tumor	2		
		1.1.3. Primary CNS lymphoma, a rare brain tumor	3		
		1.1.4. Nanotechnology for brain tumor personalized medicine	3		
2.	Blood	vd-Brain Barrier (BBB)	3		
	2.1.	The cellular structure and functions of BBB	3		
	2.2.	BBB transport mechanisms	4		
	2.3.	Brain cancer BBB structure	5		
3.	Brain	n immune system as a dynamic component of microenvironment	5		
	3.1.	Brain privileged immune system as a major regulator of physiological defense	5		
	3.2. Cancer effects on the brain immune landscape				
		3.2.1. Tumor-induced changes in the brain immune microenvironment	6		
		3.2.2. Cancer immunosuppression	6		
	3.3.	Current immunotherapeutic approaches for brain tumors:	7		
		3.3.1. Tumor vaccines	7		

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Neurosurgery, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, 8700 Beverly Blvd, AHSP-A8307, Los Angeles, CA 90048, USA. *E-mail address:* Vladimir.Ljubimov@cshs.org (V.A. Ljubimov).

	3.3.2. Oncolytic viruses	9
	3.3.3. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells - CAR-T cells	10
	3.3.4. Checkpoint inhibitors	10
4.	Classes of nanoparticles used in CNS therapy	11
	4.1. Lipid-based nanoparticles (NPs).	11
	4.2. Polymeric NPs	11
	4.3. Inorganic NPs	12
5.	Treatment of brain tumors based on molecular tumor profiles	13
	5.1. Molecular targets for drug development to treat tumors	13
	5.2. Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB) role in drug delivery	13
	5.3. BBB crossing nanotechnological systems	14
	5.4. Anti-angiogenesis therapy for brain tumors	14
	5.5. Nano immunology approaches in tumors	15
6.	RNA nanomedicine therapy	15
	6.1. RNA delivery	15
	6.2. Structural properties of nano LNP-mRNA vaccines against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2)	16
7.	SARS-CoV-2 infection necessitates emergency care for patients with CNS disorders	16
	7.1. Brain endothelial system after SARS-CoV-2 infection induces an aberrant immune reaction	16
	7.2. Neurosurgery directions in the era of COVID-19.	18
8.	Future directions	19
	Declaration of Competing Interest	19
	Acknowledgement	19
	References	19

## 1. Introduction

The term "nano neurosurgery "is less than two decades old. In 2003, Dunn and Black for the first time proposed it to use for glioma therapies on a molecular scale [1]. Nanomaterials for nano neurosurgery as imaging and treatment agents are selected for a number of criteria corresponding to the "brain rules": 1. Neuroprotection and lack of neurotoxicity, 2. Ability to be delivered through BBB, 3. Pharmacological criteria, which are prolongation of plasma circulation, tumor accumulation and cancer cell retention, 4. Specific targeting of a brain cell type, 5. Immunomodulation of the brain privileged immune system, and 6. Resensitization to the other treatment's effects (e.g., rendering more sensitive to radiation and chemo-, thermo-and immuno-therapy).

The tendency in modern neurosurgery is to minimize surgical invasiveness by incorporating novel imaging techniques and personalized surgical and treatment approaches. The theranostic approach, that is, the ability to deliver imaging and therapeutic agents to the tumor site and tumor cells using one nano agent hold great promise. Molecular imaging with the development of long-term circulating and targeting agents expands the options for both diagnostic and therapeutical strategies [2–4]. Nano-pharmacology in this setting allows for systemic drug administration to enhance drug concentrations in the tumors to maximize efficacy and mini-mize systemic and neuro toxicity. Nanotechnology may address a number of needs at the same time through the design of multifunc-tional agents able to act in the myriad of combinations of targeted and immune-therapeutical agents often needed to eradicate the existing tumors and prevent tumor growth and recurrence [5–9].

Development and optimization of effective delivery methods (e.g. convection-enhanced drug delivery) of nanoplatforms (synthetic or natural biodegradable carriers) may significantly improve the treatment of malignant gliomas and other brain tumors in the near future. This is achieved through facilitating *in vivo* therapeutic targeting of tumor endothelial system and parenchymal cells, thereby permitting access to the tumor microenvironment and its component immune system. With the advent of "nano neurosurgery," targeted and efficient molecular therapeutics and immunotherapy would soon complement the current surgical, radiological, and chemotherapeutic approaches to the management of diseases in neurooncology. This review discusses achievements of nanomedicine and immunology that could improve brain tumor treatment. Specifically, we focus on the clinical translation toward precision medicine to improve patient-specific therapeutic responses. We emphasize new biomaterials, drugs and bioengineering approaches aimed to overcome biological barriers and individual tumor heterogeneity. The classes and subclasses of nanomaterials that are currently under development or used in clinic for brain imaging and therapy are presented with evaluation of their physico-chemical properties that correspond to the clinical needs.

### 1.1. Precision medicine importance in neurosurgery

### 1.1.1. Concept of precision medicine

Precision medicine, or personalized medicine, calls for the development of patient-tailored treatments based on biomarkers or stratification by mutations or biomarkers. While not yet a clinical reality, the premise of precision medicine is that it will offer superior outcomes to the traditional treatment of disease rather than a one-treatment-per-disease approach to cancer management [10]. Patient stratification has already become a standard for new drug development, because anti-cancer therapeutics often show little efficacy in unstratified studies [11].

Although patient stratification is essential in the development of precision medicines, clinical trials for nanodrugs are currently conducted in unstratified populations [12]. This situation may soon change, as the importance of stratification becomes more obvious, and nanodrugs begin to gear toward specific patient populations. Nanodrugs can circumvent many current problems of delivery, which may potentially improve therapeutic efficacy of precision medicines. This may also allow more patients to receive individualized therapies.

## 1.1.2. Glioblastoma as the most common primary malignant brain tumor

Gliomas are the most common primary malignant brain tumors, comprising around 75% of all primary malignant brain tumors in adults [13]. Of various gliomas, glioblastoma (previously called glioblastoma multiforme, or GBM) is the most prevalent and the most lethal. The precise etiology of GBM is unknown, and the prevalence of GBMs is projected to increase in the United States

as the population ages. This may be due to increases in exposure to ionizing radiation and environmental factors that induce inflammation, as well as other sources of genomic insults [14–16]. Gliomas appear to be sex-dependent, with males having around 1.6fold higher probability of acquiring this pathology than do females. In addition, females have a better response to therapy. The exact cause of sex dependence is not clear. A recent study has found molecular differences in gliomas depending on gender and suggests the need of further research to unravel their significance and potentially modify the treatment [17]. Gliomas of low grades (I-II) have a higher survival rate, although all gliomas including high grades (III-IV) eventually result in death [18]. The conventional standard of treatment including surgery followed by radiation and chemotherapy is decades old and only results in a modest survival benefit. The combination treatment using temozolomide (TMZ) with radiation therapy has led to a significant increase in patient survival rates [19]. Tumor resection is one of the primary treatment methods, though many risk factors may impact the patient's outcome, and prevention of novel neurological deficits as a result of tumor resection is placed at a higher value than the resection itself. While majority of cases of initial recurrence are in or in the vicinity of resection in patients with GBM, late recurrences typically involve diffuse infiltrating disease distant from site of origin and not easily amenable to surgical therapy. Standard of care remains safe resection of the enhancing region of the tumor on an MRI scan or reduction in volume size at the forefront (via temozolomide) [20]. Additionally, the extent of tumor resection was found to correlate with increased patient survival at a minimum resection amount of 78% [21].

Several known biomarkers, such as O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) methylation and isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) have been identified in terms of stratifying glioma response. Reduced MGMT protein expression regulated by its promoter methylation helps prevent cellular apoptosis caused by TMZ treatment. Therefore, tumor susceptibility to TMZ treatment is increased. Additionally, IDH mutations are present in many secondary GBM tumors, and in around 10% of all gliomas [22]. As of 2021, the updated WHO CNS tumor classification separates IDH mutated GBM as different astrocytoma grade II-IV. IDH mutated GBMs are their own separate entity and are grade IV [23]. Despite advances in cancer therapy, treatment of GBM remains a significant challenge due to the paucity of curative options [24]. One major hurdle is the inability of anticancer drugs to efficiently traverse the blood-brain barrier (BBB) to reach the tumor cells. Therefore, novel drug delivery methods that can easily cross the BBB and deliver anticancer drugs to tumor cells without affecting normal cells are desired [25]. It is hoped that Nanotechnology and nanoimmunology may significantly contribute to the future treatment of gliomas by facilitating BBB traversal to allow for novel brain cancer treatments, including both direct targeting of the tumor and perhaps in combination with immunotherapy.

### 1.1.3. Primary CNS lymphoma, a rare brain tumor

In addition to common primary brain tumors like GBM, a more rare and similarly deadly primary brain tumor is primary central nervous system lymphoma (PCNSL). Lymphomas are hematologic malignancies developing from lymphocytes. Within the four groups of non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) there are over 60 specific types of tumors [26]. Lymphomas are considered as immunologically "hot" tumors, which will respond to immunotherapy. It was interesting to compare the PCNSL treatment response with other tumors, e.g., GBM, that are "cold" and do not respond easily to all kinds of immune stimulations. PCNSL represents only 4% to 6% of all extranodal lymphomas, but its incidence among immunocompetent patients is increasing, particularly among persons 65 years of age and older. This problem is getting more important

nowadays with tendency to increasing longevity and geriatric population. Men are twice as likely to acquire this pathology than women [26,27]. PCNSL is encountered in the brain, eyes, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) but has no systemic manifestations, similar to the other brain primary glial tumor, GBM. About 95% of PCNSLs are diffuse large B-cell lymphomas that are typically highly infiltrative neoplasms, characterized as a "whole brain disease", particularly at relapse. Like malignant gliomas, PCNSL is not amenable to curative resection [28,29]. For treated lymphomas located outside the CNS, the 5-year survival is 67-79% (high-dose of methotrexate and radiation therapy or rituximab). However, treated PCNSL patients have 5-year survival rate of only 20-25% [30]. At present, there is no standard treatment for recurrent PCNSL. The median survival of patients with PCNSL did not change over the last 40 years and remains in the range of 6–7 months [31]. Lack of standard PCNSL treatment approach was confirmed in HOVON 105/ALLG NHL 24. phase III intergroup study [32,33]. This is another primary brain tumor where combination nanotechnology and immunotherapy will likely play a critical role to help neurosurgeons and neurooncologists to treat this deadly disease.

#### 1.1.4. Nanotechnology for brain tumor personalized medicine

Nanotechnology is another branch focusing on development of therapeutic molecules that can combat cancer. The three main classes of nanoparticles used in CNS therapy are Lipid-based, polymeric, and inorganic nanoparticles. They have the ability to be adapted to the disease and to the patient and allow for many applications in targeting, treatment, nucleic acid and therapeutic delivery and imaging in the treatment of primary CNS tumors. These technologies will be discussed below in section 4.

#### 2. Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB)

#### 2.1. The cellular structure and functions of BBB

The BBB is composed primarily of endothelial cells, astrocytes, and pericytes to create a selective barrier where specific molecules may pass through to the brain cells (Fig. 1). The tight junctions in the endothelial cells are a major reason for the limitation on the entry of molecules and ions into the brain from blood vessels. Reese and Karnovsky in 1967 described these tight junctions between the cells in the BBB vessels as continuous and only having a small number of vesicles [34,35]. This is contrary to non-cerebral vessels where vesicles are more frequent and abundant. The sparsity of vesicles restricts the amount and kinds of materials that can pass through the BBB into the brain parenchyma [36]. The endothelial cell tight junctions are formed by the extracellular interaction of transmembrane proteins of two adjacent cells that link and bring each other's membrane together. These transmembrane proteins are selective and determine which molecules can be paracellularly permeable to the BBB [37].

The BBB selective permeability works primarily through the properties of its endothelial cells. Surrounding neurons, glia, astrocytes, pericytes, and circulating immune cells work together with the BBB in selective permeability, regulation of blood flow, angiogenesis, neuronal activity and development within the CNS [38]. (Fig. 1) The BBB interacts with its microenvironment in maintaining homeostasis. It works together with microglia, immune cells of the CNS, that constantly surveil the brain. They phagocytize toxic/ unwanted materials as well as repair and support damaged vessels [38].

Given their exposure to blood from the periphery, the main structure of the BBB are endothelial cells, which line cerebral blood vessels [38]. They restrain the fast trafficking of materials between the brain and blood to control the quantity and identities of mole-



Fig. 1. Schematic demonstrating the normal vs tumor BBB architecture.

cules allowed in the brain. Polarized endothelial cells have different receptors on their extracellular and intracellular surface as well as various efflux and influx transporters that all together control the movement of materials [38]. They also have enzymatic barriers that inactivate and decompose various substances. This restricts certain molecules from carrying out their messages and/or performing their functions in the brain parenchyma. Endothelial cells possess a large number of mitochondria, which explains the greater use of energy for different ion gradients used for transport and enzymatic systems [38].

Astrocytes are glial cells that are a major part of the neurovascular unit. They are located between blood vessels and neurons, are intimately connected to the endothelial cells, share a common basement membrane (BM) with them and play a vital role in signalling [39]. Astrocytes are the connection between the BBB and neurons, explaining why both endothelial cells and astrocytes have receptors for neurotransmitters [39]. Astrocytes relay messages from neurons to endothelial cells to initiate signal transduction pathways within the BBB and to regulate blood flow [37]. They also upregulate many of the functions of the BBB: they signal the expression of specific enzymes for the enzymatic barrier of the BBB [39], they polarize transporters to increase the transport barrier [40], and they aid in creating stronger tight junctions between endothelial cells [41,42]. Astrocytes also function in the phenotypic makeup of the BBB. They release several molecules such as transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), angiopoietin 1, glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), etc. that initiate these expressions [39,43,44].

## 2.2. BBB transport mechanisms

The BBB is not just a physical barrier between the cerebral blood vessels and the brain parenchyma; it also acts as a selective barrier in which specific substances can transport to and from the CNS via active and/or passive transport. The brain endothelial cells have abundant transporters that fall into two categories: efflux and solute transporters. Efflux transporters take molecules from the brain tissue and excrete them against their concentration gradient out into blood vessels. Solute transporters bring molecules and essential nutrients down their concentration gradient, through the BBB and into the brain [37]. The cerebral endothelial cells have specific carrier-mediated transporters (CMT) for molecules that have difficulty entering the membrane of the BBB cells but are still needed for survival of the brain. Molecules can also enter the BBB via receptor-mediated endocytosis from the surface of endothelial cells [38].

Gases such as oxygen passively diffuse across the BBB through a concentration gradient. In addition to gases, various lipid-soluble molecules can also enter the brain by simple diffusion; however, this depends on several factors such as their hydrogen bonding capacity, level of solubility, and molecular weight [45]. It would be convenient for drug delivery if these were the only constraints in passing through the BBB, but this is not the case. For instance, there are drugs that do not have any of these characteristics and can still enter the brain or may exhibit the same lipophilicity as some of these molecules but have a low rate of entrance into the brain [46].

Due to the high electability of the BBB, it has been estimated that approximately 98% of drugs have been rejected from the BBB, and thus were ineffective in targeting specific sites of the brain tissue and for gene delivery [47,48]. Only about 0.1% of intravenously administered therapeutic antibodies can enter the brain. To overcome this obstacle and to reach the concentration goal, higher doses of antibodies need to be administered, but this creates a greater risk of general toxicity and possibility of anaphylaxis development [49].

The net charge on the surface of endothelial cells is negative, allowing cations to easier cross the BBB than anions. Endothelial cells of the BBB also contain ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, which are a type of efflux pump. They hydrolyze ATP to expel toxins or unwanted molecules from the brain into the blood vessels [38].

All of these transport mechanisms contribute to the overall function of the BBB in its goal of maintaining normal brain function. Without it, humans would be probably unable to survive. However, these mechanisms are also creating great difficulty in manufacturing drugs to target specific areas of the brain and help treat diseases.

## 2.3. Brain cancer BBB structure

As the brain tumor grows, it disrupts the blood-brain barrier and triggers changes within its structures. When a primary or metastatic brain tumor grows within the brain parenchyma, it uses its surrounding environment to facilitate its own growth and survival through processes such as neoangiogenesis. As the tumor grows it creates changes in brain vasculature. These changes result in the compromised integrity of the BBB and its microenvironment, becoming an alternate form called the tumor BBB [50]. The tumor BBB is heterogeneous and usually leakier than the normal BBB. This is because the newly formed blood vessels have altered junctions and astrocytic contacts in the affected areas (sites of tumors), but at the unaffected areas ("normal" BBB) normal tight junctions are present [50,51]. At the affected sites, cancer cells may disrupt the normal BBB so that it can facilitate their proliferation, resulting in a lack of tight junction protein expression and creation of fenestrated endothelial cells. When a tumor grows, a number of changes in tight junctions occur such as protein expression dysregulation, which leads to impaired cell-cell contact/communication [52,53]. In the presence of a primary tumor, there is a decrease in the expression of occludin and claudins within the tight junction complex [54,55]. This results in a discontinuous and fenestrated endothelium with small openings [51,54]. These openings/pores are sites for passive diffusion of different manufactured drugs to target and destroy brain tumors. These changes in tight junction protein expression are seen in both primary and metastatic brain tumors. In highly metastatic brain tumors, there is a low expression in tight junction proteins, whereas for weaker metastatic brain tumors there may be an increase in tight junction expression [53]. In general, there is a negative correlation between the reduction of tight junctions and cancer metastasis development and tumor progression [53]. In human GBM, the changes from normal BBB to tumor BBB are also seen through changes in the molecular makeup of the basement membrane [52,56].

The tumor BBB has less connections and signaling with astrocytes and pericytes, altering its activity [50]. In normal brain, astrocytes secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to facilitate and manage vascular growth [50,57–59]. In brain cancer, VEGF is used by the tumors when they run low on oxygen and need to promote neoangiogenesis to grow and survive. These new tumor blood vessels are more permeable to substances than blood vessels of the BBB [50]. In brain tumors, there is noted hyperplasia of  $\alpha$ -SMA-expressing pericytes and overexpression of CD248 by pericytes, which is believed to aid the formation of tumor microvasculature [60]. Astrocytes also secrete a trafficking molecule called major facilitator superfamily domain (Mfsd2a), which is important for the development of normal BBB [50,61]. In the tumor BBB, there is downregulation of Mfsd2a due to a decrease in the signaling from astrocytes to endothelial cells. This contributes to the tumor expansion in the brain and to the higher leakiness of tumor BBB [62].

Although this less restrictive BBB permeability in tumors increases the flow of molecules, many drugs still have difficulty passing through tumor BBB [63]. The tumor BBB has more active efflux pumps than the normal BBB, which remove the drugs from the brain to blood vessels. Additionally, regions of the brain that

are left unaffected by the tumor also have efflux pumps that expel many molecules such as drugs and prevent them from entering [64–66].

Chemotherapeutic drugs can bypass the BBB by different ways including the use of iatrogenic agents or intrathecal drug administration. To allow drug passage through the BBB, it may be disrupted temporarily using osmotic means or administering vasoactive agents such as bradykinin [67], or by exposing the patient to high-intensity focused ultrasound (HIFU) [68]. Additionally, to bypass the BBB, endogenous transporters such as glucose and amino acid carriers, receptor-mediated transcytosis using insulin or transferrin (TfR) receptors, or inhibiting efflux transporters, e.g., p-glycoprotein may be used. However, some vectors targeting BBB transporters, such as TfR, may get entrapped in brain endothelial cells, instead of being transcytosed through the BBB into the tumor [69.70]. Preclinical and clinical methods for BBB passing also include intracerebral needle implantation and convection-enhanced drug administration. However, all the above pharmaceutical and "mechanical" mechanisms for the drug delivery through the BBB are not sufficient for efficient treatment of malignant gliomas [71].

## 3. Brain immune system as a dynamic component of microenvironment

## 3.1. Brain privileged immune system as a major regulator of physiological defense

Immunotherapy of brain tumors is evolving thanks to multifunctional therapies utilizing nanotechnology. The CNS immune system is unique because it depends on the interplay of the systemic and local immune systems. Since the 1940's the brain was thought to be "immune privileged" with the landmark paper by Medawar where skin grafts implanted into brains did not elicit rejection compared to other locations in the body [72]. Many scientists attributed this to the BBB, which was thought to create a physical and biochemical wall [73]. The BBB capillary cell tight junctions create the physical barrier, whereas astrocytic foot processes interacting with the vascular basement membrane help tightly regulate small molecule movement [74]. More recently, this paradigm has significantly shifted based on the discovery of reciprocal orchestration of BBB capillary system, different immune cell migration, differentiation and involvement of extracellular matrix. In 2012, a novel glial-lymphatic or "glymphatic" system was discovered, which clears waste from the brain via aquaporin 4 mediated mechanism and was thought to be the surrogate lymphatic drainage of the brain [75]. Only in 2015, meningeal lymphatics vessels that drain into the cervical lymph node were discovered [76].

Another feature of the brain immune system is that it has resident microglial cells, which are the CNS equivalent of macrophages. The microglia's myeloid progenitors arise from the yolk sac and form alongside the CNS where they continue to reside and replicate [77]. The microglia remain in their embryological state but get activated during inflammation, returning to quiescence after inflammation resolves. Furthermore, additional circulating monocytes are recruited in neuroinflammation on top of the brain's resident microglia and disappear once the inflammatory process ceases [78]. Also, T cells have been noted to enter the brain under normal physiological conditions, further showing the dynamic brain immune system which was previously thought to be isolated [79]. As new discoveries are made, scientists are beginning to understand how unique and intricate the brain's immune system is and how it connects with the rest of the human body's immune system, which opens new doors for treatments. Nano immunology is rapidly becoming an important newest field to

understand, regulate and reverse the brain tumorigeneses for treatment of the CNS pathological conditions.

#### 3.2. Cancer effects on the brain immune landscape

3.2.1. Tumor-induced changes in the brain immune microenvironment In the presence of a tumor, the activity of immune cells such as NK and cytotoxic T cells in the brain microenvironment becomes suppressed. Brain tumors release various effector molecules that not only decrease the functionality of immune cells, but also inhibit antitumor activity [80–83]. These molecules include inflammation regulators that mediate inactivation of immune response to a tumor. Interestingly, in addition to T cell inactivation, synaptic activity to and from the glutamatergic synapses leads to tumor cell proliferation [84,85].

Programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) and its receptor PD-1 are proteins that normally function to aid and prevent immune cells from attacking healthy cells. In primary brain tumors, tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs) express PD-L1 and are thought to pass it via vesicles to regulatory cells resulting in the inhibition of CD8 + T cell activation, which is necessary for anti-tumor immunity [86]. In patients with glioma, surgical resection and immunotherapy with PD-L1 blockade results in improvement in survival rates [87,88]. Recently, scientists were able to manufacture a B cell vaccine able to perform antigen cross-penetration for glioma, resulting in greater survival and functionality of CD8 + T cells. This vaccine, in addition to radiation therapy and PD-L1 blockage, lead to death of tumor cells as shown in approximately 80% of treated animals with tumors [89].

Cancer immunotherapy has become one of the fastest developing approaches in oncology allowing successful treatment of various cancers [90-92]. The new trend in cancer treatment is a combination of immune checkpoint (CTLA and/or PD-1) inhibitors with targeted anti-cancer therapy [93]. Immunotherapy has recently been touted as the breakthrough strategy for oncology, and a wealth of data was accumulated in the last decade about therapy with checkpoint inhibitors and their side effects including systemic toxicity. These inhibitors include monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) to CTLA-4 or PD-1T cell receptors, which turn off the regulatory T cells (Tregs)-mediated inhibition of anti-tumor immune response, allowing cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) and natural killer (NK) cells to eliminate cancer cells. Several humanized antibodies against immune system modulators (checkpoints) CTLA-4 and PD-1 have received FDA approval. Systemic administration of mAbs to CTLA-4 or PD-1 and to PD-L1 can suppress growth of some tumors but has low efficacy for brain tumors as these antibodies poorly cross the BBB [94–96]. Recent studies also highlighted significant roles of tumor-associated macrophages/microglia (TAMs) in cancer development and progression. TAMs produce PD-1, and its expression increases over time in mouse cancer models, and higher tumor stage in humans. PD-1 expression by TAMs was shown to suppress phagocytosis and tumor immunity [97-99]. Macrophage polarization into pro-inflammatory M1 and antiinflammatory M2 phenotypes that have distinct functional characteristics is well established. M1 anti-tumor macrophages have been used in cancer immunotherapy [100,101]. In response to IFN- $\gamma$  or TNF- $\alpha$  stimulation, M1 macrophages generate nitric oxide (NO) from arginine by inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) to trigger anti-tumor action. M2 macrophages can be preferentially polarized by TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10. Their accumulation in tumors is associated with induction of Treg cells that suppress CTLs. M2 macrophages can also suppress activation of NK cells through TGF-β. Overall, the immune reaction to tumors is mediated by the interactions among T cells (Tregs and effector cells), NK cells and TAMs [100,101].

The unique CNS immune environment and BBB physiology need to be considered for the design of glioma immunotherapy [102– 104]. A recent review [94] summarized the data on the glioma immunotherapy trials. The authors analyzed the data from 28 vaccine clinical trials including peptide vaccines targeting EGFRvIII or IDH1; 13 clinical trials for oncolytic viruses; 15 clinical trials for checkpoint inhibitors (e.g., CheckMate 143 trial) and CAR-T cells, that are genetically engineered T cells with chimeric antigen receptors. It was concluded that none of these treatments have shown superior results to the GBM standard-of-care, with TMZ/radiation therapy [105]. CTLA-4 and PD-1 mAbs do not cross the BBB [104,106,107]; however, a modest efficacy against GBM was still observed in preclinical studies, apparently due to the general activation of the immune system upon intravenous antibody administration.

To increase checkpoint inhibitor efficacy against brain tumors. BBB-crossing nanoplatforms have been engineered that would deliver inhibitors through BBB after intravenous injections to match clinical administration of therapeutic antibodies [97]. The combination of nanotechnology and immunotherapy [108] has been shown to improve delivery of nanoscale immunoconjugate drugs across the BBB in animal models. An example of such drugs is a PMLA polymer with covalently conjugated CTLA-4 or PD-1 antibodies and a BBB-crossing antibody or a peptide [6,109]. To cross BBB, two mechanisms were used with similar results, that is, TfR-mediated transcytosis [2,109] or a synthetic low-density lipoprotein receptor (LRP-1) ligand [110], Angiopep-2 (AP-2) peptide. Intravenous use of these nano immunoconjugate drugs resulted in the activation of local brain immune system and increased survival of intracranial GBM GL261-bearing mice. This was a pioneering use of polymeric drug carriers with attached immunotherapeutic moieties to activate brain local immune system and successfully treat GBMs upon systemic therapy. Importantly, CTL fraction including CD8 + and especially proliferating CD8 + Ki67 + T cells was significantly increased in the treated groups. Additionally, the increase of macrophages, in particular, anti-tumor M1 population was observed after treatment, along with elevation of NK cells known as "tumor killers" [6]. These data open up new avenues for modulating local brain tumor immune system using clinically standard intravenous injection of nanodrugs so that they could help orchestrate immune attack on tumor cells and shrink the tumor to aid neurosurgeons in managing gliomas with additional treatments. It should be noted that this technology could be also applied to treat brain metastasis of other tumors, such as breast or lung cancer.

#### 3.2.2. Cancer immunosuppression

Despite the brain immune system's unique adaptations and newly discovered integration with the remainder of the body's immune system, cerebral insults are known to induce immune suppression. Chongsathidkiet et al found that in GBM and other intracranial tumors, there is systemic T cell sequestration in the bone marrow [111]. This mechanism appears to be elicited by depletion of surface sphingosine 1 phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1) on T cells causing their internalization into bone marrow and out of circulation. When genetically stabilized to prevent internalization, the T cells remained in circulation. This alone did not confer any survival benefit but with additive stimulation of CD137(4-1BB) there was a synergistic effect and improved survival [111]. A linear correlation between tumor burden and degree of immunosuppression was described [112]. The authors postulated that a yet unknown soluble factor in circulation was responsible for these changes [112]. Additionally, other cerebral insults including stroke and trauma cause systemic immunosuppression [112]. This study also showed that once the damage is repaired, the immunosuppression resolves. Other studies found brain stromal cells secreting



Fig. 2. Diagram demonstrating mechanisms of current immunotherapy for CNS tumors: CAR-T cells, tumor vaccines, checkpoint inhibitors, and oncolytic viruses.

TGF- $\beta$  and interleukin-10 (IL-10) in response to inflammation, which cause immunosuppression by counteracting inflammatory cytokines [113,114]. These adaptative responses after cerebral insults may be triggered to prevent unrestricted inflammation and edema, thereby suppressing life-threatening increase in intracranial pressure [115]. However, tumors are also known to further cause immunosuppression via amino acid depletion mechanisms. Gliomas secrete indolamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) which suppresses T cell activity by depleting tryptophan [116] and tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells secrete arginase, depleting arginine needed for T-cell proliferation [117]. These and possibly other yet unknown mechanisms may be one reason behind difficulties to treat primary malignant tumors of the brain. The described pathways and effectors may be valuable targets for future nanomedicines to relieve immunosuppression and help treat brain tumors.

#### 3.3. Current immunotherapeutic approaches for brain tumors:

Modern immunotherapy falls into four categories: Tumor Vaccines, Oncolytic Viruses, CAR-T cells and Checkpoint Inhibitors (Fig. 2). In the following section, these type of treatment are discussed in more detail.

### 3.3.1. Tumor vaccines

Vaccines hold promise as another treatment methodology for GBM. Multiple trials are ongoing and more vaccine technologies are being developed. One such trial is PEPvIII, which is a vaccine targeting EGFRvIII mutant present in almost a third of GBM patients [118]. This vaccine showed efficacy in uncontrolled phase 2; however, it did not significantly improve survival in randomized phase 3 trials [119]. In addition, the majority of patients in EGFRvIII vaccine trials who developed recurrence had lost EGFRvIII expression [120]. Other single target vaccines include Wilms tumor 1 (WT1), IDH-R132H, and survivin. The WT1 peptide vaccine showed increased survival, but the trial was nonrandomized [121] requiring further testing. To circumvent these issues, trials were conducted with multi-peptide targeting vaccines. One such study

looked at IMA950, which targets 11 GBM specific tumor peptides; however, there was no clear efficacy [122]. Other studies have tried to use personalized vaccines designed specifically to a patient's specific tumor antigens and genetic profiling [123]. Keskin et al. observed in their phase 1/1b personalized vaccine trial that corticosteroids, which are commonly given to patients to prevent tumor-associated vasogenic edema, appear to significantly inhibit its potency via systemic T-cell responses. Patients in the trial who did not receive steroids had an increase of antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8 + T cells with increase in tumor infiltrating T cells [124]. Another type of vaccine, dendritic cell (DC) vaccine, uses multiple antigens of various types to prime the immune system against tumors. The initial trail of DCs, ICT-107, where the cells were loaded with six GBM antigen peptides, suggested a survival benefit. However, there was no significant overall survival in a randomized phase II trial [125,126]. DCVax-L, an autologous tumor lysate-pulsed DC vaccine, recently completed a phase-3 clinical trial and, based on preliminary results, may increase progressionfree survival. Unfortunately, the data are still limited, and it is too early to draw definitive conclusions [127].

There were attempts at improving tumor vaccine efficacy. In 2004, *in vitro* studies showed increased immunogenicity of DC vaccines after addition of polyinosininc-polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) and Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) among others [128]. These findings were corroborated in phase I/II clinical trial for glioma in 2011 where increased cytokine production and possible survival benefit [129]. Mitchell et al. used another strategy by inducing memory T cell activation with tetanus toxoid prior to CMV antigen-loaded DC vaccine treatment. This led to increased DC lymph node migration and may increase patient survival [130].

Another strategy to improve tumor vaccines is to activate the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) protein [see below section 4.4], an endoplasmic reticulum transmembrane protein, which is a critical part of STING pathway in antitumor immunity. Luo et al. used a STING activating nanoparticle vaccine (PC7A), which improved survival in multiple solid tumor mouse models as well as increased CD8 + T cells in tumors after combination therapy

## Table 1

Current immunotherpy clinical trials for glioma .

1. VACCINES				
<i>Trial Number</i> Phase III	Conditions	Interventions	Status	Results
NCT01480479	Glioblastoma, Small cell glioblastoma, Giant cell glioblastoma, etc.	drug: CDX-110, temozolomide, KLH	completed	ongoing
PHASE II				
NCT00766753	Malignant Glioma	biological: dendritic vaccine, first and second booster vaccines	completed, has results	Median Time to Progression: Dose Level 1 WHO3 AG 5 mo, WHO4 GBM 4 mo; Dose Level 2 WHO3 AG 15 mo, WHO4 GBM 4 mo. Median OS: Dose Level 1 32.88 mo versus Dose Level 2 13.28 mo. 3/22 patients affected by serious AEs
NCT01635283	Adult Diffuse Astrocytoma, Adult Mixed Glioma, Adult Oligodendroglioma	biological: tumor lysate dendritic vaccine, other: laboratory biomarker analysis	completed, has results	OS: 5/5 survival, 3/5 patients affected by other not serious AEs
NCT00293423	Brain and Central Nervous System Tumors	biological: HSPPC-96, procedure: standard surgical resection	completed, has results	8/41 patients presented serious AEs upon Phase 2 Vaccination: 39/41 patients affected by all cause mortality
NCT00643097	Malignant Neoplasms of Brain	biological: PEP-3 vaccine, sargramostim; drug: temozolomide	completed, has results	1/18 patients affected by serious AEs upon Arm I, 3/10 patients affected by serious AEs upon ACT II DI; PFS values: Arm I 17.6 versus 9.9; Arm II 23.7 versus 10.5, Arm III 12.7 versus 8.1
NCT00323115	Glioblastoma Multiforme	biological: autologous dendritic cell, dendritic cell vaccine; drug: temozolomide; procedure: radiotherapy	completed, has results	1/10 patients had Grade 2 AE attributable to vaccine, Median PFS: 9.5, Median Survival Duration: 28 months (15 to 44)
NCT01280552	Glioblastoma Multiforme	biological: ICT-107, placebo DC	completed, has results	Median OS of patients with ICT-107 treatment compared to control dendritic cells: 18.3 versus 16.7, Median Overall Survival in HLA-A2 patients: 18.3 versus 12.9, Median PFS: 11.2 versus 9.0, Median PFS in HLA-A2 patients: 11.2 versus 7.2, Serious AEs in 8/80 treated with ICT-107 versus 7/43 in placebo group, survival still being tested
PHASE I				
NCT03615404	Glioblastoma, Malignant Glioma, Medulloblastoma Recurrent, etc.	biological: CMV-DCs with GM-CSF, Td (tetanus toxoid)	completed, has results	2/9 patients affected in All Cause Mortality, 0/9 patients affected by serious AEs, 9/9 patients affected by affected by other AEs
NCT02529072	Malignant Glioma, Astrocytoma, Glioblastoma	drug: nivolumab, biological: DC	completed, has results	Median OS of patients in Group I versus Group II: 8 versus 15.3, Median PFS Group I versus Group II: 4.3 versus 6.3, 1/3 patients affected by serious AEs in Group I, 2/3 patients affected by serious AEs in Group II; 3/3 Group I All Cause Mortality, 2/3 Group II All Cause Mortality

## 2. ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES

Trial Number Pha II	se Conditions		Interventions			Status	Results
NCT02986178	Malignant glioma		biological: PVSRIPO			active, not yet	ongoing
						recruiting	
NCT00028158	Glioma, astrocytoma, glioblastoma		drug: G207			completed	ongoing
NCT02798406	Brain Cancer, Brain Neoplasm, Glioma		biological: DNX-2401, bio pembrolizumab	ological:		active, not yet recruiting	ongoing
NCT04758533	Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma, Medu	ulloblastoma	biological: AloCELYVIR			not yet recruiting	ongoing
NCT04482933	Neoplasms, High Grade Glioma, Gliobl Multiforme	lastoma	drug: biological G207			not yet recruiting	ongoing
NCT03294486	Glioblastoma, Brain Cancer		drug: combination of TG6	6002 and 5-FC, A	ncotil	recruiting	ongoing
NCT01582516	Brain Tumor, Recurring Glioblastoma		biological: delta-24-RGD	adenovirus		completed	ongoing
NCT01301430	Glioblastoma Multiforme	drug: H-1PV		completed	ongoi	ng	
Phase I							
NCT03178032	Brainstem Glioma, Neoadjuvant Therapy	biological: DN	X-2401	active, not recruiting	ongoi	ng	
NCT03896568	IDH1 wt Allele, Recurrent Anaplastic Astrocytoma, Recurrent GBM	biological: ono DNX-2401	colytic adenovirus Ad5-	recruiting	ongoi	ng	
NCT03072134	Glioma, Anaplastic Astrocytoma, Anaplastic	biological: neu	Iral stem cells with	active, not	ongoi	ng	
	Oligodendroglioma	oncolytic aden	novirus	recruiting	-	-	
NCT00528684	Malignant glioma	biological: REG	DLYSIN	completed	ongoi	ng	
NCT03043391	Malignant glioma, Anaplastic Astrocytoma, Anaplastic Oligoastrocytoma	biological: PVS	SRIPO	recruiting	ongoi	ng	
NCT01491893	GBM, Glioblastoma, Glioma, Malignant	biological: PVS	SRIPO	active, not	DLT o	bserved in 1/4 patients	at Dose
	Glioma			recruiting	Level	5; serious AEs observed	1 in
NCT00028158	Glioma, astrocytoma, glioblastoma	drug: G207, aı	n oncolytic virus	completed	ongoi	ng	
NCT02197169	Glioblastoma or Gliosarcoma	drug: single in DNX-2401, int	ntratumoral injection of Terferon-gamma	completed	ongoi	ng	
NCT01956734	Glioblastoma Multiforme, Recurrent Tumor	procedure: DN	X2401 and Temozolomide	completed	ongoi	ng	

3 CAR-T

ST ELIK T						
Trial Number Phase II	Conditions		Intervention		Status	Results
NCT01454596	96 Malignant Glioma, Glioblastoma, Brain Cancer, Gliosarcoma		biological: (EGFRv)III (CAR) transduced PBL, drug: Aldesleukin, Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide			
NCT04077866	Recurrent Glioblastoma, Refractory Glioblastoma		drug: temozolomide; biological: B7-H3 CAR-T		recruiting	ongoing
PHASE I NCT03726515	Glioblastoma		biological: CART-EGFRvIII T cells, pembrolizumab		completed	ongoing
NCT04185038	Central nervous system tumor, Diffuse Intrinsic Po Glioma, Diffuse Midline Glioma	ontine	biological: SCRI-CARB7H3(s); B7H3-specific CAR T cel	11	recruiting	ongoing
NCT03392545	03392545 High grade glioma, Glioblastoma, Glioma of the brainstem Clioma malignant		combination product: combined immune adjuvants a radiation	ind	recruiting	ongoing
NCT04214392	4214392 Recurrent glioblastoma, Recurrent malignant glion Recurrent WHO Grade II glioma Recurrent WHO s		biological: chlorotoxin(EQ)-CD28-CD3zeta-CD19t-expressing CAR T-lymphocytes		recruiting	ongoing
NCT02208362 Recurrent glioblastoma, Recurrent malignant glion Recurrent WHO grade II glioma, etc.		ma,	biological: IL13Ralpha2-specific Hinge-optimized 4-1BB-co- stimulatory CAR/Truncated CD19-expressinng Autologous TN/		recruiting	ongoing
4. CHECKPOINT INHIBITORS			MEM Cells			
<i>Trial Number</i> Phase III	Conditions	Interv	entions	Status		Results
NCT04396860	Gliosarcoma, MGMT-unmethylated Glioblastoma	biolog Device	ical: Ipilimumab, Nivolumab; device: NovoTTF-100A e, etc.	recruiti	ng	ongoing
PHASE II						
NCT03925246 NCT02798406	925246 High Grade Glioma, Brain Cancer drug: 8406 Brain Cancer, Brain Neoplasm, Glioma, biolog		ug: Nivolumab activ ological: DNX-2401, pembrolizumab activ		not recruiting not yet	ongoing
NCT03047473 NCT03491683	Glioblastoma Multiforme of the Brain Glioblastoma	biolog biolog	rical: avelumab rical: INO-5401, INO-9012, Cemiplimab, etc.	active, 1 active, 1	not recruiting not recruiting	ongoing ongoing
PHASE I						
NCT03576612	Glioma, Malignant	biolog	ical: AdV-tk, Valacyclovir; radiation: radiation	active, 1	not recruiting	ongoing

with radiation showing a synergistic effect [8]. It was an important demonstration that a synergistically acting combination of radiation and stimulation of STING pathway using a nanovaccine leads to a long-term regression of large mouse tumors, with a significant increase of the fraction of CD8 + T cells. These results suggest that combination of local radiotherapy with systemic PC7A nanovaccine is a promising approach to improve therapy of late-stage solid tumors. The same group further showed that their PC7A was able to stimulate prolonged production of pro-inflammatory cytokines via binding of a non-competitive surface site on STING, compared to activation with its native activator, cGMP, and an even more potent effect when both PC7A and cGMP were used. This led to significant survival increases in lung and colon tumor bearing animals. This therapy also significantly upregulated cytokine expression in cultured resected human squamous cell carcinoma, cervical tumor tissue, and sentinel lymph nodes [5]. This promising technology could also be useful for CNS tumor treatment as the STING pathway was noted to be dysfunctional in gliomas [131]. Current clinical trials using vaccines are listed in Table 1, section 1.

### 3.3.2. Oncolytic viruses

Oncolytic viruses are another branch of immunotherapy where viruses are modified to stimulate an immune response, cause destruction of cancer cells or deliver therapeutics into targeted cells [132]. Viruses activate the immune system through pattern recognition receptors, pathogen associated molecular patterns, and activate macrophages via toll-like receptors (TLRs) [133]. Viruses can also promote an inflamed microenvironment in tumors due to activated myeloid cells improving T cell infiltration, offering an interesting workaround for combating tumor immunosuppression often seen in GBM [94]. Oncolytic viral therapy has evolved since its conception with the initial trials using replication incompetent viruses [134] to the current employment in clinical trials of replication competent viruses such as adenoviruses, measles virus, herpes simplex virus, and polio virus among others [135,136].

One of the first viruses for GBM treatment was a recombinant oncolytic poliovirus PVSRIPO (clinical trial NCT01491893). The virus modifies the internal ribosome entry site with a human rhinovirus type 2 to prevent attack on the CNS. This therapy capitalized on the fact that GBMs often express high levels of poliovirus receptor CD155, allowing the virus to infect GBM cells. In the published studies [137,138], overall survival plateaued at 21% of patients in the dose-expansion phase at 24 months and was sustained at 36 months, with 19% having grade 3 or higher drug related adverse event. Another early trial was a virus Toca 511, a non-lytic replicating retrovirus derived from Moloney murine leukemia virus. The virus has a modified cytosine deaminase, allowing it to preferentially infect tumor cells [139], although it also infects normal cells. The advantage of this virus is that unlike normal cells, tumor cells have impaired defense mechanisms allowing the virus to integrate into their genome more easily [140]. The trial was done in 45 patients with the virus injected into the resection cavity at the time of surgery and 6 weeks later had intravenous injection of Toca FC, an extended release 5-fluorocytosine. In infected tumor cells this prodrug was converted to its active form of 5-fluorouracil. The overall survival was 13.6 months, which was superior to matched controls. Aside from the direct tumoricidal effect, the virus also stimulated the immune system for improved response, and likely the synergy of both effects were the cause of this improved survival. Despite its initial success, the larger phase 3 trial, NCT02414165 ultimately did not show significant benefit based on data presented at the 2019 Society of Neuro-Oncology (SNO) meeting [141,142].

Adenoviruses are another class of viruses studied for oncolytic therapy for many years and have well established protocols for *in vitro* modifications [142]. One adenovirus, DNX2401, has been

investigated in combination therapy with TMZ, pembrolizumab (NCT02798406), and IFN- $\gamma$  (NCT02197169). DNX2401 targets tumor cells through a 24-base pair deletion of transforming protein E1A and insertion of an Arg-Gly-Asp motif onto a viral capsid protein, improving  $\alpha_v$  integrin targeting [143]. The company behind DNX2401 announced at the 2019 SNO meeting that their phase II trial with DNX2401 and pembrolizumab showed a median OS of 12.5 months in patients with recurrent glioma, with four patients surviving more than 23 months. They announced a phase III study being planned [144].

Another aspect of oncolytic viral therapy is the ability of viruses to function as gene delivery vectors. These genes can be tumoricidal, such as those delivered by the replication-incompetent adenovirus aglatimagene besadenovec (AdV-tk). AdV-tk expresses HSV thymidine kinase (HSV-TK) which is able to convert ganciclovir into a toxic compound to kill tumor cells [145]. After being found safe in a phase I clinical trial [146], two phase II trials, BrTK02 [145] and HGG-01 [147], using AdV-tk intratumoral injection along with either valacyclovir or ganciclovir, respectively, were conducted. The trials demonstrated favorable progressionfree and overall survival.

Measles virus has also been used in GBM treatment. An engineered measles virus that produced carcinoembryonic antigen (MV-CEA) showed regression in flank tumors and increased survival in GBM-bearing mice [148]. This ultimately led to a clinical trial, NCT00390299; however, the trial went suspended for unknown reasons.

Another group of viruses tested are Herpes simplex viruses (HSV). These viruses had great success in pre-clinical studies, especially when engineered to selectively attenuate genes, such as lacZ gene insertions into viral ribonucleotide reductase promoter, thymidine kinase deletions, among others, so that the virus targets replicating cells in the CNS [149,150]. These preclinical studies demonstrated low toxicity and high anti-GBM effects. Multiple trials are testing different modifications of HSV.

Overall, oncolytic viruses are an interesting branch of immunotherapy and seem to work synergistically with other immune therapies such as checkpoint inhibitors, which is where the future direction of research and trials are headed, such as those with DNX-2401. Many clinical trials are currently ongoing, and it may become clear soon whether these therapies provide safe and efficient treatment in clinical setting [151]. Current clinical trials using oncolytic viruses are listed in Table 1, section 2.

#### 3.3.3. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells - CAR-T cells

One promising immune therapy direction is adoptive T cell therapy. The most successful development is currently chimeric antigen receptor T cells (CAR-T cells). CD19 targeting CAR-T cells are currently approved for treatment of B cell leukemia and lymphoma [152]. Multiple trials for GBM have been initiated, with currently 3 antigens being targeted: EGFRvIII, ERBB2 and IL-13Ra2 [153–155]. However, these therapies have a significant obstacle to overcome, which is the heterogeneity of these tumors. GBM has heterogenous cell population and therefore varying antigen expression. In the case of EGFRvIII targeting CAR-T cells, there was a significant decrease of EGFRvIII; however, wild-type EGFR was unaffected [156]. Similarly, after administration of IL-13Ra2 targeted CAR-T cells, a patient had significant regression of his tumor burden, however, soon relapsed and his tumor became IL-13Ra2 negative [155]. CAR-T cell therapy designs will have to adapt to this heterogeneity and likely broaden their effects, which increases the risk for creating a larger non-specific immune response that may affect normal tissues. One study used an EGFRvIII specific CAR-T cell and a bispecific T cell engager (BiTE) against EGFR (together, CART-BiTE), which was able to target EGFRvIII in tumors as well as recruit untransduced bystander T cells against

wild-type EGFR. This caused heterogenous tumor elimination in mouse models without toxicity against human skin grafts *in vivo* [157].

In addition to targeting, CAR-T cells have to deal with immunosuppressive effects. By themselves, CAR-T cells trigger an influx of Treg cells as well as immunosuppressive factor release from the brain [156]. CAR-T cell therapy design has to account for these factors to improve efficacy. Interestingly, Fraietta et al. described a patient treated with CD19 targeting CAR-T cells for chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). At peak efficiency, the majority of the T cells originated from one clone that had a disruptive mutation in methylcytosine dioxygenase TET2 gene [158]. This mutation greatly increased the CAR-T cell efficacy, which opens up the possibility of TET2 inhibition to further boost CAR-T cell therapy.

Another related strategy to CAR-T cells is transducing cloned T cell receptors (TCRs) into T cells, expanding them, and using them for treatment. One such treatment targets pediatric diffuse pontine gliomas (DIPG). TCRs targeting DIPG mutation H3.3K27M showed efficacy in a mouse model with DIPG xenografts [159]. CAR-T cells targeting disialoganglioside GD2, a protein expressed in DIPG, also had significant tumor clearance in a mouse DIPG xenograft model [160]. This evidence holds promise for future refinement of CAR-T strategy to treat not only hematogenous malignancies but solid tumors as well including brain gliomas. Such therapy could become more efficient when combined with other treatment modalities including radiation and surgery. Current clinical trials using CAR-T cells are listed in Table 1, section 3.

#### 3.3.4. Checkpoint inhibitors

In recent years, immune checkpoint blockade that boosts antitumor immunity, particularly the inhibition of CTLA-4 and receptor-ligand system PD-1-PD-L1, has revolutionized solid tumor treatment [161–163]. However, this treatment did not show significant success for gliomas. The CheckMate-143 clinical trial compared the efficacy of anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab with anti-VEGFA antibody bevacizumab for recurrent GBM and found no overall survival benefit [164]. A more recent trial. CheckMate-498, dealt with MGMT unmethylated GBM using nivolumab plus radiation vs. standard therapy of radiation with TMZ and again found no improvement in overall survival [165]. The latest trial, CheckMate-548 combining TMZ with nivolumab in MGMTmethylated GBM has been stopped by Bristol-Meyer-Squibb. The company issued a press release again stating that no significant overall survival benefit was obtained, with formal results still pending [166,167]. Although some success has been observed with checkpoint blockade for intracranial metastatic melanoma [168], GBM's characteristics make it an elusive target. With the lack of efficacy in GBM, many groups turned to causes of checkpoint blockade failure and to novel methods of checkpoint inhibitor delivery. The significant intratumoral heterogeneity of GBM is likely one of the challenges that needs to be overcome. GBM heterogeneity has been shown on a single cell level with single cells expressing significant oncogenic transcription variations [169]. Another aspect is the dysfunction of T cells in GBM, which prevents success with checkpoint blockade [170].

However, there are other immune checkpoints that may be targeted for GBM treatment. Two checkpoints under heavy investigation and ongoing clinical trials in GBM patients are T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain-containing protein 3 (TIM3) and lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG3). LAG3 is being tested alone or in combination with anti-PD-1 for recurrent glioma [171], and TIM3 is being tested in combination with anti-PD-1 and stereotactic radiosurgery [172]. One aspect of immune checkpoint therapy that appears to improve efficacy is neoadjuvant administration. A trial of neoadjuvant nivolumab created a power-



Fig. 3. Schematic showing the categories of nanoparticles used for CNS tumor treatment, with uses in diagnostic imaging and therapy.

ful pro-inflammatory response and altered the GBM microenvironment, however, without a significant survival benefit [87].

There is still some hope coming from a recent trial where a single dose of neoadjuvant anti-PD-1 pembrolizumab extended survival to 417 days compared to 228.5 in control arm in patients with recurrent GBM associated with a more profound immune response [88]. Another immune checkpoint, glucocorticoidinduced tumor necrosis factor related protein (GITR) is expressed in Treg cells. Novel antibody checkpoint inhibitor targeting GITR receptor induces anti-tumor effects in GBM. The treatment was shown to promote CD4 Treg differentiation into CD4 effector T cells and to reduce Treg mediated suppression of immune response in tumors. These effects caused Treg cells to increase cytokine production and gain cytotoxic activity against tumor cells, while no longer causing immune suppression. Furthermore, there was a synergistic effect with PD-1 inhibitors, and the combination of GITR with PD-1 conferred significant survival benefit in GBMbearing mice [173].

Overall, traditional checkpoint blockade failed to prolong survival of GBM patients. However, new immune system targets and new inhibitor combinations are being actively tested to improve this treatment approach. Encouraging data in preclinical models on the use of checkpoint inhibitors directly delivered to glioma tissue using nanoplatforms passing through BBB are also emerging [6]. Development of this nano delivery approach may significantly increase the efficacy and reduce systemic toxicity of new generation checkpoint inhibitors are listed in Table 1, section 4.

## 4. Classes of nanoparticles used in CNS therapy

## 4.1. Lipid-based nanoparticles (NPs).

Currently, many lipid-based NPs are already approved by FDA for clinical use. Lipid-based NPs have different structures but are

usually spherical platforms with at least one lipid bilayer around an aqueous compartment. For drug delivery, these NPs have considerable advantages, such as simple formulation, self-assembly, biocompatibility, good bioavailability, large payload size and a number of controllable physico-chemical properties that may be modulated and customized. Liposomes that also belong to lipidbased NPs are typically composed of phospholipids, with unilamellar and multilamellar vesicular structures. This feature allows the liposomes to carry various drugs (hydrophilic, hydrophobic and lipophilic). Hydrophilic and lipophilic agents can be entrapped in one liposome, thereby expanding the use of this class of NPs. Another variant of lipid-based NPs is commonly called lipid nanoparticles (LNPs). They are similar in structure to liposomes and frequently utilized for nucleic acids delivery [174] (Fig. 3, Table 2).

#### 4.2. Polymeric NPs

Polymeric NPs are produced from natural or synthetic materials and have a number of variable structures and characteristics (Fig. 3, Table 2). Their synthesis can enable precise control of various features. They constitute good delivery systems because of their biocompatibility, simple formulation and variable drug delivery abilities. Drugs can be encapsulated in the NP core, or trapped in the polymer matrix, or covalently bound either to the polymer or to the NP surface. Polymeric NPs can deliver various hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs of different size, including small molecules, macromolecules, proteins and vaccines [175–180], making them very suitable for co-delivery [181].

The most common polymeric NPs are nanocapsules that have cavities surrounded by a polymeric membrane or shell and nanospheres that have solid matrix. Polymeric micelles that are also block copolymers can self-assemble to nanospheres with a hydrophilic inner core and a hydrophobic outer coating. This structure protects aqueous cargo and helps improve circulation time.

#### Table 2

Selected nanoparticles and its subclasses used in CNS translational study.

Class of nanoparticles	Applications	Concerns					
I. Inorganic Nanoparticles 1. Quantum dots [198–201] Colloidal seminconductor crystals with metalloid crystalline core. They can be coated or conjugated with a number of different molecules Size: 2 - 10 nm	Ability to cross BBB for payload delivery Labeling of intracranial and spinal tumors Tunable emission and long fluorescence half-life. May be used for imaging but mostly for <i>in vitro</i> applications	<b>Toxicity issues</b> Limited data from <i>in vivo</i> studies make it is difficult to assess toxicity and predict clinical usefulness					
2. Magnetic nanoparticles [3,202–205] Magnetites (Fe <sub>3</sub> O <sub>4</sub> ) & Maghemites (Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> ) Superparamagnetic iron oxide size: 50 – 150 nm Ultrasmall size: 10 – 14 nm	Retention effect in tumors May be promising contrast agents due to paramagnetic properties	Potential toxicity and sequestration in the body					
<ol> <li>Carbon nanotubes and graphene [206–212] Nano cylinders of graphene sheets wrapped onto themselves</li> </ol>	Potential scaffold for neuroregeneration due to biocompatibility and stretch	Unclear genotoxic and cytotoxic effects					
4. Gold nanoparticles [189,213–216] Size: 2.5 nm	Small size is favorable for delivery. Important photothermal and radiosensitising NPs useful for theranostic applications (imaging and treatment)	Potential problems with toxicity, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics					
II. Polymeric Nanoparticles	Ability to improve BBB delivery; Retention effect in tumors; Multifunctional properties	Potential toxicity due to early payload release					
1. Micelles [4,7,217–219] Hydrophobic core is stabilized by hydrophilic shell Size:10 – 150 nm	Hydrophobic core accommodates drugs with poor water solubility Hydrophilic shell provides escape from immune mechanisms and ensures longer circulation	They may leak cargo if dissociate too early. Due to strong crosslinking may not dissociate well causing inadequate drug release					
2. Dendrimers [4,7,217–219] Spheroids made up of repetitive branched three- dimensional structures Sizes depend on the number of generations	Direct delivery of anti-tumors agents to tumor cells Good capacity for surface functionalization resulting from high surface to volume ratio Used to deliver drugs and nucleic acids	Targeted therapy via conjugated antibodies or other moieties, systemic injection or stereotactic implantation Membrane interaction with cationic surface groups my cause cutotoxicity					
3. Hydrogels [4,7,217–219] Composed of cross-linked polymers, both ionic and non-ionic <150 nm	Provide controlled drug release, which is stimulus- responsive. Usable as neural tissue scaffolds due to good mechanical strength.	May retain unwanted reactivity after synthesis resulting from non-cross-linked small molecules					
4. Nanopolymers [4,7,174,217–219] Solid natural or synthetic biocompatible nanopoly- mers Size: 10 – 100 nm	Easy manipulation of chemistry for diagnostic and treatment (theranostic) needs, with various materials and functions. Biodegradability makes them useful as drug delivery vehicles, scaffolds etc.	Toxicity profiles may be regulated with specific moieties. Ability to reduce drug resistance					
<ul> <li>III. Lipidic Nanoparticles</li> <li>1. Liposomes [4,7,174,217–219] Bilayered lipid or phospholipid vesicles with aqueous core</li> <li>2. Unilamellar or multilamellar Size: 20 – 500 nm</li> <li>2. Solid lipid NPs [4,7,174,217–220] Lipid NPs (LNPs) are liposome-like structures for nucleic acids delivery. They are colloidal carriers composed of physiological lipid, dispersed in water or in an aqueous surfactant Size: 40 – 1000 nm</li> </ul>	<b>Big size might be problematic for BBB delivery</b> Biocompatible and biodegradable; this makes them attractive carriers for hydrophilic and lipophilic drugs. Liposomes often have special surface modifications aimed at extending their circulation and enhancing delivery. These properties enable clinical use Targeted drug delivery and good physical stability	Potential toxicity Rapid uptake by the reticuloendothelial system; low solubility and short half-life; may undergo oxidation and hydrolysis; may leak drug molecules Insufficient loading capacity Drug may get expulsed during storage upon polymeric transition					
3. Emulsion [174,221]	Simple to formulate; have a number of useful physico- chemical properties. Possess high bioavailability and payload flexibility	Low encapsulation efficiency					

Polymeric micelles have been used as delivery vehicles for cancer drugs in clinical trials [182].

Dendrimers consist of hyperbranched polymers with complex architecture allowing for the mass, size, shape and surface modifications to be well controlled. Active groups on the dendrimer exterior enable chemical conjugation of biological or contrast agents to the surface whereas drugs can reside in the interior. Dendrimers can carry various drugs, most commonly nucleic acids and small molecules [183,184]. For these applications, charged dendrimers including poly(ethylenimine) (PEI) and poly(amidoamine) (PAMAM) are utilized. Dendrimer-based compounds are currently in clinical trials testing them as theranostic, contrast and transfection agents, as well as topical gels [184–186]. Generally, polymeric NPs are great candidates for drug delivery because of their superior features including biodegradability, water solubility, biocompatibility, and stability during storage. The possibility of easy modification for targeting [187] allows polymeric NPs to deliver proteins, chemical agents, and genetic material to specific tissues, making them attractive systems for cancer diagnostics, treatment, and gene therapy. However, polymeric NPs possess an increased risk of particle aggregation and toxicity, which is a known drawback for their use. For this reason, only a few polymeric nanomedicines are FDA-approved, and these nanocarriers are currently being evaluated in clinical trials [188].

### 4.3. Inorganic NPs

Gold, iron and silica have been used to produce nanostructured materials for drug delivery and imaging (Fig. 3). Inorganic NPs can be precisely formulated and engineered to have various sizes and structures. Gold NPs (AuNPs) exist in various forms including nanospheres, nanoshells, nanorods, nanostars, and nanocages [189]. Inorganic NPs possess unique properties including physical, magnetic, electrical, and optical. For instance, AuNPs have free electrons at their surface that continually oscillate at a frequency dependent on their size and shape, conveying them photothermal

properties [190]. Also, AuNPs can be easily functionalized to expand their properties and delivery abilities [189].

Iron oxide is also a popular material for inorganic NPs; most FDA-approved inorganic nanomedicines belong to this category [191] (Table 2). Magnetic iron oxide NPs composed of magnetite (Fe3O4) or maghemite (Fe2O3) is superparamagnetic at certain sizes and is a valuable contrast agent, drug delivery system and thermal-based therapeutic [192]. Other inorganic NPs made of calcium phosphate and mesoporous silica have been also successfully used for gene and drug delivery [193,194]. Semiconducting quantum dots made of silicon are unique NPs used for *in vitro* imaging applications and are also promising for *in vivo* diagnostics [195,196].

Inorganic NPs have special magnetic, radioactive or plasmonic properties and are uniquely suitable for diagnostics, imaging and photothermal therapy. They usually possess good biocompatibility and stability and are being used in applications requiring properties that organic materials do not have. Their disadvantages limiting clinical applications include low solubility and some toxicity, especially when heavy metals are used [192,197].

# 5. Treatment of brain tumors based on molecular tumor profiles

Recently, gliomas have been well characterized by genomic and molecular marker analysis under The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) project [128,222,223]. These studies have highlighted GBM heterogeneity and the necessity for the development of new treatment strategies. Such strategies not only target cancer cells but are also directed to critical components of brain tumor microenvironment that facilitate malignant growth, invasion and escape from immune surveillance [224]. They are also part of the niche for cancer stem cells (CSCs) that are thought to be responsible for tumor therapy resistance and recurrence development [224–226]. Tumor blood vessels are key part of this niche in gliomas and provide structural and functional support to perivascular CSCs [225-229]. The available evidence emphasizes the importance of tumor extracellular matrix (ECM), vascular system, immune environment in GBM growth and recurrence, and suggests that new therapies could target this niche in addition to cancer cells for inhibiting glioma growth and CSCs [224,226,230]. Recent preclinical evidence showed the ability of nanoformulations to successfully modulate GBM microenvironment including ECM [7] and brain local immune system [6] to inhibit GBM growth. This gives hope for the development of clinically relevant combinations of nanodrugs targeting both cancer cells and tumor microenvironment in a multiprong effort to increase glioma treatment efficacy while maintaining safety due to direct nanodrug delivery to the tumors.

## 5.1. Molecular targets for drug development to treat tumors

Targetable molecular glioma markers that are used in preclinical and clinical studies include EGFR, tenascin-C, bcl-2 family of antiapoptotic proteins, survivin, Rho proteins, p53, MMPs, VEGF and its receptors [231–233]. Increased expression of some proteins (EGFR, tenascin-C, survivin, laminins) is associated with poor survival of patients [7,234–237]. Some drugs aimed at modulating the expression levels of such markers are being used in clinic; however, there are no clinically approved nanodrugs in this class. Nonetheless, preclinical studies are constantly expanding to develop nanoplatforms able to pass through BBB and change the expression of glioma markers in the desirable direction. For instance, our group has found that vascular BM protein laminin-411 ( $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 1 $\gamma$ 1) was overexpressed in 92% of GBM cases, and this correlated with shorter time to glioma recurrence and poor survival. It was proposed as a marker for prediction of recurrences and patient survival, based on the analysis of several hundred GBM samples [7,238]. Laminins are major BM components important for cell adhesion, migration, and angiogenesis, as well as for the maintenance of the BBB [239,240]. Dysregulation of celllaminin interactions is found in various cancers. In GBMs, this dysregulation is associated with increased Notch signaling and high expression of CSC markers [7]. In several mouse models of intracranial GBM, selective inhibition of laminin-411 by specific antisense attached to PMLA-based nanoconjugate reduced Notch signaling and the expression of CSC markers with significant increase of survival in tumor-bearing animals. Suppression of GBM growth and survival increase were similar in animals treated with nanoconjugate and untreated animals that were inoculated with GBM cells where laminin-411 expression was blocked by CRISPR-Cas9 [7]. These data attested to the high efficacy of the used nanoconjugate able to pass through BBB and block a GBM protein laminin-411. These studies illustrate the high potential of nanotechnology for developing new pharmacological therapies against gliomas that could be used alone or in combination with other treatment modalities.

#### 5.2. Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB) role in drug delivery

The BBB is a complex barrier structure formed by tight-junction connected brain capillary endothelial cells surrounded by pericytes and astrocytes-all three contributing significantly to the integrity of this structure. BBB also protects the brain from various harmful agents including pathogens. It is important to fully understand the functions and components of the BBB to create the most effective drugs that can be delivered to specific targets in the brain and overcome the obstacles posed by the BBB. The BBB controls which molecules can enter/exit the brain as well as maintain a homeostatic environment. It acts as a highly selective barrier between the cerebral blood vessels and the brain parenchyma. The BBB maintenance of homeostasis allows CNS structures to perform their functions properly without facing any interruptions from other processes carried throughout the body, and to maintain normal brain function as a highly specialized neurovascular unit [241]. The BBB permits passing oxygen and other necessary nutrients needed for survival into brain cells, but rejecting harmful and/or unknown molecules from entering.

Nanodrug delivery approaches including specific delivery to the brain represent a significant portion of biopharma research and offer many promising applications. Current developments are aimed to improve controlled drug release, target cell-specific drug release and efficacy, and reduction of systemic side effects [9,242,243].

A significant advantage of nano drug delivery vehicles is their ability to pass through biological barriers, especially important for the CNS and gastrointestinal tract [244–247]. Growing tumors release angiogenic factors and build new vasculature inside them with often abnormal extracellular matrix. Brain tumor vessels unlike normal ones that characteristically have tight junctions forming the BBB, may have 600 to 800 nm gaps between adjacent endothelial cells. Such abnormal vessels may not completely preclude passage of macromolecular drug carriers through the BBB into the brain parenchyma. Such nonspecific, "passive" targeting was described by Maeda as the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect [248]. Because of altered tumor lymphatic drainage, EPR effect allows macromolecular drugs to reach high tumor drug concentrations (10-fold or higher) compared with free drug administered at r the same dose [249]. However, EPR effect seems to be less important in case of poorly vascularized tumors or necrotic tumors with little angiogenesis. Many drugs including antibodies are still unable to enter the brain tumors even with

morphological and physiological changes of the tumor vasculature allowing passive EPR effect-mediated passage. For this reason, new drug delivery systems have specific moieties targeting brain endothelial cell surface proteins that enables them to pass through BBB by transcytosis and reach tumor cells. This process is called "active" or ligand-mediated targeting. Some of these promising medicines are being used in clinic (Ambisome, Doxil, DepuCyt, Bexxar), with active development of many others [250].

## 5.3. BBB crossing nanotechnological systems

Nanotechnology for the generation of drug delivery devices requires a platform that is able to carry multiple components, such as a drug, a targeting agent, and a tracking agent, as well as allow for controlled and target-specific drug release and have a good safety profile [250]. Additional moieties may be needed for drug delivery through BBB and blood-brain tumor barrier that exists in brain tumors.

Polymers able to deliver drugs to tumor cells rather than to the whole brain are gaining momentum partly due to lower immunogenicity than viral vectors that renders them more useful for multiple treatments [251-254]. The advantages of macromolecular therapeutics compared to low molecular mass drugs also include increased efficacy and maximum tolerated dose, lower nonspecific toxicity and activity toward multidrug resistant cells, increased solubility and tumor targetability, enhanced accumulation in solid tumors, induction of tumor cell apoptosis, and activation of different signaling pathways. These therapeutics are exemplified by the extensively characterized system to treat GBMs that is based on a natural polymer, poly(b-L-malic) acid (PMLA). The beneficial properties of PMLA as a carrier platform for modern drugs are its high loading capacity, lack of toxicity and immunogenicity, biodegradability, stability in the bloodstream (avoiding long term storage), and ready cellular uptake [255–259].

Nanotherapy is a mechanism that has been proven successful in targeting brain tumors. Nanodrugs can not only cross the BBB, which is one of the greatest obstacles that drugs have to overcome to be considered effective, but they can also activate anti-tumor immune responses in the brain when loaded with therapeutic antibodies. This is engineered using covalently bound antibodies on the nanoplatform such as PMLA or others as part of the delivery system crossing BBB. Activation of the anti-tumor immune response results in an increase in immune cells (NK cells, CD8 + T cells, macrophages) in the microenvironment of gliomas [6]. Therapy with these nanodrugs greatly increased animal survival and treatment efficacy of primary brain tumors compared to treatments with free immune response-stimulating antibodies, such as anti-CTLA-4 anti-PD-1 [6]. Such nanodrugs cross the BBB via receptor-mediated transcytosis and then can be released into the brain parenchyma [260–262]. This process of BBB crossing may be achieved through various ligands on the nanodrugs, e.g., MiniAp-4 (M4), Angiopep-2 (AP2), transferrin and insulin receptor ligands, glucose transporters, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, etc. [4,263]. One complication of receptor mediated transcytosis across the BBB is the heterogeneous composition of various receptors [264].

Even though nanodrugs are able to cross the BBB, they may fail in entering the brain parenchyma due to a non-specific binding to the extracellular matrix [265,266]. To overcome this challenge, scientists have explored changing the surface of the nanodrugs, such as creating a dense PEG coating. This modification greatly improved delivery because the nanodrugs are more evenly distributed throughout the brain and can better penetrate GBMs [265–267]. It should be noted, however, that despite these advances and emerging clinical trials, the BBB still remains a major challenge for drug delivery and efficient targeting of tumors even for newer nanoformulations.

To avoid the BBB overall, scientists have explored another possible route, which is to administer drugs intranasally to the brain [268,269]. This circumvents the limitations posed by the BBB and systemic delivery. However, like any other option, this method has its problems too. Administering drugs intranasally can only be done in a limited dosing volume, whereas congestion and mucus become an additional obstacle for a drug to overcome [270,271].

#### 5.4. Anti-angiogenesis therapy for brain tumors

Angiogenesis is the process of new blood vessel formation from pre-existing vasculature. Angiogenesis is triggered by angiogenic growth factors and their receptors in concert with ECM and its integrin receptors. ECM can activate intracellular signaling pathways mediating endothelial cell survival, proliferation, migration, morphogenesis, and blood vessel organization [272]. ECM and growth factor receptors can potentiate each other's effects. For instance, activated  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  integrin promotes phosphorylation and activation of VEGF receptor [(VEGFR)-2], augmenting VEGF mitogenic activity [252]. Gliomas are highly vascularized tumors and are known to promote angiogenesis during their growth [273]. This property makes these tumors attractive targets for antiangiogenic therapy. This is why the angiogenic growth factors and vascular ECM, as well as technologies for inhibiting them are important for further development of brain tumor treatments.

Because angiogenesis is an integral part of tumor development, angiogenic biomarkers are considered important for cancer treatment. In the last two decades, antiangiogenic therapy emerged as one of the winners among FDA-approved biological drugs: Avastin (Genentech), Sorafenib (Nexavar, Onix Pharmaceuticals), Sunitinib (Sutent, Pfizer). Antiangiogenic therapy alone or most often in combination with other drugs significantly increases the cancer patient's longevity and quality of life [274-277]. Engineering a novel antiangiogenic drug with precise tumor delivery by using peptides or pegylated polymers is thus considered a high priority [251,278–280]. In 2009, FDA granted accelerated approval to bevacizumab (anti-VEGF mAb) for glioma treatment. VEGF is arguably the best studied angiogenic growth factor that mediates the formation of new blood vessels under both physiologic and pathologic conditions. However significant side effects seen with bevacizumab are hypertension, proteinuria including nephrotic syndrome, venous and arterial thrombosis including cerebral and myocardial infarction, transient ischemic attacks, bleeding and hemorrhage, impaired wound healing, and congestive heart failure [281]. For these reasons, the use of this therapy requires close patient monitoring and caution, and imposes constraints on dosage. It may be assumed that targeted delivery of bevacizumab to brain tumors using nanosystems could significantly alleviate systemic toxicity and would allow increasing the dose for a maximum anti-tumor effect.

To target tumor vasculature, several polymeric nanoplatforms have been proposed. PMLA-based polymers delivering laminin-411 inhibitors to GBM have been described above [6,7]. Another promising nanopolymeric drug based on a synthetic polymer, N-( 2-hydroxypropyl)methacrylamide [282], conjugated with O-(chloracetyl-carbamoyl) fumagillol (TNP-470) has also been extensively used in preclinical studies including inhibition of GBM growth [283,284]. Polymers that deliver drugs to tumors are poorly immunogenic and suitable for multiple treatment, which may be necessary to eradicate the tumor [283,285].

#### 5.5. Nano immunology approaches in tumors

One of the difficult-to-treat brain tumors is primary CNS lymphoma (PSNSL) belonging to the group of non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL). This group comprises heterogeneous diseases 85–90% of which originate from B lymphatic cells where CD20 receptor is overexpressed [286]. Anti-CD20 mAb rituximab (RTX) has revolutionized the therapeutic landscape for B-cell malignancy [287]. Among the RTX mechanisms of action, direct induction of apoptosis remains far from being fully exploited. Hyper-crosslinking of CD20 induces apoptosis, but the ligation of CD20 by RTX itself is very limited [288].

To improve the efficacy of anti-CD20 approach in NHL, Kopeček's group designed nanopolymeric drugs for lymphoma treatment. His approach was based on crosslinking of CD20 antigens. The used nanoconjugates for direct and enhanced induction of apoptosis in NHL cells used drug-free macromolecular therapeutics (DFMT). One design was a composition of multiple anti-CD20 antibody Fab' fragments attached to N-(2-hydroxypropyl)methacryla mide (HPMA) copolymer [289,290]. In another design, receptor crosslinking was mediated by the biorecognition of binding motifs (coiled-coil peptides, or complementary oligonucleotides) at the cell surface [291–307]. Crosslinking of CD20 initiates apoptosis by calcium influx and mitochondrial signaling pathway without the involvement of toxins or cytotoxic drugs [305,307]. The DFMT was effective in vitro [291-293,295-303,305,307], in vivo [294,296,301], and on cells isolated from patients diagnosed with various subtypes of B cell malignancies [300,301,304]. DFMT induced apoptosis in 65.9% cells from patients irrespective of genomic aberrations (13q14; 17p13; and 11q22 deletions) [304]. Kopeček's team also elucidated the ability of DFMT to treat rituximabresistant NHLs by: a) upregulating CD20 receptors by gemcitabine pretreatment, and b) covalent conjugation of anthracyclines or other agents to the DFMT. The latter can integrate the advantages of both chemosensitization function and improved intracellular drug delivery into a single system, resulting in maximum effect of chemotherapy and receptor-mediated apoptosis [306]. This interesting concept could be used in design of nanoconjugates for the treatment of PCNSL using a delivery vehicle that will mediate the transcytosis of the nanoconjugates through the BBB. The incorporation of special moieties for transcytosis across the BBB is imperative since intravenous RTX alone is not effective [308].

The other elegant system published by Gao's group describes the nano immune approach by using synthetic polymeric nanoparticle, PC7A NP, based on monomer 2-(hexamethyleneimino) ethyl methacrylate (C7A-MA) to modulate the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway in antitumor immunity [5,8]. These data show promise for the future use of nanoformulations able to pass through the BBB to stimulate local immune response for a more efficient treatment of brain tumor of various etiologies.

#### 6. RNA nanomedicine therapy

### 6.1. RNA delivery

RNA therapy is a relatively new mechanism in nanomedicine (using mRNA, siRNA, miRNA) that has gained popularity in recent years. Compared to the delivery of plasmid DNA, RNA therapeutics do not need to enter the cell's nucleus, and do not run the risk of insertional mutagenesis [309].

In order for mRNA to be delivered properly and effectively into the targeted site, it must have a vehicle of delivery that not only protects mRNA from the natural degradation by endonucleases, but also has specificity to send it to its destined location [310,311]. To target brain tumors, it must be able to also cross the BBB. Currently, about 70% of clinical trials with RNA delivery use recombinant viruses as the delivery vehicles [312]. This is because new generation recombinant viruses have a high cell transduction rate, don't affect the products of the mRNA translation, and present virtually no oncogenic and minimal immunogenic potential. They do however have a limited capacity of nucleic acids in which they can carry [313]. When the mRNA is being delivered, there must be a sufficient intracellular arrangement of the nucleic acids so that the translation can occur, all the while preventing the activation of the body's immune response [310,311].

Non-viral vectors are another vehicle system that can be used in gene delivery. They have clear advantages as a delivery mechanism because they are safe and easy to be produced. The amount of nucleic acids they can potentially carry is not a major obstacle, and they are economically and reproducibly more advantageous than viral vectors. Although there are still issues with cell transfection efficiency, methods have been developed that have improved this part of their use [314–316].

It is very important to have the most effective and efficient vehicle for the delivery of mRNA. Selection of the right vehicle would prevent the major complications [317]. Direct intravenous delivery of mRNA (with no vehicle) by microinjections into the body has been tested [318,319]. This is an ineffective method since mRNA is degraded by ribonucleases and the body's immune response is activated. The half-life of the naked mRNA once intravenously delivered is less than 5 min [320].

Through extensive research of nucleic acids and materials science, it has been suggested that a universal delivery system is not probable [321]. It should be designed and catered to the specific disease and target. Such vehicles can vary in physicochemical characteristics, shape, size and ionization potential in order to most efficiently carry the naked mRNA to the designated target. These delivery systems can also be designed to initiate different bodily responses such as a reduction of toxicity to healthy tissues, an increase in blood circulation, etc. [310,322]. These factors are important to consider when targeting brain tumors and protecting the healthy cells surrounding the lesion.

Lipid-based vectors are the most commonly used non-viral vehicles for naked mRNA delivery [323]. Due to the hydrophobic nature of the lipid bilayer of the BBB endothelial cells, this allows for the passive diffusion of highly lipophilic substances to pass through [324,325]. Nanoparticles are modified to have lipid-based vectors in order to enter through the BBB and target tumors [324]. Unfortunately, a highly hydrophobic nanoparticle is not the most effective in passing through the BBB; these types of nanoparticles tend to be retained in the lipid bilayer and not permeate through [324,326]. This can result in cellular toxicity through the excretion or uptake by the cell transporters [324]. Thus, it is important to construct a nanodrug that is the perfect balance between being lipophilic and hydrophilic, so that it can effectively cross the BBB and target brain tumors [327].

The major component of these lipid-based vectors are cationic lipids, which form electrostatic bonds with mRNA [323]. Cationic lipids can also be designed to form lipid nanoparticles (LNPs) as well as cationic nanoemulsions (CNEs) [314]. CNEs are mainly used to create mRNA vaccines, and have a droplet size distribution of 200 nm [328,329]. LNPs are currently one of the most advanced systems for mRNA delivery [330]. FDA-approved drugs contain an ionizable lipid, Dlin-MC3-DMA (MC3), which is used as a vehicle for mRNA delivery [331,332]. In order to have the maximum mRNA release into the targeted site, the delivery system must have more phospholipid and polyethylene glycol (PEG) than cholesterol and ionizable lipids [333]. LNPs are typically composed of ionizable lipids with other helper lipids that aid in maintaining vehicle structure and facilitate endocytosis, cholesterol that also helps stabilize

the vehicle structure, and PEG lipids [334–336]. The use of LNPs as a delivery mechanism for mRNAs has been increasingly used to treat cancer since its first study in 1999 [337]. LNP mRNA vaccines contain tumor-associated antigens (TAAs). An immune response is initiated by these vaccines once the antigen is expressed in the antigen-presenting cells (APCs or macrophages) [338]. The most common procedure used for mRNA vaccination in cancer is *ex vivo* therapy with transfected DCs (strongest APC of the immune system) [339].

The very first trials with mRNA delivery as a form of cancer immunotherapy showed that direct injections of naked mRNA resulted in rapid degradation, which emphasizes the importance of a delivery system [340]. Today, lipids are the most commonly used system which are then followed by polypeptides. Vaccines with mRNA encoding antigens are developed in the lipid nanosystems [309]. Current clinical trials are designed to treat GBM with mRNA delivery and find the most successful sequence and mechanism of delivery. Some of these trials include mRNA encoding Survivin and hTERT, vaccines with TAA mRNA, and mRNA encoding WT1. Some trials also include the intravenous therapy of mRNA CAR-T cells for treatment [309].

## 6.2. Structural properties of nano LNP-mRNA vaccines against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2)

During the COVID-19 era the importance of mRNA delivery technologies was demonstrated with the development of mRNA vaccines saving millions of lives. Some of these successful formulations are LNP-mRNA vaccines. Although they are used against a specific viral pathogen, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-COV-2), they are important for brain field as they may protect brain cells from the viral assault as discussed below. The COVID-19 disease and vaccines against it are also important for the brain tumor field as more and more patients with brain cancer present with viral infection that could potentially alter the course of malignant disease and of its surgical and therapeutic management.

Respiratory infections from viral pathogens (e.g., influenza, respiratory syncytial virus, and SARS-CoV-2 that causes COVID-19 disease) result in significant morbidity and mortality worldwide and seriously affect endothelial system including the brain vasculature as a high vascular density [341].

Clinical trials by Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna using mRNA nano vaccines showed significant protection against hospitalization from COVID-19 in 94% of vaccinated people. The protection was lower against newer SARS-CoV-2 mutated variants but still remained high. Both Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna vaccines approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and by the European Medicines Agency use LNPs as delivery vehicles for mRNA. Pfizer-BioNTech (BNT162b2) has recently received full FDA approval. In both vaccines, viral Spike protein mRNA chain contains modified nucleoside 1-methyl-pseudouridines instead of uridine, to increase protection against RNAse degradation. The construct is able to express full-length Spike glycoprotein. Two proline additions are served to fix S1-S2 Spike protein subunits in a prefusion conformation. The ionizable cationic LNP carriers have pKa values between 6 and 7, and contain cholesterol, 1,2-distearoyl*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DSPC), and a poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG)-conjugated lipid, which prevents LNP aggregation during storage. Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna formulations have different PEG terminal groups and different lipid conjugated to PEG. The quantity of vaccine per Pfizer-BioNTech dose is 30 µg, compared to Moderna's 100 µg [220,342].

## 7. SARS-CoV-2 infection necessitates emergency care for patients with CNS disorders

The COVID-19 pandemic caused by SARS-CoV-2 virus has created a global need for not only treating infected patients but to also rapidly develop new approaches on how to take care of immune deficient categories of patients suffering from cancer, diabetes, autoimmune diseases, as well as of aged population and several other categories. It has been shown that the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 has high affinity for human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) [343,344]. ACE2 is the main entry receptor for SARS-CoV-2 and is expressed on the surface of various human cells, such as lung, heart, kidney, neurons, and endothelial cells.

There are a number of data that have not been systemically sorted out yet, which show how the CNS is affected in COVID-19 patients, how the virus may be entering the brain and the role of inflammation, systemic and local brain immune systems and impaired BBB for progression of brain tumors and cancer patient's survival.

## 7.1. Brain endothelial system after SARS-CoV-2 infection induces an aberrant immune reaction

COVID-19 patients usually show an altered inflammatory response with the immune system overactivation [345,346]. Cytokine storm, which may develop during severe infection, increases endothelial cell permeability and promotes pathophysiological changes in the brain. The endothelial injury may result more from host inflammatory responses because of epithelium infection than from viral replication or increased viral load in endothelial cells. Summarizing these results, Barbosa et al. indicated that direct or indirect activation of endothelial cells by SARS-CoV-2 infection leads to pulmonary edema and may trigger a coagulation cascade seen in severe COVID-19 with further damage of multiple organs [347].

Patients with severe COVID-19 have decreased interferon (IFN) production, as well as aberrant polarization of Th cells (predominantly Th17), increased expression of exhaustion-related surface markers, such as TIM3 and PD-1, and altered cytokine secretion pattern [348-350]. Pulmonary epithelial cells may act as a gateway for SARS-CoV-2 infection, but alveolar problems may be mediated mainly by endothelial damage, resulting in cytokine and chemokine activation and immune system cell recruitment [350]. SARS-CoV-2 infection may thus not be the primary cause of tissue damage in COVID-19 [351,352]. COVID-19 has been associated with the significant recruitment of immune cells directly affecting endothelial cells. The tissue damage may result from the excessive immune response causing acute inflammation mediated by massive release of cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) [351]. These cytokines affect lung parenchyma, oxygen uptake and endothelial cells, leading to endotheliitis, thrombotic events and intravascular coagulation [353].

Clinical evidence points to the frequent impact of the central nervous system (CNS) by SARS-CoV-2 infection, either direct or indirect, although the underlying mechanisms remain obscure. One such mechanism may involve pericytes that are contractile perivascular cells in tissues including the brain that have been proposed as SARS-CoV-2 infection points. Wang et al. have shown that pericyte-like cells (PLCs), when integrated into a cortical organoid, are capable of being infected with original SARS-CoV-2 [354]. They developed an experimental model for studying neural infection, PLC-containing cortical organoids, which served as viral 'replication hubs', and tracking virus spreading to astrocytes and mediating inflammatory type I IFN transcriptional responses.



**Fig. 4.** Scheme illustration of the neurotropism, neuroinflammatory processes, BBB leakage and effects on different brain cells triggered by COVID-19 in patients. (A) Immune cells from the periphery and the central nervous system (CNS) produce effector molecules that include pro-inflammatory cytokines and autoantibodies. (B) SARS-CoV-2 infection also causes leakage of the blood-brain barrier leading in some cases to hemorrhage and cerebral infarct, as well as eliciting leukocytes infiltration. (C) In the parenchyma, the CNS cells become infected by SARS-CoV via angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) endocytosis mediated by the two-pore channel 2 (TCP2). (D) SARS-CoV-2 infection leads to loss of physiological functions of the brain cells, including neurons, astrocytes, microglia, pericytes and oligodendrocytes. Cell types are identified in the following manner; A, Astrocyte; L, Leukocyte; M, Microglia; N, Neuron; O, Oligodendrocyte; P, pericyte. Reproduced with slight modification from: Tremblay ME, Madore C, Bordeleau M, Tian L, Verkhratsky A. Neuropathobiology of COVID-19: the role for glia. Front Cell Neurosci. 2020;14, 592214.

Based on brain ACE2 expression data, it was reported [355–357] that in rodents and humans ACE2 is expressed in the brain gate entry as oral and nasal mucosa, nasopharynx, and directly in brain tissues as the substantia nigra, choroid plexus, non-neuronal cells and many neurons, both excitatory and inhibitory. Brain ACE2 could contribute to the neurological symptoms in COVID-19 [358] including neurogenic hypertension [359]. The damage reported in the oral and nasal mucosal epithelium may also be a result of SARS-CoV-2 interaction with ACE2 and/or other receptors [358,360–363].The presence of SARS-CoV-2 particles in brain neurons of infected patients has also been documented.

All these observations suggest a mechanism of SARS-CoV-2 entry into the brain that might underlie neurovascular and vascular symptoms clinically seen in some COVID-19 patients [347]. The epithelial/endothelial lesions mediated by cytokines/chemokines could potentially damage the BBB, promoting vascular permeability, leukocyte and macrophage infiltration, and hypoxia [348].

Loss of smell is a frequent symptom in COVID-19, with yet unknown etiology. Cell types in the olfactory cells that express SARS-CoV-2 cell entry molecules have been identified [364].

Molecular sequencing has shown that olfactory mucosa in several species including human expresses two key genes involved in SARS-CoV-2 entry, that is, ACE2 and transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2). Single cell sequencing supported by immunostaining showed ACE2 expression in support cells, stem cells, and perivascular cells, as well as in dorsally-located olfactory epithelial sustentacular cells and olfactory bulb pericytes in the mouse. It has been suggested that anosmia and other problems with odor perception in COVID-19 patients may be due to SARS-CoV-2 infection of non-neuronal cell types.

In samples from the patients who died from COVID-19, brain hyperemic and edematous tissue and degenerated neurons have been found [365]. Neurological analyses of COVID-19 patients in Wuhan, China, found neurologic manifestations, such as stroke or cerebral hemorrhage, in 36% of SARS-CoV-2 patients treated for severe infection [365]. These cerebrovascular manifestations may be due to the BBB and brain vasculature impairment [366]. Changes in the BBB may lead to alternative functions of tight junctions, which prevent free passage through the vessel wall, and expression of transporters regulating the entry and exit of various



Fig. 5. Main neurological manifestations of COVID-19 and proposed mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 neuroinvasion. ACE2: angiotensin II converting enzyme receptor-2; BBB: blood-brain barrier; GBS: Guillain-Barré syndrome. Reproduced from: Pennisi M, Lanza G, Falzone L, Fisicaro F, Ferri R, Bella R. SARS-CoV-2 and the nervous system: from clinical features to molecular mechanisms. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(15), 5475.

substrates. Tight junctions also limit transcellular transport through the capillary wall that maintains low levels of leukocyte adhesion molecules expression limiting the entry of immune cells into the brain [367–370].

Neurotropic respiratory viruses appear to enter the CNS via the two main pathways, that is, hematogenous and neuronal [371]. Currently, the mechanism by which SARS-CoV-2 achieves neuroinvasion is still unclear. It was postulated that this occurs through olfactory nerve *trans*-synaptic transfer, with vascular endothelium infection or immune cells migration through the potentially compromised BBB [354]. The expression of ACE2 was found in the brain tissue capillaries and cultured primary human brain microvascular endothelial cells [372], in line with detection of virus-like particles in the frontal lobe endothelium [373].

Brain vascular endothelial cells highly express SARS-CoV-2 entry-associated protease cathepsin B (CTSB) but not TMPRSS2 [355,366]. Viral invasion of the CNS could lead to the release of viral proteins that affect the structure and function of endothelial cells, degrade tight junction proteins, and lead to BBB permeability [366,374].

## 7.2. Neurosurgery directions in the era of COVID-19

In the era of COVID-19, the total coronavirus cases in the world are over 214 million, with 4.47 million deaths as of August 25, 2021 [375]. Based on these figures, the neurosurgical and neurooncological management of brain tumor patients should be quickly adapted to the future needs of COVID-19 affected cancer patients. Neovascularization is a major characteristic of brain cancer. The patient's risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection could be associated with overexpression of ACE2 on endothelial cells and altered immunity. Also, both cancer therapeutics and tumor microenvironment can cause immunosuppression and vascular complications, with modulation of ACE2 levels in cancer patients [347]. Cancer cells with altered immunogenicity may cause immune cells to produce immunosuppressive effectors, such as TGF-B, VEGF, PGE2, IL-10, and iNOS, inhibiting the proliferation and the cytotoxic response from T lymphocytes and leading to a prevalence of antiinflammatory phenotype (T regs, M2 macrophages). Immunosuppressive microenvironment can induce the recruitment/polarization of anti-inflammatory M2 TAMs and immature dendritic cells [376]. However, COVID-19 and cancer patients may also develop altered immune and inflammatory reactions with high expression of IL-2 and IL-6 receptors, and possible changes in the prothrombotic state, such as elevation of prothrombin time [377-380]. This may negatively affect the course of disease. (Fig. 4)

Chronic immunosuppression in tumor patients could facilitate the infection by SARS-CoV-2 and increase COVID-19 severity. However, very little is known about ACE2 and other virus entry receptor levels on endothelial cells in brain cancer patients. ACE2 is a regulator of tumor angiogenesis [381], and this receptor has abnormally high expression in lung tumors [382]. Additionally, higher levels of VEGF were found in COVID-19 patients compared with healthy controls [383]. Based on these limited data, Barbosa et al. hypothesized that the level of ACE2 in the vascular endothelium of cancer patients may influence the risk associated with COVID-19 [347].

It was recently published that cancer patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 have a high chance of serious disease, a high risk of mortality, and a worse prognosis [378,379,381,384–386]. It was

reported that cancer patients had a higher risk of serious COVID-19 than patients without cancer (39% vs. 8%, P = 0.0003) [377]. Lung tumors were the most common form (28%). Clinical outcomes of patients with hematological malignancies were also worsened, with 2-fold increased mortality compared with patients with solid tumors (50% vs. 26.1%) [378]. However, available statistical data are not sufficient to conclude whether cancer is an independent risk factor, or the observed differences would mainly be due to gender, age, obesity, uncontrolled diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and/or therapy, in particular for brain tumors [387,388]. All the above should alert the physicians when treating cancer patients who were infected with SARS-CoV-2 virus (Fig. 5).

Several drugs including chemotherapeutics, such as cisplatin, can modulate ACE2 levels in cells [389]. In addition, the action of the chemotherapeutic anti-VEGF bevacizumab in SARS-CoV-2 patients is currently being evaluated in a clinical trial (NCT04275414) [383]. However, many chemotherapeutics including antiangiogenic drugs inhibiting VEGF are also associated with systemic cardiovascular toxicity. Hypertension, thrombosis, heart failure, cardiomyopathy, and arrhythmias all increase cardiovascular risk in cancer patients [390,391]. Moreover, these examples indicate that invasive surgical, radiological and pharmaceutical management should be adapted to the new situation that affects millions of people with extra caution in cancer patients compromised by COVID-19.

## 8. Future directions

The comprehensive analyses of primary brain tumor biology demonstrates that discovery of tumor specific targets, immunotherapy with optimal BBB delivery systems together with effective combination therapy are the main directions to win the battle against poorly treatable brain tumors. Nanomedicine treatment approaches open new horizons for creation of multifunctional drugs and novel nano immunotherapies. The expected goals for the neurosurgery and neuro oncology would be to translate innovation in nanotechnology and its novel opportunities to the clinical arena. Through continued mutual effort of multidisciplinary scientists, physicians, chemists, pharmacologists, molecular biologists, immunologists, and engineers, the future of nanomedicine and nano neurosurgery will be shaped towards clinical benefits. To fulfill the need for new effective nanomedicines combating brain cancer, the neurosurgery and neuro oncology also need newer preclinical models with personalized approach. The development of these models using patient-derived tumors has already allowed to successfully test some nanodrug treatments for GBM [7]. Recently developed new animal models utilize molecularly characterized cancer cells bearing the same oncogene mutations that are found in individual patients with gliomas [392,393]. They may constitute next generation of testing systems for the emerging nanomedicines aimed at helping neurosurgery to successfully fight deadly gliomas.

To curb the COVID-19 pandemic, WHO calls for 50–80% of the world population to be vaccinated against SARS-CoV-2 virus, where mRNA nanoparticles are currently playing the dominant role. Given the intrinsic relationship between endothelial system including the brain endothelium and the pathophysiology of SARS-CoV-2, endothelial-related therapies such as anticoagulants, fibrinolytic drugs, immunomodulators, and molecular therapies have been proposed and should be aligned with brain cancer patient treatment. The available evidence emphasizes an increasing role of vascular system in the understanding and treatment of inflammation and edema that often occur in the brain tumor, the disseminating coagulation processes, ACE2 target positive cancer patients, and suggests the need for combined anti-cancer and

endothelial cell-associated therapies to treat brain cancer in conjunction with COVID-19 [347].

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgement

None.

### References

- I.F. Dunn, P. McL, Black, The Neurosurgeon as Local Oncologist: Cellular and Molecular Neurosurgery in Malignant Glioma Therapy, Neurosurgery 52 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000064808.27512.CF.
- [2] R. Patil, A. V. Ljubimov, P.R. Gangalum, H. Ding, J. Portilla-Arias, S. Wagner, S. Inoue, B. Konda, A. Rekechenetskiy, A. Chesnokova, J.L. Markman, V.A. Ljubimov, D. Li, R.S. Prasad, K.L. Black, E. Holler, J.Y. Ljubimova, MRI Virtual Biopsy and Treatment of Brain Metastatic Tumors with Targeted Nanobioconjugates: Nanoclinic in the Brain, ACS Nano. 9 (2015). http://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.5b01872.
- [3] L.L. Israel, A. Galstyan, E. Holler, J.Y. Ljubimova, Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles for imaging, targeting and treatment of primary and metastatic tumors of the brain, J. Control. Release 320 (2020), https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.01.009.
- [4] L.L. Israel, O. Braubach, A. Galstyan, A. Chiechi, E.S. Shatalova, Z. Grodzinski, H. Ding, K.L. Black, J.Y. Ljubimova, E. Holler, A Combination of Tri-Leucine and Angiopep-2 Drives a Polyanionic Polymalic Acid Nanodrug Platform Across the Blod-Brain Barrier, ACS Nano (2019), https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b06437.
- [5] S. Li, M. Luo, Z. Wang, Q. Feng, J. Wilhelm, X. Wang, W. Li, J. Wang, A. Cholka, Y. xin Fu, B.D. Sumer, H. Yu, J. Gao, Prolonged activation of innate immune pathways by a polyvalent STING agonist, Nat. Biomed. Eng., 5 (2021) 455– 466. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-020-00675-9.
- [6] A. Galstyan, J.L. Markman, E.S. Shatalova, A. Chiechi, A.J. Korman, R. Patil, D. Klymyshyn, W.G. Tourtellotte, L.L. Israel, O. Braubach, V.A. Ljubimov, L.A. Mashouf, A. Ramesh, Z.B. Grodzinski, M.L. Penichet, K.L. Black, E. Holler, T. Sun, H. Ding, A.v. Ljubimov, J.Y. Ljubimova, Blood-brain barrier permeable nano immunoconjugates induce local immune responses for glioma therapy, Nat. Commun. 10 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11719-3.
- [7] T. Sun, R. Patil, A. Galstyan, D. Klymyshyn, H. Ding, A. Chesnokova, W.K. Cavenee, F.B. Furnari, V.A. Ljubimov, E.S. Shatalova, S. Wagner, D. Li, A.N. Mamelak, S.I. Bannykh, C.G. Patil, J.D. Rudnick, J. Hu, Z.B. Grodzinski, A. Rekechenetskiy, V. Falahatian, A. v. Lyubimov, Y.L. Chen, L.S. Leoh, T.R. Daniels-Wells, M.L. Penichet, E. Holler, A. v. Ljubimov, K.L. Black, J.Y. Ljubimova, Blockade of a Laminin-411–Notch Axis with CRISPR/Cas9 or a Nanobioconjugate Inhibits Glioblastoma Growth through Tumor-Microenvironment Cross-talk, Cancer Res., 79 (2019). http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2725.
- [8] M. Luo, Z. Liu, X. Zhang, C. Han, L.Z. Samandi, C. Dong, B.D. Sumer, J. Lea, Y.X. Fu, J. Gao, Synergistic STING activation by PC7A nanovaccine and ionizing radiation improves cancer immunotherapy, J. Control. Release 300 (2019) 154–160, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.02.036.
- [9] J. Fares, I. Ulasov, P. Timashev, M.S. Lesniak, Emerging principles of brain immunology and immune checkpoint blockade in brain metastases, Brain. 144 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab012.
- [10] B.A. Aguado, J.C. Grim, A.M. Rosales, J.J. Watson-Capps, K.S. Anseth, Engineering precision biomaterials for personalized medicine, Sci. Transl. Med. 10 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aam8645.
- [11] R. van der Meel, E. Sulheim, Y. Shi, F. Kiessling, W.J.M. Mulder, T. Lammers, Smart cancer nanomedicine, Nat. Nanotechnol. 14 (2019) 1007–1017, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0567-y.
- [12] L. Scheetz, K.S. Park, Q. Li, P.R. Lowenstein, M.G. Castro, A. Schwendeman, J.J. Moon, Engineering patient-specific cancer immunotherapies, Nat. Biomed. Eng. 3 (2019) 768–782, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-019-0436-x.
- [13] A. Finch, G. Solomou, V. Wykes, U. Pohl, C. Bardella, C. Watts, Advances in research of adult gliomas, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (2021) 1–36, https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms22020924.
- [14] J.Y. Ljubimova, O. Braubach, R. Patil, A. Chiechi, J. Tang, A. Galstyan, E.S. Shatalova, M.T. Kleinman, K.L. Black, E. Holler, Coarse particulate matter (PM2.5-10) in Los Angeles Basin air induces expression of inflammation and cancer biomarkers in rat brains, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018), 5708–5708. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23885-3.
- [15] J.E. Araújo, S. Jorge, H.M. Santos, A. Chiechi, A. Galstyan, C. Lodeiro, M. Diniz, M.T. Kleinman, J.Y. Ljubimova, J.L. Capelo, Proteomic changes driven by urban pollution suggest particulate matter as a deregulator of energy metabolism, mitochondrial activity, and oxidative pathways in the rat brain, Sci. Total Environ. 687 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.102.

- [16] J.Y. Ljubimova, M.T. Kleinman, N.M. Karabalin, S. Inoue, B. Konda, P. Gangalum, J.L. Markman, A.v. Ljubimov, K.L. Black, Gene expression changes in rat brain after short and long exposures to particulate matter in Los Angeles basin air: Comparison with human brain tumors, Exp. Toxicol. Pathol. 65 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etp.2013.04.002.
- [17] M.T. Khan, B. Prajapati, S. Lakhina, M. Sharma, S. Prajapati, K. Chosdol, S. Sinha, Identification of Gender-Specific Molecular Differences in Glioblastoma (GBM) and Low-Grade Glioma (LGG) by the Analysis of Large Transcriptomic and Epigenomic Datasets, Front. Oncol. (2021) 3634, https://doi.org/10.3389/FONC.2021.699594.
- [18] M. Weller, M. van den Bent, M. Preusser, E. le Rhun, J.C. Tonn, G. Minniti, M. Bendszus, C. Balana, O. Chinot, L. Dirven, P. French, M.E. Hegi, A.S. Jakola, M. Platten, P. Roth, R. Rudà, S. Short, M. Smits, M.J.B. Taphoorn, A. von Deimling, M. Westphal, R. Soffietti, G. Reifenberger, W. Wick, EANO guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of diffuse gliomas of adulthood, Nature Reviews, Clin. Oncol. 18 (2021) 170–186, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-00447-z.
- [19] R. Stupp, W.P. Mason, M.J. van den Bent, M. Weller, B. Fisher, M.J.B. Taphoorn, K. Belanger, A.A. Brandes, C. Marosi, U. Bogdahn, J. Curschmann, R.C. Janzer, S. K. Ludwin, T. Gorlia, A. Allgeier, D. Lacombe, J.G. Cairncross, E. Eisenhauer, R. O. Mirimanoff, Radiotherapy plus Concomitant and Adjuvant Temozolomide for Glioblastoma, N. Engl. J. Med. 352 (2005) 987–996, https://doi.org/ 10.1056/nejmoa043330.
- [20] A.C. Tan, D.M. Ashley, G.Y. López, M. Malinzak, H.S. Friedman, M. Khasraw, Management of glioblastoma: State of the art and future directions, CA Cancer J. Clin. 70 (2020) 299–312, https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21613.
- [21] N. Sanai, M.Y. Polley, M.W. McDermott, A.T. Parsa, M.S. Berger, An extent of resection threshold for newly diagnosed glioblastomas: Clinical article, J. Neurosurg. 115 (2011) 3–8, https://doi.org/10.3171/2011.2.JNS10998.
- [22] K. Ludwig, H.I. Kornblum, Molecular markers in glioma, J. Neurooncol. 134 (2017) 505–512, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-017-2379-y.
- [23] D.N. Louis, A. Perry, P. Wesseling, D.J. Brat, I.A. Cree, D. Figarella-Branger, C. Hawkins, H.K. Ng, S.M. Pfister, G. Reifenberger, R. Soffietti, A. von Deimling, D. W. Ellison, The 2021 WHO Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary, Neuro-Oncology (2021), https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noab106.
- [24] P.C. de Witt Hamer, Small molecule kinase inhibitors in glioblastoma: A systematic review of clinical studies, Neuro-Oncology 12 (2010) 304–316, https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/nop068.
- [25] E. Cruz Da Silva, M.C. Mercier, N. Etienne-selloum, M. Dontenwill, L. Choulier, A systematic review of glioblastoma-targeted therapies in phases II, III, IV clinical trials, Cancers 13 (2021), https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13081795.
- [26] E. Bope, R. Kellerman, Conn's Current Therapy (2016), Faculty Bookshelf. (2016). https://hsrc.himmelfarb.gwu.edu/books/70 (accessed June 28, 2021).
   [27] Adult Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Treatment (PDO<sup>®</sup>)-Patient Version, n.d.
- [27] Adut Kohroogkin Lymphona Hearthent (FDG )-Fatient Version, nu... https://www.cancer.gov/types/lymphoma/patient/adult-nhl-treatment-pdq.
   [28] J. Carnevale, J.L. Rubenstein, The Challenge of Primary Central Nervous
- System Lymphoma, Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am. 30 (2016), https://doi. org/10.1016/j.hoc.2016.07.013.
- [29] R. Advani, I. Flinn, L. Popplewell, A. Forero, N.L. Bartlett, N. Ghosh, J. Kline, M. Roschewski, A. LaCasce, G.P. Collins, T. Tran, J. Lynn, J.Y. Chen, J.-P. Volkmer, B. Agoram, J. Huang, R. Majeti, I.L. Weissman, C.H. Takimoto, M.P. Chao, S.M. Smith, CD47 Blockade by Hu5F9-G4 and Rituximab in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma, N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1807315.
- [30] M. Turgeon, Clinical hematology: theory and procedures (Book, 2005) [WorldCat.org], (n.d.). https://www.worldcat.org/title/clinical-hematologytheory-and-procedures/oclc/56103961 (accessed June 28, 2021).
- [31] T. Siegal, O. Bairey, Primary CNS Lymphoma in the Elderly: The Challenge, Acta Haematol. 141 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1159/000495284.
- [32] S. Peck, J. Leonard, Beyond R-CHOP-21: What's New in Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma, (n.d.). https://www.onclive.com/view/beyond-r-chop-21-whatsnew-in-diffuse-large-b-cell-lymphoma (accessed June 28, 2021).
- [33] J.E.C. Bromberg, S. Issa, K. Bakunina, M.C. Minnema, T. Seute, M. Durian, G. Cull, H.C. Schouten, W.B.C. Stevens, J.M. Zijlstra, J.W. Baars, M. Nijland, K.D. Mason, A. Beeker, M.J. van den Bent, M. Beijert, M. Gonzales, D. de Jong, J.K. Doorduijn, Rituximab in patients with primary CNS lymphoma (HOVON 105/ ALLG NHL 24): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 intergroup study, Lancet Oncol. 20 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30747-2.
- [34] T.S. Reese, M.J. Karnovsky, Fine structural localization of a blood-brain barrier to exogenous peroxidase, J. Cell Biol. 34 (1967), https://doi.org/10.1083/ jcb.34.1.207.
- [35] D. Ribatti, B. Nico, E. Crivellato, M. Artico, Development of the blood-brain barrier: A historical point of view, Anatom. Rec. Part B: New Anatomist. 289B (2006), https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.b.20087.
- [36] T.S. Reese, M.J. Karnovsky, Fine structural localization of a blood-brain barrier to exogenous peroxidase, J. Cell Biol. 34 (1967) 207–217, https://doi.org/ 10.1083/jcb.34.1.207.
- [37] C.P. Profaci, R.N. Munji, R.S. Pulido, R. Daneman, The blood-brain barrier in health and disease: Important unanswered questions, J. Exp. Med. 217 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20190062.
- [38] R. Pandit, L. Chen, J. Götz, The blood-brain barrier: Physiology and strategies for drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 165–166 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addr.2019.11.009.
- [39] N.J. Abbott, L. Rönnbäck, E. Hansson, Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7 (2006) 41–53, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrn1824.

- [40] M.S. McAllister, L. Krizanac-Bengez, F. Macchia, R.J. Naftalin, K.C. Pedley, M.R. Mayberg, M. Marroni, S. Leaman, K.A. Stanness, D. Janigro, Mechanisms of glucose transport at the blood–brain barrier: an in vitro study, Brain Res. 904 (2001), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(01)02418-0.
- [41] M.-P. Dehouck, S. Méresse, P. Delorme, J.-C. Fruchart, R. Cecchelli, An Easier, Reproducible, and Mass-Production Method to Study the Blood/Brain Barrier In Vitro, J. Neurochem. 54 (1990), https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1990. tb01236.x.
- [42] L.L. Rubin, D.E. Hall, S. Porter, K. Barbu, C. Cannon, H.C. Horner, M. Janatpour, C.W. Liaw, K. Manning, J. Morales, A cell culture model of the blood-brain barrier, J. Cell Biol. 115 (1991), https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.115.6.1725.
- [43] Y. Igarashi, H. Utsumi, H. Chiba, Y. Yamada-Sasamori, H. Tobioka, Y. Kamimura, K. Furuuchi, Y. Kokai, T. Nakagawa, M. Mori, N. Sawada, Glial Cell Line-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Induces Barrier Function of Endothelial Cells Forming the Blood-Brain Barrier, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 261 (1999), https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.0992.
- [44] S.-W. Lee, W.J. Kim, Y.K. Choi, H.S. Song, M.J. Son, I.H. Gelman, Y.-J. Kim, K.-W. Kim, SSeCKS regulates angiogenesis and tight junction formation in bloodbrain barrier, 2003. http://www.nature.com/naturemedicine.
- [45] W.M. Pardridge, Drug Transport across the Blood-Brain Barrier, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 32 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2012.126.
- [46] N.J. Abbott, Blood-brain barrier structure and function and the challenges for CNS drug delivery, J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 36 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10545-013-9608-0.
- [47] W.M. Pardridge, The Blood-Brain Barrier: Bottleneck in Brain Drug Development, n.d.
- [48] E. Neuwelt, N.J. Abbott, L. Abrey, W.A. Banks, B. Blakley, T. Davis, B. Engelhardt, P. Grammas, M. Nedergaard, J. Nutt, W. Pardridge, G.A. Rosenberg, Q. Smith, L.R. Drewes, Strategies to advance translational research into brain barriers, The Lancet Neurology. 7 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70326-5.
- [49] T.E. Golde, Open questions for Alzheimer's disease immunotherapy, n.d. http://alzres.com/content/6/1/3.
- [50] S.A. Sprowls, T.A. Arsiwala, J.R. Bumgarner, N. Shah, S.S. Lateef, B.N. Kielkowski, P.R. Lockman, Improving CNS Delivery to Brain Metastases by Blood-Tumor Barrier Disruption, Trends in Cancer. 5 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2019.06.003.
- [51] P.R. Lockman, R.K. Mittapalli, K.S. Taskar, V. Rudraraju, B. Gril, K.A. Bohn, C.E. Adkins, A. Roberts, H.R. Thorsheim, J.A. Gaasch, S. Huang, D. Palmieri, P.S. Steeg, Q.R. Smith, Heterogeneous Blood-Tumor Barrier Permeability Determines Drug Efficacy in Experimental Brain Metastases of Breast Cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 16 (2010), https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-1564.
- [52] T.A. Martin, W.G. Jiang, Loss of tight junction barrier function and its role in cancer metastasis, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes 1788 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.11.005.
- [53] E. Salvador, M. Burek, C.Y. Förster, Tight Junctions and the Tumor Microenvironment, Curr. Pathobiol. Rep. 4 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40139-016-0106-6.
- [54] B.K. Hendricks, A.A. Cohen-Gadol, J.C. Miller, Novel delivery methods bypassing the blood-brain and blood-tumor barriers, Neurosurg. Focus 38 (2015), https://doi.org/10.3171/2015.1.FOCUS14767.
- [55] S. Liebner, A. Fischmann, G. Rascher, F. Duffner, E.-H. Grote, H. Kalbacher, H. Wolburg, Claudin-1 and claudin-5 expression and tight junction morphology are altered in blood vessels of human glioblastoma multiforme, Acta Neuropathol. 100 (2000), https://doi.org/10.1007/s004010000180.
- [56] G. Rascher, A. Fischmann, S. Kröger, F. Duffner, E.-H. Grote, H. Wolburg, Extracellular matrix and the blood-brain barrier in glioblastoma multiforme: spatial segregation of tenascin and agrin, Acta Neuropathol. 104 (2002), https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-002-0524-x.
- [57] S. Michinaga, Y. Koyama, Dual Roles of Astrocyte-Derived Factors in Regulation of Blood-Brain Barrier Function after Brain Damage, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 20 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20030571.
- [58] T. Manninen, R. Havela, M.-L. Linne, Computational Models for Calcium-Mediated Astrocyte Functions, Front. Comput. Neurosci. 12 (2018), https:// doi.org/10.3389/fncom.2018.00014.
- [59] P. Venkat, T. Yan, M. Chopp, A. Zacharek, R. Ning, P. van Slyke, D. Dumont, J. Landschoot-Ward, L. Liang, J. Chen, Angiopoietin-1 Mimetic Peptide Promotes Neuroprotection after Stroke in Type 1 Diabetic Rats, Cell Transplant. 27 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1177/0963689718791568.
- [60] S. Jackson, A. ElAli, D. Virgintino, M.R. Gilbert, Blood-brain barrier pericyte importance in malignant gliomas: what we can learn from stroke and Alzheimer's disease, Neuro-Oncology. 19 (2017) 1173–1182, https://doi.org/ 10.1093/NEUONC/NOX058.
- [61] C.D. Arvanitis, G.B. Ferraro, R.K. Jain, The blood-brain barrier and bloodtumour barrier in brain tumours and metastases, Nat. Rev. Cancer 20 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0205-x.
- [62] S. Tiwary, J.E. Morales, S.C. Kwiatkowski, F.F. Lang, G. Rao, J.H. McCarty, Metastatic brain tumors disrupt the blood-brain barrier and alter lipid metabolism by inhibiting expression of the endothelial cell fatty acid transporter Mfsd2a, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26636-6.
- [63] C.D. Arvanitis, G.B. Ferraro, R.K. Jain, The blood-brain barrier and bloodtumour barrier in brain tumours and metastases, Nat. Rev. Cancer 20 (2020) 26–41, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0205-x.

- [64] J. Fares, M.Y. Fares, H.H. Khachfe, H.A. Salhab, Y. Fares, Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited, Signal Transduction Targeted Therapy 5 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-0134-x.
- [65] A.W. Lambert, D.R. Pattabiraman, R.A. Weinberg, Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis, Cell 168 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2016.11.037.
- [66] C.A. Franzen, R.H. Blackwell, V. Todorovic, K.A. Greco, K.E. Foreman, R.C. Flanigan, P.C. Kuo, G.N. Gupta, Urothelial cells undergo epithelial-tomesenchymal transition after exposure to muscle invasive bladder cancer exosomes, Oncogenesis 4 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1038/oncsis.2015.21.
- [67] O.A. Marcos-Contreras, S. Martinez de Lizarrondo, I. Bardou, C. Orset, M. Pruvost, A. Anfray, Y. Frigout, Y. Hommet, L. Lebouvier, J. Montaner, D. Vivien, M. Gauberti, Hyperfibrinolysis increases blood-brain barrier permeability by a plasmin- and bradykinin-dependent mechanism, Blood 128 (2016), https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-03-705384.
- [68] N. McDannold, N. Vykhodtseva, K. Hynynen, Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption Induced by Focused Ultrasound and Circulating Preformed Microbubbles Appears to Be Characterized by the Mechanical Index, Ultrasound Med. Biol. 34 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2007.10.016.
- [69] D.T. Wiley, P. Webster, A. Gale, M.E. Davis, Transcytosis and brain uptake of transferrin-containing nanoparticles by tuning avidity to transferrin receptor, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307152110.
- [70] S. Paris-Robidas, V. Emond, C. Tremblay, D. Soulet, F. Calon, In Vivo Labeling of Brain Capillary Endothelial Cells after Intravenous Injection of Monoclonal Antibodies Targeting the Transferrin Receptor, Mol. Pharmacol. 80 (2011), https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.111.071027.
- [71] D.N. Louis, H. Ohgaki, O.D. Wiestler, W.K. Cavenee, P.C. Burger, A. Jouvet, B.W. Scheithauer, P. Kleihues, The 2007 WHO classification of tumours of the central nervous system, Acta Neuropathol. 114 (2007), https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00401-007-0278-6.
- [72] P.B. MEDAWAR, Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts, Brit. J. Exper. Pathol. 29 (1948) 58–69. https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2073079/ (accessed June 23, 2021).
- [73] I. Bechmann, I. Galea, V.H. Perry, What is the blood-brain barrier (not)?, Trends Immunol 28 (2007) 5–11, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2006.11.007.
- [74] J.D. Huber, R.D. Egleton, T.P. Davis, Molecular physiology and pathophysiology of tight junctions in the blood -brain barrier, Trends Neurosci. 24 (2001) 719–725, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(00) 02004-X.
- [75] J.J. Iliff, M. Wang, Y. Liao, B.A. Plogg, W. Peng, G.A. Gundersen, H. Benveniste, G.E. Vates, R. Deane, S.A. Goldman, E.A. Nagelhus, M. Nedergaard, A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β, Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (2012), 147ra111-147ra111. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. 3003748.
- [76] A. Aspelund, S. Antila, S.T. Proulx, T.V. Karlsen, S. Karaman, M. Detmar, H. Wiig, K. Alitalo, A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules, J. Exp. Med. 212 (2015) 991–999, https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20142290.
- [77] F. Ginhoux, M. Greter, M. Leboeuf, S. Nandi, P. See, S. Gokhan, M.F. Mehler, S.J. Conway, L.G. Ng, E.R. Stanley, I.M. Samokhvalov, M. Merad, Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages, Science 330 (2010) 841–845, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194637.
- [78] B. Ajami, J.L. Bennett, C. Krieger, K.M. McNagny, F.M.V. Rossi, Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool, Nat. Neurosci. 14 (2011) 1142–1150, https://doi.org/10.1038/ nn.2887.
- [79] C. Schläger, H. Körner, M. Krueger, S. Vidoli, M. Haberl, D. Mielke, E. Brylla, T. Issekutz, C. Cabanãs, P.J. Nelson, T. Ziemssen, V. Rohde, I. Bechmann, D. Lodygin, F. Odoardi, A. Flügel, Effector T-cell trafficking between the leptomeninges and the cerebrospinal fluid, Nature 530 (2016) 349–353, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16939.
- [80] J. Fares, M.Y. Fares, Y. Fares, Natural killer cells in the brain tumor microenvironment: Defining a new era in neuro-oncology, Surgical, Neurology International. 10 (2019) 1–4, https://doi.org/10.25259/SNI-97-2019.
- [81] A. Stevens, I. Klöter, W. Roggendorf, Inflammatory infiltrates and natural killer cell presence in human brain tumors, Cancer 61 (1988), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/1097-0142(19880215)61:4<738::AID-CNCR2820610417>3.0.CO;2r
- [82] I. Yang, S.J. Han, M.E. Sughrue, T. Tihan, A.T. Parsa, Immune cell infiltrate differences in pilocytic astrocytoma and glioblastoma: Evidence of distinct immunological microenvironments that reflect tumor biology: Laboratory investigation, J. Neurosurg. 115 (2011) 505–511, https://doi.org/10.3171/ 2011.4.JNS101172.
- [83] J.P. Böttcher, E. Bonavita, P. Chakravarty, H. Blees, M. Cabeza-Cabrerizo, S. Sammicheli, N.C. Rogers, E. Sahai, S. Zelenay, C. Reis e Sousa, NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control, Cell 172 (2018) 1022–1037.e14, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.01.004.
- [84] V. Venkataramani, D.I. Tanev, C. Strahle, A. Studier-Fischer, L. Fankhauser, T. Kessler, C. Körber, M. Kardorff, M. Ratliff, R. Xie, H. Horstmann, M. Messer, S.P. Paik, J. Knabbe, F. Sahm, F.T. Kurz, A.A. Acikgöz, F. Herrmannsdörfer, A. Agarwal, D.E. Bergles, A. Chalmers, H. Miletic, S. Turcan, C. Mawrin, D. Hänggi, H.K. Liu, W. Wick, F. Winkler, T. Kuner, Glutamatergic synaptic input to

glioma cells drives brain tumour progression, Nature 573 (2019) 532–538, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1564-x.

- [85] H.S. Venkatesh, W. Morishita, A.C. Geraghty, D. Silverbush, S.M. Gillespie, M. Arzt, L.T. Tam, C. Espenel, A. Ponnuswami, L. Ni, P.J. Woo, K.R. Taylor, A. Agarwal, A. Regev, D. Brang, H. Vogel, S. Hervey-Jumper, D.E. Bergles, M.L. Suvà, R.C. Malenka, M. Monje, Electrical and synaptic integration of glioma into neural circuits, Nature 573 (2019) 539–545, https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586-019-1563-y.
- [86] C. Lee-Chang, A. Rashidi, J. Miska, P. Zhang, K.C. Pituch, D. Hou, T. Xiao, M. Fischietti, S.J. Kang, C.L. Appin, C. Horbinski, L.C. Platanias, A. Lopez-Rosas, Y. Han, I.v. Balyasnikova, M.S. Lesniak, Myeloid-derived suppressive cells promote B cell-mediated immunosuppression via transfer of PD-L1 in glioblastoma, Cancer Immunol. Res. 7 (2019) 1928–1943, https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0240.
- [87] K.A. Schalper, M.E. Rodriguez-Ruiz, R. Diez-Valle, A. López-Janeiro, A. Porciuncula, M.A. Idoate, S. Inogés, C. de Andrea, A. López-Diaz de Cerio, S. Tejada, P. Berraondo, F. Villarroel-Espindola, J. Choi, A. Gúrpide, M. Giraldez, I. Goicoechea, J. Gallego Perez-Larraya, M.F. Sanmamed, J.L. Perez-Gracia, I. Melero, Neoadjuvant nivolumab modifies the tumor immune microenvironment in resectable glioblastoma, Nat. Med. 25 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0339-5.
- [88] T.F. Cloughesy, A.Y. Mochizuki, J.R. Orpilla, W. Hugo, A.H. Lee, T.B. Davidson, A.C. Wang, B.M. Ellingson, J.A. Rytlewski, C.M. Sanders, E.S. Kawaguchi, L. Du, G. Li, W.H. Yong, S.C. Gaffey, A.L. Cohen, I.K. Mellinghoff, E.Q. Lee, D.A. Reardon, B.J. O'Brien, N.A. Butowski, P.L. Nghiemphu, J.L. Clarke, I.C. Arrillaga-Romany, H. Colman, T.J. Kaley, J.F. de Groot, L.M. Liau, P.Y. Wen, R.M. Prins, Neoadjuvant anti-PD-1 immunotherapy promotes a survival benefit with intratumoral and systemic immune responses in recurrent glioblastoma, Nat. Med. 25 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0337-7.
- [89] C. Lee-Chang, J. Miska, D. Hou, A. Rashidi, P. Zhang, R.A. Burga, I. Jusué-Torres, T. Xiao, V.A. Arrieta, D.Y. Zhang, A. Lopez-Rosas, Y. Han, A.M. Sonabend, C.M. Horbinski, R. Stupp, I.v. Balyasnikova, M.S. Lesniak, Activation of 4–1BBL+ B cells with CD40 agonism and IFNγ elicits potent immunity against glioblastoma, J. Exp. Med. 218 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20200913.
- [90] S. A, S. SK, B. J, S. J, V. L, W. J, A. JP, R. A, S. P, Anti-CTLA-4 Immunotherapy Does Not Deplete FOXP3 + Regulatory T Cells (Tregs) in Human Cancers, Clin. Cancer Res.: Offic. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res., 25 (2019) 1233–1238. http://doi. org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0762.
- [91] H. FS, O. SJ, M. DF, W. RW, S. JA, H. JB, G. R, R. C, S. D, H. JC, A. W, van den E. AJ, L. J. L. P, V. JM, L. GP, H. D, O. CH, L. C, P. C, Q. I, C. JI, W. JD, W. JS, T. J, Y. MJ, N. GM, H. A, U. WJ, Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma, New Engl. J. Med. 363 (2010) 711–723. http://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMOA1003466.
- [92] R. C, T. L, B. J, O. S, W. J, G. C, L. C, B. JF, T. A, G. JJ, D. N, R. J, M. M, H. A, M. WH, G. P, L. M, H. K, I. R, F. S, C. TT, H. R, H. A, W. JD, Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma, New Engl. J. Med. 364 (2011) 2517–2526. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1104621.
- [93] C. K, H. R, H. T, Current issues and perspectives in PD-1 blockade cancer immunotherapy, Int. J. Clin. Oncol. 25 (2020) 790–800. http://doi.org/ 10.1007/S10147-019-01588-7.
- [94] L. M, X. Y. B. C, W. M, Current state of immunotherapy for glioblastoma, Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 15 (2018) 422–442. http://doi.org/10.1038/S41571-018-0003-5.
- [95] W. DA, C. AL, D. M, B. IV, K. CK, T. A, C. Y, K. JW, Q. J, Z. L, H. Y, L. MS, Durable therapeutic efficacy utilizing combinatorial blockade against IDO, CTLA-4, and PD-L1 in mice with brain tumors, Clin. Cancer Res.: Offic. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. 20 (2014) 5290–5301. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0514.
- [96] B. Z, P. JA, Z. J, S. AP, M. D, G. C, N. S, K. M, R. J, J. C, A. E, D. NM, Y. X, T. PT, T. B, W. JW, B. H, P. DM, D. CG, L. M, Focal radiation therapy combined with 4-1BB activation and CTLA-4 blockade yields long-term survival and a protective antigen-specific memory response in a murine glioma model, PloS One. 9 (2014). http://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0101764.
- [97] M. Y, T. Y, T. H, Y. H, H. A, N. T, M. K, T. M, Y. R, K. Y, The expression of PD-1 ligands and IDO1 by macrophage/microglia in primary central nervous system lymphoma, J. Clin. Exper. Hematopathol.: JCEH. 58 (2018) 95–101. http://doi.org/10.3960/JSLRT.18001.
- [98] G. SR, M. RL, D. BW, H. G, G. BM, M. MN, G. R, T. JM, S. R, C. D, R. AM, C. AJ, W. II, PD-1 expression by tumour-associated macrophages inhibits phagocytosis and tumour immunity, Nature. 545 (2017) 495–499. http://doi.org/10.1038/ NATURE22396.
- [99] M. Cd, L. Ll, H. Ra, A. Breakthrough, Macrophage-Directed Cancer Immunotherapy, Cancer Res. 76 (2016) 513–516, https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-15-1737.
- [100] R. B, C. LM, Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer, Cancer Cell. 27 (2015) 462–472. http://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCELL.2015.02.015.
- [101] S. D. M. RL, R. SD, Macrophage Polarization Contributes to Glioblastoma Eradication by Combination Immunovirotherapy and Immune Checkpoint Blockade, Cancer Cell. 32 (2017) 253-267.e5. http://doi.org/10.1016/J. CCELL.2017.07.006.
- [102] I. LL, B. O, G. A, C. A, S. ES, G. Z, D. H, B. KL, L. JY, H. E, A Combination of Tri-Leucine and Angiopep-2 Drives a Polyanionic Polymalic Acid Nanodrug Platform Across the Blood-Brain Barrier, ACS Nano. 13 (2019) 1253–1271. http://doi.org/10.1021/ACSNANO.8B06437.
- [103] J.Y. Ljubimova, T. Sun, L. Mashouf, A. v. Ljubimov, L.L. Israel, V.A. Ljubimov, V. Falahatian, E. Holler, Covalent Nanodelivery Systems for Selective Imaging

and Treatment of Brain Tumors, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 113 (2017) 177. http://doi.org/10.1016/J.ADDR.2017.06.002.

- [104] P. Wm, CSF, blood-brain barrier, and brain drug delivery, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 13 (2016) 963–975, https://doi.org/10.1517/17425247.2016.1171315.
- [105] S. R, M. WP, van den B. MJ, W. M, F. B, T. MJ, B. K, B. AA, M. C, B. U, C. J, J. RC, L. SK, G. T, A. A, L. D, C. JG, E. E, M. RO, Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma, New Eng. J. Med. 352 (2005) 987–996. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA043330.
- [106] R. Villaseñor, L. Ozmen, N. Messaddeq, F. Grüninger, H. Loetscher, A. Keller, C. Betsholtz, P.-O. Freskgård, L. Collin, Trafficking of Endogenous Immunoglobulins by Endothelial Cells at the Blood-Brain Barrier, Sci. Rep. 2016 6:1. 6 (2016) 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1038/srep25658.
- [107] R.S. Riley, C.H. June, R. Langer, M.J. Mitchell, Delivery technologies for cancer immunotherapy, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 18 (2019) 175, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/S41573-018-0006-Z.
- [108] F. Fontana, D. Liu, J. Hirvonen, H.A. Santos, Delivery of therapeutics with nanoparticles: what's new in cancer immunotherapy?, Wiley Interdiscip Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 9 (2017) 1421, https://doi.org/10.1002/ WNAN.1421.
- [109] J.Y. Ljubimova, H. Ding, J. Portilla-Arias, R. Patil, P.R. Gangalum, A. Chesnokova, S. Inoue, A. Rekechenetskiy, T. Nassoura, K.L. Black, E. Holler, Polymalic Acid-based Nano Biopolymers for Targeting of Multiple Tumor Markers: An Opportunity for Personalized Medicine?, J Visual. Exper.: JoVE (2014) 50668, https://doi.org/10.3791/50668.
- [110] D. M, R. A, C. C, P. J, N. T, G. R, C. JP, B. R, Identification and design of peptides as a new drug delivery system for the brain, J. Pharmacol. Exper. Therapeut. 324 (2008) 1064–1072. http://doi.org/10.1124/JPET.107.131318.
- [111] P. Chongsathidkiet, C. Jackson, S. Koyama, F. Loebel, X. Cui, S.H. Farber, K. Woroniecka, A.A. Elsamadicy, C.A. Dechant, H.R. Kemeny, L. Sanchez-Perez, T. A. Cheema, N.C. Souders, J.E. Herndon, J.V. Coumans, J.I. Everitt, B. v. Nahed, J. H. Sampson, M.D. Gunn, R.L. Martuza, G. Dranoff, W.T. Curry, P.E. Fecci, Sequestration of T cells in bone marrow in the setting of glioblastoma and other intracranial tumors, Nat. Med. 24 (2018) 1459–1468. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0135-2.
- [112] K. Ayasoufi, C.K. Pfaller, L. Evgin, R.H. Khadka, Z.P. Tritz, E.N. Goddery, C.E. Fain, L.T. Yokanovich, B.T. Himes, F. Jin, J. Zheng, M.R. Schuelke, M.J. Hansen, W. Tung, I.F. Parney, L.R. Pease, R.G. Vile, A.J. Johnson, Brain cancer induces systemic immunosuppression through release of non-steroid soluble mediators, Brain 143 (2020) 3629–3652, https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa343.
- [113] L. Vitkovic, S. Maeda, E. Sternberg, Anti-inflammatory cytokines: Expression and action in the brain, NeuroImmunoModulation 9 (2001) 295–312, https:// doi.org/10.1159/000059387.
- [114] D. Gong, W. Shi, S. ju Yi, H. Chen, J. Groffen, N. Heisterkamp, TGFβ signaling plays a critical role in promoting alternative macrophage activation, BMC Immunol. 13 (2012) 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2172-13-31.
- [115] J.H. Sampson, M.D. Gunn, P.E. Fecci, D.M. Ashley, Brain immunology and immunotherapy in brain tumours, Nat. Rev. Cancer 20 (2020) 12–25, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41568-019-0224-7.
- [116] C. Uyttenhove, L. Pilotte, I. Théate, V. Stroobant, D. Colau, N. Parmentier, T. Boon, B.J. van den Eynde, Evidence for a tumoral immune resistance mechanism based on tryptophan degradation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, Nat. Med. 9 (2003) 1269–1274, https://doi.org/10.1038/nm934.
- [117] I. Zhang, D. Alizadeh, J. Liang, L. Zhang, H. Gao, Y. Song, H. Ren, M. Ouyang, X. Wu, M. D'Apuzzo, B. Badie, Characterization of arginase expression in gliomaassociated microglia and macrophages, PLoS ONE 11 (2016) e0165118, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165118.
- [118] M. Weller, K. Kaulich, B. Hentschel, J. Felsberg, D. Gramatzki, T. Pietsch, M. Simon, M. Westphal, G. Schackert, J.C. Tonn, A. von Deimling, T. Davis, W.A. Weiss, M. Loeffler, G. Reifenberger, Assessment and prognostic significance of the epidermal growth factor receptor vIII mutation in glioblastoma patients treated with concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide radiochemotherapy, Int. J. Cancer 134 (2014) 2437–2447, https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28576.
- [119] M. Weller, N. Butowski, D.D. Tran, L.D. Recht, M. Lim, H. Hirte, L. Ashby, L. Mechtler, S.A. Goldlust, F. Iwamoto, J. Drappatz, D.M. O'Rourke, M. Wong, M. G. Hamilton, G. Finocchiaro, J. Perry, W. Wick, J. Green, Y. He, C.D. Turner, M.J. Yellin, T. Keler, T.A. Davis, R. Stupp, J.H. Sampson, J. Campian, K. Becker, G. Z. Horvath, R. Merrell, R. Curry, J. O'Rourke, D. Schuster, M. Mrugala, R. Jensen, J. Trusheim, G. Lesser, K. Belanger, A. Sloan, B. Purow, K. Fink, J. Raizer, M. Schulder, S. Nair, S. Peak, A. Brandes, N. Mohile, J. Landolfi, J. Olson, R. Jennens, P. DeSouza, B. Robinson, M. Crittenden, K. Shih, A. Flowers, S. Ong, J. Connelly, C. Hadjipanayis, P. Giglio, F. Mott, D. Mathieu, N. Lessard, S.J. Sepulveda, J. Lövey, H. Wheeler, P.L. Inglis, C. Hardie, D. Bota, M. Lesniak, J. Portnow, B. Frankel, L. Junck, R. Thompson, L. Berk, J. McGhie, D. Macdonald, F. Saran, R. Soffietti, D. Blumenthal, S.B.C.M. André de, A. Nowak, N. Singhal, A. Hottinger, A. Schmid, G. Srkalovic, D. Baskin, C. Fadul, L. Nabors, R. LaRocca, J. Villano, N. Paleologos, P. Kavan, M. Pitz, B. Thiessen, A. Idbaih, J.S. Frenel, J. Domont, O. Grauer, P. Hau, C. Marosi, J. Sroubek, E. Hovey, P.S. Sridhar, L. Cher, E. Dunbar, T. Coyle, J. Raymond, K. Barton, M. Guarino, S. Raval, B. Stea, J. Dietrich, K. Hopkins, S. Erridge, J.P. Steinbach, L.E. Pineda, Q.C. Balana, B.B. Sonia del, M. Wenczl, K. Molnár, K. Hideghéty, A. Lossos, L. Myra van, A. Levy, R. Harrup, W. Patterson, Z. Lwin, S. Sathornsumetee, E.J. Lee, J.T. Ho, S. Emmons, J.P. Duic, S. Shao, H. Ashamalla, M. Weaver, J. Lutzky, N. Avgeropoulos, W. Hanna, M. Nadipuram, G. Cecchi, R. O'Donnell, S. Pannullo, J. Carney, M. MacNeil, R. Beaney, M. Fabbro, O. Schnell, R. Fietkau,

G. Stockhammer, B. Malinova, K. Odrazka, M. Sames, G. Miguel Gil, E. Razis, K. Lavrenkov, G. Castro, F. Ramirez, C. Baldotto, F. Viola, S. Malheiros, J. Lickliter, S. Gauden, A. Dechaphunkul, I. Thaipisuttikul, Z. Thotathil, H.I. Ma, W.Y. Cheng, C.H. Chang, F. Salas, P.Y. Dietrich, C. Mamot, L. Nayak, S. Nag, Rindopepimut with temozolomide for patients with newly diagnosed, EGFRVIII-expressing glioblastoma (ACT IV): a randomised, double-blind, international phase 3 trial, Lancet Oncol. 18 (2017) 1373–1385. http://doi. org/10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30517-X.

- [120] J.H. Sampson, A.B. Heimberger, G.E. Archer, K.D. Aldape, A.H. Friedman, H.S. Friedman, M.R. Gilbert, J.E. Herndon, R.E. McLendon, D.A. Mitchell, D.A. Reardon, R. Sawaya, R.J. Schmittling, W. Shi, J.J. Vredenburgh, D.D. Bigner, Immunologic escape after prolonged progression-free survival with epidermal growth factor receptor variant III peptide vaccination in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma, J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (2010) 4722–4729, https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.28.6963.
- [121] Y. Óji, N. Hashimoto, A. Tsuboi, Y. Murakami, M. Iwai, N. Kagawa, Y. Chiba, S. Izumoto, O. Elisseeva, R. Ichinohasama, J. Sakamoto, S. Morita, H. Nakajima, S. Takashima, Y. Nakae, J. Nakata, M. Kawakami, S. Nishida, N. Hosen, F. Fujiki, S. Morimoto, M. Adachi, M. Iwamoto, Y. Oka, T. Yoshimine, H. Sugiyama, Association of WT1 IgG antibody against WT1 peptide with prolonged survival in glioblastoma multiforme patients vaccinated with WT1 peptide, Int. J. Cancer 139 (2016) 1391–1401, https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.30182.
- [122] R. Rampling, S. Peoples, P.J. Mulholland, A. James, O. Al-Salihi, C.J. Twelves, C. McBain, S. Jefferies, A. Jackson, W. Stewart, J. Lindner, S. Kutscher, N. Hilf, L. McGuigan, J. Peters, K. Hill, O. Schoor, H. Singh-Jasuja, S.E. Halford, J.W.A. Ritchie, A cancer research UK first time in human phase i trial of IMA950 (novel multipeptide therapeutic vaccine) in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma, in: Clinical Cancer Research, American Association for Cancer Research Inc., 2016, pp. 4776–4785. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0506.
- [123] N. Hilf, S. Kuttruff-Coqui, K. Frenzel, V. Bukur, S. Stevanović, C. Gouttefangeas, M. Platten, G. Tabatabai, V. Dutoit, S.H. van der Burg, P. thor Straten, F. Martínez-Ricarte, B. Ponsati, H. Okada, U. Lassen, A. Admon, C.H. Ottensmeier, A. Ulges, S. Kreiter, A. von Deimling, M. Skardelly, D. Migliorini, J.R. Kroep, M. Idorn, J. Rodon, J. Piró, H.S. Poulsen, B. Shraibman, K. McCann, R. Mendrzyk, M. Löwer, M. Stieglbauer, C.M. Britten, D. Capper, M.J.P. Welters, J. Sahuquillo, K. Kiesel, E. Derhovanessian, E. Rusch, L. Bunse, C. Song, S. Heesch, C. Wagner, A. Kemmer-Brück, J. Ludwig, J.C. Castle, O. Schoor, A.D. Tadmor, E. Green, J. Fritsche, M. Meyer, N. Pawlowski, S. Dorner, F. Hoffgaard, B. Rössler, D. Maurer, T. Weinschenk, C. Reinhardt, C. Huber, H.G. Rammensee, H. Singh-Jasuja, U. Sahin, P.Y. Dietrich, W. Wick, Actively personalized vaccination trial for newly diagnosed glioblastoma, Nature. 565 (2019) 240–245. http://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-018-0810-y.
- [124] D.B. Keskin, A.J. Anandappa, J. Sun, I. Tirosh, N.D. Mathewson, S. Li, G. Oliveira, A. Giobbie-Hurder, K. Felt, E. Gjini, S.A. Shukla, Z. Hu, L. Li, P.M. Le, R.L. Allesøe, A.R. Richman, M.S. Kowalczyk, S. Abdelrahman, J.E. Geduldig, S. Charbonneau, K. Pelton, J.B. lorgulescu, L. Elagina, W. Zhang, O. Olive, C. McCluskey, L.R. Olsen, J. Stevens, W.J. Lane, A.M. Salazar, H. Daley, P.Y. Wen, E.A. Chiocca, M. Harden, N.J. Lennon, S. Gabriel, G. Getz, E.S. Lander, A. Regev, J. Ritz, D. Neuberg, S.J. Rodig, K.L. Ligon, M.L. Suvà, K.W. Wucherpfennig, N. Hacohen, E. F. Fritsch, K.J. Livak, P.A. Ott, C.J. Wu, D.A. Reardon, Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase lb glioblastoma trial, Nature 565 (2019) 234–239, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9.
- [125] P.Y. Wen, D.A. Reardon, T.S. Armstrong, S. Phuphanich, R.D. Aiken, J.C. Landolfi, W.T. Curry, J.J. Zhu, M. Glantz, D.M. Peereboom, J.M. Markert, R. LaRocca, D.M. O'Rourke, K. Fink, L. Kim, M. Gruber, G.J. Lesser, E. Pan, S. Kesari, A. Muzikansky, C. Pinilla, R.G. Santos, J.S. Yu, A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled phase II trial of dendritic cell vaccine ICT-107 in newly diagnosed patients with glioblastoma, Clin. Cancer Res. 25 (2019) 5799–5807, https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0261.
- [126] S. Phuphanich, C.J. Wheeler, J.D. Rudnick, M. Mazer, H. Wang, M.A. Nuño, J.E. Richardson, X. Fan, J. Ji, R.M. Chu, J.G. Bender, E.S. Hawkins, C.G. Patil, K.L. Black, J.S. Yu, Phase i trial of a multi-epitope-pulsed dendritic cell vaccine for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma, Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 62 (2013) 125–135, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-012-1319-0.
- [127] L.M. Liau, K. Ashkan, D.D. Tran, J.L. Campian, J.E. Trusheim, C.S. Cobbs, J.A. Heth, M. Salacz, S. Taylor, S.D. D'Andre, F.M. Iwamoto, E.J. Dropcho, Y.A. Moshel, K.A. Walter, C.P. Pilainayagam, R. Aiken, R. Chaudhary, S.A. Goldlust, D.A. Bota, P. Duic, J. Grewal, H. Elinzano, S.A. Toms, K.O. Lillehei, T. Mikkelsen, T. Walpert, S.R. Abram, A.J. Brenner, S. Brem, M.G. Ewend, S. Khagi, J. Portnow, L.J. Kim, W.G. Loudon, R.C. Thompson, D.E. Avigan, K.L. Fink, F.J. Geoffroy, S. Lindhorst, J. Lutzky, A.E. Sloan, G. Schackert, D. Krex, H.J. Meisel, J. Wu, R.P. Davis, C. Duma, A.B. Etame, D. Mathieu, S. Kesari, D. Piccioni, M. Westphal, D. S. Baskin, P.Z. New, M. Lacroix, S.A. May, T.J. Pluard, V. Tse, R.M. Green, J.L. Villano, M. Pearlman, K. Petrecca, M. Schulder, L.P. Taylor, A.E. Maida, R.M. Prins, T.F. Cloughesy, P. Mulholland, M.L. Bosch, First results on survival from a large Phase 3 clinical trial of an autologous dendritic cell vaccine in newly diagnosed glioblastoma, J. Transl. Med. 16 (2018) 1, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-018-1507-6.
- [128] C.W. Brennan, R.G.W. Verhaak, A. McKenna, B. Campos, H. Noushmehr, S.R. Salama, S. Zheng, D. Chakravarty, J.Z. Sanborn, S.H. Berman, R. Beroukhim, B. Bernard, C.-J. Wu, G. Genovese, I. Shmulevich, J. Barnholtz-Sloan, L. Zou, R. Vegesna, S.A. Shukla, G. Ciriello, W.K. Yung, W. Zhang, C. Sougnez, T. Mikkelsen, K. Aldape, D.D. Bigner, E.G. Van Meir, M. Prados, A. Sloan, K.L. Black, J. Eschbacher, G. Finocchiaro, W. Friedman, D.W. Andrews, A. Guha, M. Iacocca, B.P. O'Neill, G. Foltz, J. Myers, D.J. Weisenberger, R. Penny, R.

Kucherlapati, C.M. Perou, D.N. Hayes, R. Gibbs, M. Marra, G.B. Mills, E. Lander, P. Spellman, R. Wilson, C. Sander, J. Weinstein, M. Meyerson, S. Gabriel, P.W. Laird, D. Haussler, G. Getz, L. Chin, C. Benz, J. Barnholtz-Sloan, W. Barrett, Q. Ostrom, Y. Wolinsky, K.L. Black, B. Bose, P.T. Boulos, M. Boulos, J. Brown, C. Czerinski, M. Eppley, M. Iacocca, T. Kempista, T. Kitko, Y. Koyfman, B. Rabeno, P. Rastogi, M. Sugarman, P. Swanson, K. Yalamanchii, I.P. Otey, Y.S. Liu, Y. Xiao, J.T. Auman, P.-C. Chen, A. Hadjipanayis, E. Lee, S. Lee, P.J. Park, J. Seidman, L. Yang, R. Kucherlapati, S. Kalkanis, T. Mikkelsen, L.M. Poisson, A. Raghunathan, L. Scarpace, B. Bernard, R. Bressler, A. Eakin, L. Iype, R.B. Kreisberg, K. Leinonen, S. Reynolds, H. Rovira, V. Thorsson, I. Shmulevich, M.J. Annala, R. Penny, J. Paulauskis, E. Curley, M. Hatfield, D. Mallery, S. Morris, T. Shelton, C. Shelton, M. Sherman, P. Yena, L. Cuppini, F. DiMeco, M. Eoli, G. Finocchiaro, E. Maderna, B. Pollo, M. Saini, S. Balu, K.A. Hoadley, L. Li, C.R. Miller, Y. Shi, M.D. Topal, J. Wu, G. Dunn, C. Giannini, B.P. O'Neill, B.A. Aksoy, Y. Antipin, L. Borsu, S.H. Berman, C.W. Brennan, E. Cerami, D. Chakravarty, G. Ciriello, J. Gao, B. Gross, A. Jacobsen, M. Ladanyi, A. Lash, Y. Liang, B. Reva, C. Sander, N. Schultz, R. Shen, N.D. Socci, A. Viale, M.L. Ferguson, Q.-R. Chen, J.A. Demchok, L.A.L. Dillon, K.R.M. Shaw, M. Sheth, R. Tarnuzzer, Z. Wang, L. Yang, T. Davidsen, M.S. Guyer, B.A. Ozenberger, H.J. Sofia, J. Bergsten, J. Eckman, J. Harr, J. Myers, C. Smith, K. Tucker, C. Winemiller, L.A. Zach, J.Y. Ljubimova, G. Eley, B. Ayala, M.A. Jensen, A. Kahn, T.D. Pihl, D.A. Pot, Y. Wan, J. Eschbacher, G. Foltz, N. Hansen, P. Hothi, B. Lin, N. Shah, J. Yoon, C. Lau, M. Berens, K. Ardlie, R. Beroukhim, S.L. Carter, A.D. Cherniack, M. Noble, J. Cho, K. Cibulskis, D. DiCara, S. Frazer, S.B. Gabriel, N. Gehlenborg, J. Gentry, D. Heiman, J. Kim, R. Jing, E.S. Lander, M. Lawrence, P. Lin, W. Mallard, M. Meyerson, R.C. Onofrio, G. Saksena, S. Schumacher, C. Sougnez, P. Stojanov, B. Tabak, D. Voet, H. Zhang, L. Zou, G. Getz, N.N. Dees, L. Ding, L.L. Fulton, R.S. Fulton, K.-L. Kanchi, E.R. Mardis, R.K. Wilson, S.B. Baylin, D.W. Andrews, L. Harshyne, M.L. Cohen, K. Devine, A.E. Sloan, S.R. VandenBerg, M.S. Berger, M. Prados, D. Carlin, B. Craft, K. Ellrott, M. Goldman, T. Goldstein, M. Grifford, D. Haussler, S. Ma, S. Ng, S.R. Salama, J.Z. Sanborn, J. Stuart, T. Swatloski, P. Waltman, J. Zhu, R. Foss, B. Frentzen, W. Friedman, R. McTiernan, A. Yachnis, D.N. Hayes, C.M. Perou, S. Zheng, R. Vegesna, Y. Mao, R. Akbani, K. Aldape, O. Bogler, G.N. Fuller, W. Liu, Y. Liu, Y. Lu, G. Mills, A. Protopopov, X. Ren, Y. Sun, C.-J. Wu, W.K.A. Yung, W. Zhang, J. Zhang, K. Chen, J.N. Weinstein, L. Chin, R.G.W. Verhaak, H. Noushmehr, D.J. Weisenberger, M.S. Bootwalla, P.H. Lai, T.J. Triche, D.J. Van Den Berg, P.W. Laird, D.H. Gutmann, N.L. Lehman, E.G. VanMeir, D. Brat, J.J. Olson, G.M. Mastrogianakis, N.S. Devi, Z. Zhang, D. Bigner, E. Lipp, R. McLendon, The Somatic Genomic Landscape of Glioblastoma, Cell 155 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.09.034.

- [129] H. Okada, P. Kalinski, R. Ueda, A. Hoji, G. Kohanbash, T.E. Donegan, A.H. Mintz, J.A. Engh, D.L. Bartlett, C.K. Brown, H. Zeh, M.P. Holtzman, T.A. Reinhart, T.L. Whiteside, L.H. Butterfield, R.L. Hamilton, D.M. Potter, I.F. Pollack, A.M. Salazar, F.S. Lieberman, Induction of CD8+ T-cell responses against novel glioma-associated antigen peptides and clinical activity by vaccinations with α-type 1 polarized dendritic cells and polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid stabilized by lysine and carboxymethylcellulose in patients with recurrent malignant glioma, J. Clin. Oncol. 29 (2011) 330–336, https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2010.30.7744.
- [130] D.A. Mitchell, K.A. Batich, M.D. Gunn, M.N. Huang, L. Sanchez-Perez, S.K. Nair, K.L. Congdon, E.A. Reap, G.E. Archer, A. Desjardins, A.H. Friedman, H.S. Friedman, J.E. Herndon, A. Coan, R.E. McLendon, D.A. Reardon, J.J. Vredenburgh, D.D. Bigner, J.H. Sampson, Tetanus toxoid and CCL3 improve dendritic cell vaccines in mice and glioblastoma patients, Nature 519 (2015) 366–369, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14320.
- [131] M. Bowie, D. Ashley, J. Hostettler, M. Brown, J. Bryant, D. Bigner, M. Gromeier, S. Nair, Immu-31. Dysfunctional sting pathway signaling compromises innate immunity in glioblastoma, Neuro-Oncology 20 (2018), vi127-vi128. https://doi.org/10.1093/neuonc/noy148.534.
- [132] L. Bd, B. Cj, S. Df, B. Jc, Going viral with cancer immunotherapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 14 (2014) 559–567, https://doi.org/10.1038/NRC3770.
- [133] S. Akira, K. Takeda, T. Kaisho, Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity, Nat. Immunol. 2001 2:8. 2 (2001) 675–680. http://doi.org/10.1038/90609.
- [134] M. RL, M. A, M. JM, R. KL, C. DM, Experimental therapy of human glioma by means of a genetically engineered virus mutant, Science (New York, N.Y.). 252 (1991) 854–856. http://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1851332.
- [135] L. Se, S. Mc, C. Cf, C. Ea, Oncolytic Viruses in Cancer Treatment: A Review, JAMA Oncol. 3 (2017) 841–849, https://doi.org/10.1001/ JAMAONCOL.2016.2064.
- [136] F. Pm, F. Gk, C. Ka, M. Jm, Oncolytic Virotherapy for the Treatment of Malignant Glioma, Neurotherapeut.: J. Am. Soc. Exper. NeuroTherapeut. 14 (2017) 333–344, https://doi.org/10.1007/S13311-017-0516-0.
- [137] A. Desjardins, J.H. Sampson, K.B. Peters, G. Vlahovic, D. Randazzo, S. Threatt, J. E. Herndon, S. Boulton, D. Lally-Goss, F. McSherry, E.S. Lipp, A.H. Friedman, H. S. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, M. Gromeier, Patient survival on the dose escalation phase of the Oncolytic Polio/Rhinovirus Recombinant (PVSRIPO) against WHO grade IV malignant glioma (MG) clinical trial compared to historical controls., http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15\_supPl.2061. 34 (2016) 2061–2061. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15\_SUPPL.2061.
- [138] A. Desjardins, M. Gromeier, J.E.H. II, N. Beaubier, D.P. Bolognesi, A.H. Friedman, H.S. Friedman, F. McSherry, A.M. Muscat, S. Nair, K.B. Peters, D. Randazzo, J.H. Sampson, G. Vlahovic, W.T. Harrison, R.E. McLendon, D. Ashley, D.D. Bigner, Recurrent Glioblastoma Treated with Recombinant Poliovirus, http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM0A1716435. 379 (2018) 150–161. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM0A1716435.

- [139] P. OD, L. CR, H. K, D. O, B. R, I. A, J. D, A. K, B. T, L. D, L. A, B. C, I. C, K. N, G. HE, J. DJ, Design and selection of Toca 511 for clinical use: modified retroviral replicating vector with improved stability and gene expression, Mol. Therapy: J. Am. Soc. Gene Therapy. 20 (2012) 1689–1698. http://doi.org/10.1038/MT.2012.83.
- [140] C. TF, L. J, H. DJ, B. S, C. B, C. CC, E. JB, K. SN, K. S, L. A, L. IY, L. LM, M. T, N. PL, P. D, W. T, C. A, D. A, D. OR, G. D, G. HE, H. M, J. DJ, K. N, M. D, M. L, O. D, R. JM, R.-A. M, V. MA, Phase 1 trial of vocimagene amiretrorepvec and 5-fluorocytosine for recurrent high-grade glioma, Sci. Transl. Med. 8 (2016). http://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAD9784.
- [141] Toca 5 Phase 3 Trial Results Presented at the Society for Neuro-Oncology Annual Meeting | BioSpace, (n.d.). https://www.biospace.com/article/ releases/toca-5-phase-3-trial-results-presented-at-the-society-for-neurooncology-annual-meeting/ (accessed August 9, 2021).
- [142] A.M. Sonabend, I.V. Ulasov, Y. Han, M.S. Lesniak, Oncolytic adenoviral therapy for glioblastoma multiforme, Neurosurg. Focus. 20 (2006).
- [143] M. Lamfers, J. Grill, C. Dirven, V.V. van Beusechem, B. Geoerger, J. van den Berg, R. Alemany, J. Fueyo, D. Curiel, G. Vassal, H. Pinedo, W. Vandertop, W. Gerritsen, Potential of the conditionally replicative adenovirus Ad5-Delta24RGD in the treatment of malignant gliomas and its enhanced effect with radiotherapy, Undefined (2002).
- [144] DNAtrix Announces Positive Data from Phase 2 CAPTIVE (KEYNOTE-192) Study with DNX-2401 in Patients with Recurrent Glioblastoma Highlighted in an Oral Late-Breaking Presentation During Society for Neuro-oncology (SNO) Annual Meeting, (n.d.). https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/ dnatrix-announces-positive-data-from-phase-2-captive-keynote-192-studywith-dnx-2401-in-patients-with-recurrent-glioblastoma-highlighted-in-anoral-late-breaking-presentation-during-society-for-neuro-oncology-snoannual-meetin-301178137.html (accessed August 9, 2021).
- [145] W. LA, M. AG, B. SD, C. R, M. JM, G. JC, N. HB, L. SS, B. B, P. J, T. BS, T. TW, B. DS, N. PZ, A. LK, A.-C. E, C. EA, Phase II multicenter study of gene-mediated cytotoxic immunotherapy as adjuvant to surgical resection for newly diagnosed malignant glioma, Neuro-Oncology. 18 (2016) 1137–1145. http://doi.org/10.1093/NEUONC/NOW002.
- [146] E.A. Chiocca, L.K. Aguilar, S.D. Bell, B. Kaur, J. Hardcastle, R. Cavaliere, J. McGregor, S. Lo, A. Ray-Chaudhuri, A. Chakravarti, J. Grecula, H. Newton, K.S. Harris, R.G. Grossman, T.W. Trask, D.S. Baskin, C. Monterroso, A.G. Manzanera, E. Aguilar-Cordova, P.Z. New, Phase IB Study of Gene-Mediated Cytotoxic Immunotherapy Adjuvant to Up-Front Surgery and Intensive Timing Radiation for Malignant Glioma, J. Clin. Oncol. 29 (2011) 3611, https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.35.5222.
- [147] N. Ji, D. Weng, C. Liu, Z. Gu, S. Chen, Y. Guo, Z. Fan, X. Wang, J. Chen, Y. Zhao, J. Zhou, J. Wang, D. Ma, N. Li, Adenovirus-mediated delivery of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase administration improves outcome of recurrent high-grade glioma, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 4369, https://doi.org/10.18632/ ONCOTARGET.6737.
- [148] L.K. Phuong, C. Allen, K.-W. Peng, C. Giannini, S. Greiner, C.J. TenEyck, P.K. Mishra, I. Macura Slobodan, S.J. Russell, E.C. Galanis, Use of a Vaccine Strain of Measles Virus Genetically Engineered to Produce Carcinoembryonic Antigen as a Novel Therapeutic Agent against Glioblastoma Multiforme 1, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 55905.
- [149] R. Sj, P. Kw, B. Jc, Oncolytic virotherapy, Nat. Biotechnol. 30 (2012) 658–670, https://doi.org/10.1038/NBT.2287.
- [150] W. G. O. K. van den P. AN, Oncolytic virus therapy for glioblastoma multiforme: concepts and candidates, Cancer Journal (Sudbury, Mass.). 18 (2012) 69–81. http://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.0B013E31824671C9.
- [151] V.M. Lu, A.H. Shah, F.A. Vallejo, D.G. Eichberg, E.M. Luther, S.S. Shah, R.J. Komotar, M.E. Ivan, Clinical trials using oncolytic viral therapy to treat adult glioblastoma: a progress report, Neurosurg. Focus 50 (2021) E3, https://doi. org/10.3171/2020.11.FOCUS20860.
- [152] M.V. Maus, S.A. Grupp, D.L. Porter, C.H. June, Antibody-modified T cells: CARs take the front seat for hematologic malignancies, Blood. 123 (2014) 2625– 2635. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-11-492231.
- [153] N. Ahmed, V. Brawley, M. Hegde, K. Bielamowicz, M. Kalra, D. Landi, C. Robertson, T.L. Gray, O. Diouf, A. Wakefield, A. Ghazi, C. Gerken, Z. Yi, A. Ashoori, M.F. Wu, H. Liu, C. Rooney, G. Dotti, A. Gee, J. Su, Y. Kew, D. Baskin, Y. J. Zhang, P. New, B. Grilley, M. Stojakovic, J. Hicks, S.Z. Powell, M.K. Brenner, H. E. Heslop, R. Grossman, W.S. Wels, S. Gottschalk, HER2-specific chimeric antigen receptor-modified virus-specific T cells for progressive glioblastoma: A phase 1 dose-escalation trial, JAMA Oncol. 3 (2017) 1094–1101, https://doi. org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0184.
- [154] C.E. Brown, B. Badie, M.E. Barish, L. Weng, J.R. Ostberg, W.C. Chang, A. Naranjo, R. Starr, J. Wagner, C. Wright, Y. Zhai, J.R. Bading, J.A. Ressler, J. Portnow, M. D'Apuzzo, S.J. Forman, M.C. Jensen, Bioactivity and safety of IL13Rα2-redirected chimeric antigen receptor CD8+ T cells in patients with recurrent glioblastoma, Clin. Cancer Res. 21 (2015) 4062–4072, https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0428.
- [155] C.E. Brown, D. Alizadeh, R. Starr, L. Weng, J.R. Wagner, A. Naranjo, J.R. Ostberg, M.S. Blanchard, J. Kilpatrick, J. Simpson, A. Kurien, S.J. Priceman, X. Wang, T.L. Harshbarger, M. D'Apuzzo, J.A. Ressler, M.C. Jensen, M.E. Barish, M. Chen, J. Portnow, S.J. Forman, B. Badie, Regression of Glioblastoma after Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy, N. Engl. J. Med. 375 (2016) 2561–2569, https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1610497.
- [156] D.M. O'Rourke, M.P. Nasrallah, A. Desai, J.J. Melenhorst, K. Mansfield, J.J.D. Morrissette, M. Martinez-Lage, S. Brem, E. Maloney, A. Shen, R. Isaacs, S. Mohan, G. Plesa, S.F. Lacey, J.M. Navenot, Z. Zheng, B.L. Levine, H. Okada, C.H.

June, J.L. Brogdon, M.v. Maus, A single dose of peripherally infused EGFRvIIIdirected CAR T cells mediates antigen loss and induces adaptive resistance in patients with recurrent glioblastoma, Sci. Transl. Med. 9 (2017), https://doi. org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa0984.

- [157] B.D. Choi, X. Yu, A.P. Castano, A.A. Bouffard, A. Schmidts, R.C. Larson, S.R. Bailey, A.C. Boroughs, M.J. Frigault, M.B. Leick, I. Scarfò, C.L. Cetrulo, S. Demehri, B. v. Nahed, D.P. Cahill, H. Wakimoto, W.T. Curry, B.S. Carter, M. v. Maus, CAR-T cells secreting BiTEs circumvent antigen escape without detectable toxicity, Nat. Biotechnol. 37 (2019) 1049–1058. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0192-1.
- [158] J.A. Fraietta, C.L. Nobles, M.A. Sammons, S. Lundh, S.A. Carty, T.J. Reich, A.P. Cogdill, J.J.D. Morrissette, J.E. DeNizio, S. Reddy, Y. Hwang, M. Gohil, I. Kulikovskaya, F. Nazimuddin, M. Gupta, F. Chen, J.K. Everett, K.A. Alexander, E. Lin-Shiao, M.H. Gee, X. Liu, R.M. Young, D. Ambrose, Y. Wang, J. Xu, M.S. Jordan, K.T. Marcucci, B.L. Levine, K.C. Garcia, Y. Zhao, M. Kalos, D.L. Porter, R.M. Kohli, S.F. Lacey, S.L. Berger, F.D. Bushman, C.H. June, J.J. Melenhorst, Disruption of TET2 promotes the therapeutic efficacy of CD19-targeted T cells, Nature 558 (2018) 307–312, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0178-z.
- [159] Z.S. Chheda, G. Kohanbash, K. Okada, N. Jahan, J. Sidney, M. Pecoraro, X. Yang, D.A. Carrera, K.M. Downey, S. Shrivastav, S. Liu, Y. Lin, C. Lagisetti, P. Chuntova, P.B. Watchmaker, S. Mueller, I.F. Pollack, R. Rajalingam, A.M. Carcaboso, M. Mann, A. Sette, K. Christopher Garcia, Y. Hou, H. Okada, Novel and shared neoantigen derived from histone 3 variant H3.3K27M mutation for glioma T cell therapy, J. Exp. Med. 215 (2018) 141–157, https://doi.org/ 10.1084/jem.20171046.
- [160] C.W. Mount, R.G. Majzner, S. Sundaresh, E.P. Arnold, M. Kadapakkam, S. Haile, L. Labanieh, E. Hulleman, P.J. Woo, S.P. Rietberg, H. Vogel, M. Monje, C.L. Mackall, Potent antitumor efficacy of anti-GD2 CAR T cells in H3-K27M+ diffuse midline gliomas letter, Nat. Med. 24 (2018) 572–579, https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41591-018-0006-x.
- [161] E.B. Garon, N.A. Rizvi, R. Hui, N. Leighl, A.S. Balmanoukian, J.P. Eder, A. Patnaik, C. Aggarwal, M. Gubens, L. Horn, E. Carcereny, M.-J. Ahn, E. Felip, J.-S. Lee, M.D. Hellmann, O. Hamid, J.W. Goldman, J.-C. Soria, M. Dolled-Filhart, R. Z. Rutledge, J. Zhang, J.K. Lunceford, R. Rangwala, G.M. Lubiniecki, C. Roach, K. Emancipator, L. Gandhi, Pembrolizumab for the Treatment of Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer, N. Engl. J. Med. 372 (2015) 2018–2028, https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1501824.
- [162] R.J. Motzer, B. Escudier, D.F. McDermott, S. George, H.J. Hammers, S. Srinivas, S.S. Tykodi, J.A. Sosman, G. Procopio, E.R. Plimack, D. Castellano, T.K. Choueiri, H. Gurney, F. Donskov, P. Bono, J. Wagstaff, T.C. Gauler, T. Ueda, Y. Tomita, F.A. Schutz, C. Kollmannsberger, J. Larkin, A. Ravaud, J.S. Simon, L.-A. Xu, I.M. Waxman, P. Sharma, Nivolumab versus Everolimus in Advanced Renal-Cell Carcinoma, N. Engl. J. Med. 373 (2015) 1803–1813, https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejmoa1510665.
- [163] C. Robert, J. Schachter, G.V. Long, A. Arance, J.J. Grob, L. Mortier, A. Daud, M.S. Carlino, C. McNeil, M. Lotem, J. Larkin, P. Lorigan, B. Neyns, C.U. Blank, O. Hamid, C. Mateus, R. Shapira-Frommer, M. Kosh, H. Zhou, N. Ibrahim, S. Ebbinghaus, A. Ribas, Pembrolizumab versus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma, New Engl. J. Med. 372 (2015) 2521–2532. http://doi.org/ 10.1056/nejmoa1503093.
- [164] A.C. Filley, M. Henriquez, M. Dey, Recurrent glioma clinical trial, CheckMate-143: The game is not over yet, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 91779–91794, https:// doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.21586.
- [165] An Investigational Immuno-therapy Study of Nivolumab Compared to Temozolomide, Each Given With Radiation Therapy, for Newly-diagnosed Patients With Glioblastoma (GBM, a Malignant Brain Cancer) -ClinicalTrials.gov, (n.d.). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02617589 (accessed June 20, 2021).
- [166] An Investigational Immuno-therapy Study of Temozolomide Plus Radiation Therapy With Nivolumab or Placebo, for Newly Diagnosed Patients With Glioblastoma (GBM, a Malignant Brain Cancer) - ClinicalTrials.gov, (n.d.). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02667587 (accessed June 20, 2021).
- [167] Bristol Myers Squibb Announces Update on Phase 3 CheckMate -548 Trial Evaluating Patients with Newly Diagnosed MGMT-Methylated Glioblastoma Multiforme | Business Wire, (2020). https://www.businesswire.com/news/ home/20201223005025/en/.
- [168] H.A. Tawbi, P.A. Forsyth, A. Algazi, O. Hamid, F.S. Hodi, S.J. Moschos, N.I. Khushalani, K. Lewis, C.D. Lao, M.A. Postow, M.B. Atkins, M.S. Ernstoff, D.A. Reardon, I. Puzanov, R.R. Kudchadkar, R.P. Thomas, A. Tarhini, A.C. Pavlick, J. Jiang, A. Avila, S. Demelo, K. Margolin, Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Melanoma Metastatic to the Brain, N. Engl. J. Med. 379 (2018), https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa1805453.
- [169] A.P. Patel, I. Tirosh, J.J. Trombetta, A.K. Shalek, S.M. Gillespie, H. Wakimoto, D. P. Cahill, B.V. Nahed, W.T. Curry, R.L. Martuza, D.N. Louis, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, M.L. Suva, A. Regev, B.E. Bernstein, Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma, Science. 344 (2014). http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1254257.
- [170] P.E. Fecci, A.B. Heimberger, J.H. Sampson, Immunotherapy for Primary Brain Tumors: No Longer a Matter of Privilege, Clin. Cancer Res. 20 (2014), https:// doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0832.
- [171] Anti-LAG-3 Alone & in Combination w/ Nivolumab Treating Patients w/ Recurrent GBM (Anti-CD137 Arm Closed 10/16/18) - ClinicalTrials.gov, (n.d.). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02658981.
- [172] Trial of Anti-Tim-3 in Combination With Anti-PD-1 and SRS in Recurrent GBM ClinicalTrials.gov, (n.d.). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03961971.

- [173] Z. Amoozgar, J. Kloepper, J. Ren, R.E. Tay, S.W. Kazer, E. Kiner, S. Krishnan, J.M. Posada, M. Ghosh, E. Mamessier, C. Wong, G.B. Ferraro, A. Batista, N. Wang, M. Badeaux, S. Roberge, L. Xu, P. Huang, A.K. Shalek, D. Fukumura, H.-J. Kim, R.K. Jain, Targeting Treg cells with GITR activation alleviates resistance to immunotherapy in murine glioblastomas, Nat. Commun. 12 (2021), https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-22885-8.
- [174] M.J. Mitchell, M.M. Billingsley, R.M. Haley, M.E. Wechsler, N.A. Peppas, R. Langer, Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 20 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-0090-8.
- [175] L. Zhang, A. Beatty, L. Lu, A. Abdalrahman, T.M. Makris, G. Wang, Q. Wang, Microfluidic-assisted polymer-protein assembly to fabricate homogeneous functionalnanoparticles, Mater. Sci. Eng., C 111 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.msec.2020.110768.
- [176] M. Caldorera-Moore, J.E. Vela Ramirez, N.A. Peppas, Transport and delivery of interferon-α through epithelial tight junctions via pH-responsive poly (methacrylic acid-grafted-ethylene glycol) nanoparticles, J. Drug Target. 27 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1080/1061186X.2018.1547732.
- [177] F.C. Knight, P. Gilchuk, A. Kumar, K.W. Becker, S. Sevimli, M.E. Jacobson, N. Suryadevara, L. Wang-Bishop, K.L. Boyd, J.E. Crowe, S. Joyce, J.T. Wilson, Mucosal Immunization with a pH-Responsive Nanoparticle Vaccine Induces Protective CD8 <sup>+</sup> Lung-Resident Memory T Cells, ACS Nano 13 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.9b00326.
- [178] M.S. Strand, B.A. Krasnick, H. Pan, X. Zhang, Y. Bi, C. Brooks, C. Wetzel, N. Sankpal, T. Fleming, S.P. Goedegebuure, D.G. DeNardo, W.E. Gillanders, W.G. Hawkins, S.A. Wickline, R.C. Fields, Precision delivery of RAS-inhibiting siRNA to KRAS driven cancer via peptide-based nanoparticles, Oncotarget. 10 (2019), https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.27109.
- [179] Jose, A., Sebastian, H., A., Durazzo, Lucarini, Santini, Souto, Transferrin-Conjugated Docetaxel-PLGA Nanoparticles for Tumor Targeting: Influence on MCF-7 Cell Cycle, Polymers. 11 (2019). http://doi.org/10.3390/ polym11111905.
- [180] X. Liu, C. Li, J. Lv, F. Huang, Y. An, L. Shi, R. Ma, Glucose and H<sub>2 O</sub> 2 Dual-Responsive Polymeric Micelles for the Self-Regulated Release of Insulin, ACS Appl. Bio Mater. 3 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1021/acsabm.9b01185.
- [181] M. Afsharzadeh, M. Hashemi, A. Mokhtarzadeh, K. Abnous, M. Ramezani, Recent advances in co-delivery systems based on polymeric nanoparticle for cancer treatment, Artif. Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol. 46 (2018), https://doi. org/10.1080/21691401.2017.1376675.
- [182] S.W. Lee, Y.M. Kim, C.H. Cho, Y.T. Kim, S.M. Kim, S.Y. Hur, J.H. Kim, B.G. Kim, S. C. Kim, H.S. Ryu, S.B. Kang, An open-label, randomized, parallel, phase ii trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of a cremophor-free polymeric micelle formulation of paclitaxel as first-line treatment for ovarian cancer: A Korean Gynecologic Oncology Group Study (KGOG-3021), Cancer Res. Treat. 50 (2018) 195–203, https://doi.org/10.4143/crt.2016.376.
- [183] L. Xu, H. Zhang, Y. Wu, Dendrimer advances for the central nervous system delivery of therapeutics, ACS Chem. Neurosci. 5 (2014) 2–13, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/cn400182z.
- [184] L.P. Mendes, J. Pan, V.P. Torchilin, Dendrimers as nanocarriers for nucleic acid and drug delivery in cancer therapy, Molecules 22 (2017), https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules22091401.
- [185] R.M. Kannan, E. Nance, S. Kannan, D.A. Tomalia, Emerging concepts in dendrimer-based nanomedicine: From design principles to clinical applications, J. Intern. Med. 276 (2014) 579–617, https://doi.org/10.1111/ joim.12280.
- [186] A.R. Menjoge, R.M. Kannan, D.A. Tomalia, Dendrimer-based drug and imaging conjugates: design considerations for nanomedical applications, Drug Discov. Today 15 (2010) 171-185, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2010.01.009.
- [187] D.M. Valcourt, M.N. Dang, M.A. Scully, E.S. Day, Nanoparticle-Mediated Co-Delivery of Notch-1 Antibodies and ABT-737 as a Potent Treatment Strategy for Triple-Negative Breast Cancer, ACS Nano 14 (2020) 3378–3388, https:// doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.9b09263.
- [188] A.C. Anselmo, S. Mitragotri, Nanoparticles in the clinic: An update, Bioeng. Transl. Med. 4 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1002/btm2.10143.
- [189] W. Yang, H. Liang, S. Ma, D. Wang, J. Huang, Gold nanoparticle based photothermal therapy: Development and application for effective cancer treatment, Sustain. Mater.Technol. 22 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.susmat.2019.e00109.
- [190] J. Wang, A.M. Potocny, J. Rosenthal, E.S. Day, Gold Nanoshell-Linear Tetrapyrrole Conjugates for near Infrared-Activated Dual Photodynamic and Photothermal Therapies, ACS Omega 5 (2020) 926–940, https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acsomega.9b04150.
- [191] D. Bobo, K.J. Robinson, J. Islam, K.J. Thurecht, S.R. Corrie, Nanoparticle-Based Medicines: A Review of FDA-Approved Materials and Clinical Trials to Date, Pharm. Res. 33 (2016) 2373–2387, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-016-1958-5.
- [192] L.S. Arias, J.P. Pessan, A.P.M. Vieira, T.M.T. de Lima, A.C.B. Delbem, D.R. Monteiro, Iron oxide nanoparticles for biomedical applications: A perspective on synthesis, drugs, antimicrobial activity, and toxicity, Antibiotics. 7 (2018), https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics7020046.
- [193] K.W. Huang, F.F. Hsu, J.T. Qiu, G.J. Chern, Y.A. Lee, C.C. Chang, Y.T. Huang, Y.C. Sung, C.C. Chiang, R.L. Huang, C.C. Lin, T.K. Dinh, H.C. Huang, Y.C. Shih, D. Alson, C.Y. Lin, Y.C. Lin, P.C. Chang, S.Y. Lin, Y. Chen, Highly efficient and tumor-selective nanoparticles for dual-targeted immunogene therapy against cancer, Sci. Adv. 6 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aax5032.
- [194] C. Xu, J. Nam, H. Hong, Y. Xu, J.J. Moon, Positron emission tomography-guided photodynamic therapy with biodegradable mesoporous silica nanoparticles

#### V.A. Ljubimov, A. Ramesh, S. Davani et al.

for personalized cancer immunotherapy, ACS Nano 13 (2019) 12148–12161, https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.9b06691.

- [195] A.M. Wagner, J.M. Knipe, G. Orive, N.A. Peppas, Quantum dots in biomedical applications, Acta Biomater. 94 (2019) 44–63, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2019.05.022.
- [196] Y. Zhang, S. Meng, J. Ding, Q. Peng, Y. Yu, Transition metal-coordinated graphitic carbon nitride dots as a sensitive and facile fluorescent probe for  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide detection, Analyst. 144 (2019) 504–511, https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c8an01620h.
- [197] B.B. Manshian, J. Jiménez, U. Himmelreich, S.J. Soenen, Personalized medicine and follow-up of therapeutic delivery through exploitation of quantum dot toxicity, Biomaterials 127 (2017) 1–12, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2017.02.039.
- [198] X. Michalet, Quantum Dots for Live Cells, in Vivo Imaging, and Diagnostics, Science 307 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1104274.
- [199] S. Pathak, Quantum Dot Applications to Neuroscience: New Tools for Probing Neurons and Glia, J. Neurosci. 26 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3847-05.2006.
- [200] S. Kim, Y.T. Lim, E.G. Soltesz, A.M. de Grand, J. Lee, A. Nakayama, J.A. Parker, T. Mihaljevic, R.G. Laurence, D.M. Dor, L.H. Cohn, M.G. Bawendi, J.v. Frangioni, Near-infrared fluorescent type II quantum dots for sentinel lymph node mapping, Nat. Biotechnol. 22 (2004), https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt920.
- [201] A. Taghva, A.A. Khalessi, P.E. Kim, C.Y. Liu, M.L.J. Apuzzo, From Atom to Brain: Applications of Molecular Imaging to Neurosurgery, World Neurosurg. 73 (2010), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2010.02.058.
- [202] C. Corot, P. Robert, J. Idee, M. Port, Recent advances in iron oxide nanocrystal technology for medical imaging☆, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (2006), https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2006.09.013.
- [203] M.A. Hahn, A.K. Singh, P. Sharma, S.C. Brown, B.M. Moudgil, Nanoparticles as contrast agents for in-vivo bioimaging: current status and future perspectives, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 399 (2011), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00216-010-4207-5.
- [204] R. Mejías, S. Pérez-Yagüe, A.G. Roca, N. Pérez, Á. Villanueva, M. Cañete, S. Mañes, J. Ruiz-Cabello, M. Benito, A. Labarta, X. Batlle, S. Veintemillas-Verdaguer, M.P. Morales, D.F. Barber, C.J. Serna, Liver and brain imaging through dimercaptosuccinic acid-coated iron oxide nanoparticles, Nanomedicine 5 (2010), https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm.10.15.
- [205] E. Dósa, S. Tuladhar, L.L. Muldoon, B.E. Hamilton, W.D. Rooney, E.A. Neuwelt, MRI Using Ferumoxytol Improves the Visualization of Central Nervous System Vascular Malformations, Stroke 42 (2011), https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.607994.
- [206] A.M. Rao, Diameter-Selective Raman Scattering from Vibrational Modes in Carbon Nanotubes, Science 275 (1997), https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.275.5297.187.
- [207] Y. Liu, D.-C. Wu, W.-D. Zhang, X. Jiang, C.-B. He, T.S. Chung, S.H. Goh, K.W. Leong, Polyethylenimine-Grafted Multiwalled Carbon Nanotubes for Secure Noncovalent Immobilization and Efficient Delivery of DNA, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 44 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200500042.
- [208] Z. Liu, S. Tabakman, K. Welsher, H. Dai, Carbon nanotubes in biology and medicine: In vitro and in vivo detection, imaging and drug delivery, Nano Res. 2 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1007/s12274-009-9009-8.
- [209] T.J. Webster, Lee, Khang, Kim, Moon, Kim, Bokara, Carbon nanotubes impregnated with subventricular zone neural progenitor cells promotes recovery from stroke, Int. J. Nanomed. (2012). http://doi.org/10.2147/IJN. S30273.
- [210] J.L. Gilmore, X. Yi, L. Quan, A.v. Kabanov, Novel Nanomaterials for Clinical Neuroscience, J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 3 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11481-007-9099-6.
- [211] C. Gardin, A. Piattelli, B. Zavan, Graphene in Regenerative Medicine: Focus on Stem Cells and Neuronal Differentiation, Trends Biotechnol. 34 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.01.006.
- [212] A.K. Geim, K.S. Novoselov, The rise of graphene, in: Nanoscience and Technology, Co-Published with Macmillan Publishers Ltd, UK, 2009. http://doi.org/10.1142/9789814287005\_0002.
- [213] S. Setua, M. Ouberai, S.G. Piccirillo, C. Watts, M. Welland, Cisplatin-tethered gold nanospheres for multimodal chemo-radiotherapy of glioblastoma, Nanoscale. 6 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1039/C4NR03693J.
- [214] E.C. Dreaden, A.M. Alkilany, X. Huang, C.J. Murphy, M.A. El-Sayed, The golden age: gold nanoparticles for biomedicine, Chem. Soc. Rev. 41 (2012), https:// doi.org/10.1039/C1CS15237H.
- [215] H. Karabeber, R. Huang, P. Iacono, J.M. Samii, K. Pitter, E.C. Holland, M.F. Kircher, Guiding Brain Tumor Resection Using Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Nanoparticles and a Hand-Held Raman Scanner, ACS Nano 8 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1021/nn503948b.
- [216] W. Zhang, Y. Wang, X. Sun, W. Wang, L. Chen, Mesoporous titania based yolkshell nanoparticles as multifunctional theranostic platforms for SERS imaging and chemo-photothermal treatment, Nanoscale. 6 (2014), https://doi.org/ 10.1039/C4NR04864D.
- [217] R. Patil, A. Galstyan, Z.B. Grodzinski, E.S. Shatalova, S. Wagner, L. Israel, H. Ding, K.L. Black, J.Y. Ljubimova, E. Holler, Single- and Multi-Arm Gadolinium MRI Contrast Agents for Targeted Imaging of Glioblastoma, Int. J. Nanomed. 15 (2020), https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S238265.
- [218] J.L. Markman, A. Rekechenetskiy, E. Holler, J.Y. Ljubimova, Nanomedicine therapeutic approaches to overcome cancer drug resistance, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 65 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2013.09.019.

- [219] D. Gonzalez-Carter, X. Liu, T.A. Tockary, A. Dirisala, K. Toh, Y. Anraku, K. Kataoka, Targeting nanoparticles to the brain by exploiting the blood-brain barrier impermeability to selectively label the brain endothelium, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 117 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2002016117.
- [220] D. Administration, Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) for an Unapproved Product Review Memorandum Identifying Information Application Type EUA (Event-driven EUA request), Application Number 27034 Sponsor Pfizer Inc, on behalf of Pfizer and BioNTech Submission Date, 2020.
- [221] S. Harun, S. Amin Nordin, S.S. Abd Gani, A.F. Shamsuddin, M. Basri, H. bin Basri, Development of nanoemulsion for efficient brain parenteral delivery of cefuroxime: designs, characterizations, and pharmacokinetics, Int. J. Nanomed. 13 (2018), https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S151788.
- [222] M. Ceccarelli, F.P. Barthel, T.M. Malta, T.S. Sabedot, S.R. Salama, B.A. Murray, O. Morozova, Y. Newton, A. Radenbaugh, S.M. Pagnotta, S. Anjum, J. Wang, G. Manyam, P. Zoppoli, S. Ling, A.A. Rao, M. Grifford, A.D. Cherniack, H. Zhang, L. Poisson, C.G. Carlotti, D.P. da C. Tirapelli, A. Rao, T. Mikkelsen, C.C. Lau, W.K.A. Yung, R. Rabadan, J. Huse, D.J. Brat, N.L. Lehman, J.S. Barnholtz-Sloan, S. Zheng, K. Hess, G. Rao, M. Meyerson, R. Beroukhim, L. Cooper, R. Akbani, M. Wrensch, D. Haussler, K.D. Aldape, P.W. Laird, D.H. Gutmann, H. Noushmehr, A. Iavarone, R.G.W. Verhaak, S. Anjum, H. Arachchi, J.T. Auman, M. Balasundaram, S. Balu, G. Barnett, S. Baylin, S. Bell, C. Benz, N. Bir, K.L. Black, T. Bodenheimer, L. Boice, M.S. Bootwalla, J. Bowen, C.A. Bristow, Y.S.N. Butterfield, Q.-R. Chen, L. Chin, J. Cho, E. Chuah, S. Chudamani, S.G. Coetzee, M.L. Cohen, H. Colman, M. Couce, F. D'Angelo, T. Davidsen, A. Davis, J.A. Demchok, K. Devine, L. Ding, R. Duell, J.B. Elder, J.M. Eschbacher, A. Fehrenbach, M. Ferguson, S. Frazer, G. Fuller, J. Fulop, S.B. Gabriel, L. Garofano, J.M. Gastier-Foster, N. Gehlenborg, M. Gerken, G. Getz, C. Giannini, W.J. Gibson, A. Hadjipanayis, D.N. Hayes, D.I. Heiman, B. Hermes, J. Hilty, K.A. Hoadley, A.P. Hoyle, M. Huang, S.R. Jefferys, C.D. Jones, S.J.M. Jones, Z. Ju, A. Kastl, A. Kendler, J. Kim, R. Kucherlapati, P.H. Lai, M.S. Lawrence, S. Lee, K.M. Leraas, T.M. Lichtenberg, P. Lin, Y. Liu, J. Liu, J.Y. Ljubimova, Y. Lu, Y. Ma, D.T. Maglinte, H.S. Mahadeshwar, M.A. Marra, M. McGraw, C. McPherson, S. Meng, P.A. Mieczkowski, C.R. Miller, G.B. Mills, R.A. Moore, L.E. Mose, A.J. Mungall, R. Naresh, T. Naska, L. Neder, M.S. Noble, A. Noss, B.P. O'Neill, Q.T. Ostrom, C. Palmer, A. Pantazi, M. Parfenov, P.J. Park, J.S. Parker, C.M. Perou, C.R. Pierson, T. Pihl, A. Protopopov, A. Radenbaugh, N.C. Ramirez, W.K. Rathmell, X. Ren, J. Roach, A.G. Robertson, G. Saksena, J.E. Schein, S.E. Schumacher, J. Seidman, K. Senecal, S. Seth, H. Shen, Y. Shi, J. Shih, K. Shimmel, H. Sicotte, S. Sifri, T. Silva, J.V. Simons, R. Singh, T. Skelly, A.E. Sloan, H.J. Sofia, M.G. Soloway, X. Song, C. Sougnez, C. Souza, S.M. Staugaitis, H. Sun, C. Sun, D. Tan, J. Tang, Y. Tang, L. Thorne, F.A. Trevisan, T. Triche, D.J. Van Den Berg, U. Veluvolu, D. Voet, Y. Wan, Z. Wang, R. Warnick, J.N. Weinstein, D.J. Weisenberger, M.D. Wilkerson, F. Williams, L. Wise, Y. Wolinsky, J. Wu, A.W. Xu, L. Yang, L. Yang, T.I. Zack, J.C. Zenklusen, J. Zhang, W. Zhang, J. Zhang, E. Zmuda, Molecular Profiling Reveals Biologically Discrete Subsets and Pathways of Progression in Diffuse Glioma, Cell. 164 (2016). http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.028.
- [223] C. Neftel, J. Laffy, M.G. Filbin, T. Hara, M.E. Shore, G.J. Rahme, A.R. Richman, D. Silverbush, M.L. Shaw, C.M. Hebert, J. Dewitt, S. Gritsch, E.M. Perez, L.N. Gonzalez Castro, X. Lan, N. Druck, C. Rodman, D. Dionne, A. Kaplan, M.S. Bertalan, J. Small, K. Pelton, S. Becker, D. Bonal, Q.-D. Nguyen, R.L. Servis, J.M. Fung, R. Mylvaganam, L. Mayr, J. Gojo, C. Haberler, R. Geyeregger, T. Czech, I. Slavc, B. v. Nahed, W.T. Curry, B.S. Carter, H. Wakimoto, P.K. Brastianos, T.T. Batchelor, A. Stemmer-Rachamimov, M. Martinez-Lage, M.P. Frosch, I. Stamenkovic, N. Riggi, E. Rheinbay, M. Monje, O. Rozenblatt-Rosen, D.P. Cahill, A.P. Patel, T. Hunter, I.M. Verma, K.L Ligon, D.N. Louis, A. Regev, B.E. Bernstein, I. Tirosh, M.L. Suvà, An Integrative Model of Cellular States, Plasticity, and Genetics for Glioblastoma, Cell. 178 (2019). http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2019.06.024.
- [224] R.K. Jain, Normalizing Tumor Microenvironment to Treat Cancer: Bench to Bedside to Biomarkers, J. Clin. Oncol. 31 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2012.46.3653.
- [225] A. Dimberg, The glioblastoma vasculature as a target for cancer therapy, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 42 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20140278.
- [226] B.D. Liebelt, T. Shingu, X. Zhou, J. Ren, S.A. Shin, J. Hu, Glioma Stem Cells: Signaling, Microenvironment, and Therapy, Stem Cells Int. 2016 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7849890.
- [227] C. Calabrese, H. Poppleton, M. Kocak, T.L. Hogg, C. Fuller, B. Hamner, E.Y. Oh, M.W. Gaber, D. Finklestein, M. Allen, A. Frank, I.T. Bayazitov, S.S. Zakharenko, A. Gajjar, A. Davidoff, R.J. Gilbertson, A Perivascular Niche for Brain Tumor Stem Cells, Cancer Cell 11 (2007), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2006.11.020.
   [228] C.A. Gilbert, A.H. Ross, Cancer stem cells: Cell culture, markers, and targets for
- [228] C.A. Gilbert, A.H. Ross, Cancer stem cells: Cell culture, markers, and targets for new therapies, J. Cell. Biochem. 108 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1002/ icb.22350.
- [229] J.D. Lathia, M. Li, P.E. Hall, J. Gallagher, J.S. Hale, Q. Wu, M. Venere, E. Levy, M. R.S. Rani, P. Huang, E. Bae, J. Selfridge, L. Cheng, H. Guvenc, R.E. McLendon, I. Nakano, A.E. Sloan, H.S. Phillips, A. Lai, C.L. Gladson, M. Bredel, S. Bao, A.B. Hjelmeland, J.N. Rich, Laminin alpha 2 enables glioblastoma stem cell growth, Ann. Neurol. 72 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23674.
- [230] X. Jiang, S. Fitch, C. Wang, C. Wilson, J. Li, G.A. Grant, F. Yang, Nanoparticle engineered TRAIL-overexpressing adipose-derived stem cells target and eradicate glioblastoma via intracranial delivery, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1615396113.
- [231] N.E. Hynes, H.A. Lane, ERBB receptors and cancer: the complexity of targeted inhibitors, Nat. Rev. Cancer 5 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1609.

- [232] K. Ueki, R. Nishikawa, Y. Nakazato, T. Hirose, J. Hirato, N. Funada, T. Fujimaki, S. Hojo, O. Kubo, T. Ide, M. Usui, C. Ochiai, S. Ito, H. Takahashi, A. Mukasa, A. Asai, T. Kirino, Correlation of Histology and Molecular Genetic Analysis of 1p, 19q, 10q, TP53, EGFR, CDK4, and CDKN2A in 91 Astrocytic and Oligodendroglial Tumors 1, 2002. http://www.gdb.org.
- [233] M. Huncharek, B. Kupelnick, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Gene Amplification as a Prognostic Marker in Glioblastoma Multiforme: Results of a Meta-Analysis, Oncol. Res. Featuring Preclin. Clin. Cancer Therapeut. 12 (2001), https://doi.org/10.3727/096504001108747576.
- [234] X. Muracciole, S. Romain, H. Dufour, J. Palmari, O. Chinot, L. Ouafik, F. Grisoli, D. Figarella, P.-M. Branger, PAI-1 and EGFR expression in adult glioma tumors: toward a molecular prognostic classification, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. \*Biol.\*Phys. 52 (2002), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3016(01)02699-2.
- [235] A. Chakravarti, E. Noll, P. McL, D.F. Black, D.M. Finkelstein, N.J. Finkelstein, J.S. L. Dyson, Quantitatively Determined Survivin Expression Levels Are of Prognostic Value in Human Gliomas, J. Clin. Oncol. 20 (2002), https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2002.20.4.1063.
- [236] Y. Yao, T. Kubota, K. Sato, R. Kitai, H. Takeuchi, H. Arishima, Prognostic Value of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and its Receptors Flt-1 and Flk-1 in Astrocytic Tumours, Acta Neurochir. 143 (2001), https://doi.org/10.1007/ s007010170122.
- [237] S.-L. Sallinen, P.K. Sallinen, H.K. Haapasalo, H.J. Helin, P.T. Helén, P. Schraml, O.-P. Kallioniemi, J. Kononen, Identification of Differentially Expressed Genes in Human Gliomas by DNA Microarray and Tissue Chip, Techniques (2000).
- [238] N.M. Khazenzon, A. v Ljubimov, A.J. Lakhter, M. Fujita, H. Fujiwara, K. Sekiguchi, L.M. Sorokin, N. Petä Jä Niemi, I. Virtanen, K.L. Black, J.Y. Ljubimova, Antisense inhibition of laminin-8 expression reduces invasion of human gliomas in vitro, 2003. www.cancer.org/eprise/main/docroot/ CRI/content/CRI\_2\_4\_1X\_What\_are\_the\_.
- [239] H. Fujiwara, Y. Kikkawa, N. Sanzen, K. Sekiguchi, Purification and Characterization of Human Laminin-8, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001), https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010155200.
- [240] R. Hallmann, N. Horn, M. Selg, O. Wendler, F. Pausch, L.M. Sorokin, Expression and Function of Laminins in the Embryonic and Mature Vasculature, Physiol. Rev. 85 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00014.2004.
- [241] C. Iadecola, The Neurovascular Unit Coming of Age: A Journey through Neurovascular Coupling in Health and Disease, Neuron 96 (2017) 17–42, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.07.030.
- [242] I. Brigger, C. Dubernet, P. Couvreur, Nanoparticles in cancer therapy and diagnosis, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 64 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2012.09.006.
- [243] J. Li, M. Zheng, O. Shimoni, W.A. Banks, A.I. Bush, J.R. Gamble, B. Shi, Development of Novel Therapeutics Targeting the Blood-Brain Barrier: From Barrier to Carrier, Advanced, Science (2021) 2101090, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/advs.202101090.
- [244] O. Kayser, A. Lemke, N. Hernandez-Trejo, The Impact of Nanobiotechnology on the Development of New Drug Delivery Systems, Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol. 6 (2005), https://doi.org/10.2174/1389201053167158.
- [245] J. Kreuter, Nanoparticulate systems for brain delivery of drugs, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 47 (2001), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(00)00122-8.
- [246] J. Kreuter, P. Ramge, V. Petrov, S. Hamm, S.E. Gelperina, B. Engelhardt, R. Alyautdin, H. von Briesen, D.J. Begley, Direct Evidence That Polysorbate-80-Coated Poly(Butylcyanoacrylate) Nanoparticles Deliver Drugs to the CNS via Specific Mechanisms Requiring Prior Binding of Drug to the Nanoparticles, Pharm. Res. 20 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022604120952.
- [247] C. Vauthier, C. Dubernet, E. Fattal, H. Pinto-Alphandary, P. Couvreur, Poly (alkylcyanoacrylates) as biodegradable materials for biomedical applications, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 55 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-409X(03) 00041-3.
- [248] H. Maeda, J. Wu, T. Sawa, Y. Matsumura, K. Hori, Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review, J. Control. Release 65 (2000), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-3659(99)00248-5.
- [249] D.W. Northfelt, F.J. Martin, P. Working, P.A. Volberding, J. Russell, M. Newman, M.A. Amantea, L.D. Kaplan, Doxorubicin Encapsulated in Liposomes Containing Surface-Bound Polyethylene Glycol: Pharmacokinetics, Tumor Localization, and Safety in Patients with AIDS-Related Kaposi's Sarcoma, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 36 (1996), https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1552-4604.1996.tb04152.x.
- [250] S.P. Leary, C.Y. Liu, M.L.J. Apuzzo, Toward the Emergence of Nanoneurosurgery: Part III–Nanomedicine: Targeted Nanotherapy, Nanosurgery, and Progress Toward the Realization of Nanoneurosurgery, Neurosurgery. 58 (2006), https://doi.org/10.1227/01. NEU.0000217016.79256.16.
- [251] J.E. Summerton, Morpholino, siRNA, and S-DNA Compared: Impact of Structure and Mechanism of Action on Off-Target Effects and Sequence Specificity, 2007.
- [252] G.H. Mahabeleshwar, W. Feng, K. Reddy, E.F. Plow, T.v. Byzova, Mechanisms of Integrin-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor Cross-Activation in Angiogenesis, Circ. Res. 101 (2007), https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.107.155655.
- [253] H.S. Sekhon, C.A. London, M. Sekhon, P.L. Iversen, G.R. Devi, c-MYC antisense phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomer inhibits lung metastasis in a murine tumor model, Lung Cancer. 60 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lungcan.2007.10.028.
- [254] P.E. Nielsen, Peptide nucleic acid targeting of double-stranded DNA, in: 2001. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(01)40429-0.

- [255] B. Lee, M. Vert, E. Holler, Water-soluble Aliphatic Polyesters: Poly(malic acid) s, in: Y. Doi, A. Steinbüchel (Eds.), Biopolymers Online, Wiley, 2002. http://doi.org/10.1002/3527600035.bpol3a03.
- [256] D. Domurado, P. Fournié, C. Braud, M. Vert, P. Guérin, F. Simonnet, In Vivo Fates of Degradable Poly(β-Malic Acid) and of its Precursor, Malic Acid, J. Bioactive Compatible Polym. 18 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0883911503018001003.
- [257] B. Gasslmaier, C.M. Krell, D. Seebach, E. Holler, Synthetic substrates and inhibitors of β-poly(L-malate)-hydrolase (polymalatase), Eur. J. Biochem. 267 (2000), https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01573.x.
- [258] C. Braud, C. Bunel, M. Vert, Poly(?-malic acid): a new polymeric drug-carrier, Polym. Bull. 13 (1985), https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00262111.
- [259] S. Cammas, M.-M. Béar, L. Moine, R. Escalup, G. Ponchel, K. Kataoka, P. Guérin, Polymers of malic acid and 3-alkylmalic acid as synthetic PHAs in the design of biocompatible hydrolyzable devices, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 25 (1999), https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-8130(99)00042-2.
- [260] S. Schwartz, Unmet needs in developing nanoparticles for precision medicine, Nanomedicine. 12 (2017), https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm-2016-0390.
- [261] C. von Roemeling, W. Jiang, C.K. Chan, I.L. Weissman, B.Y.S. Kim, Breaking Down the Barriers to Precision Cancer Nanomedicine, Trends Biotechnol. 35 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2016.07.006.
- [262] C. Saraiva, C. Praça, R. Ferreira, T. Santos, L. Ferreira, L. Bernardino, Nanoparticle-mediated brain drug delivery: Overcoming blood-brain barrier to treat neurodegenerative diseases, J. Control. Release 235 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.05.044.
- [263] R. Patil, A. Galstyan, T. Sun, E.S. Shatalova, P. Butte, A.N. Mamelak, C. Carico, D. S. Kittle, Z.B. Grodzinski, A. Chiechi, H. Ding, K.L. Black, J.Y. Ljubimova, E. Holler, Polymalic acid chlorotoxin nanoconjugate for near-infrared fluorescence guided resection of glioblastoma multiforme, Biomaterials 206 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.03.029.
- [264] L. Kou, Y.D. Bhutia, Q. Yao, Z. He, J. Sun, V. Ganapathy, Transporter-Guided Delivery of Nanoparticles to Improve Drug Permeation across Cellular Barriers and Drug Exposure to Selective Cell Types, Front. Pharmacol. 9 (2018), https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00027.
- [265] A.S. Wadajkar, J.G. Dancy, N.B. Roberts, N.P. Connolly, D.K. Strickland, J.A. Winkles, G.F. Woodworth, A.J. Kim, Decreased non-specific adhesivity, receptor targeted (DART) nanoparticles exhibit improved dispersion, cellular uptake, and tumor retention in invasive gliomas, J. Control. Release 267 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.006.
- [266] E.A. Nance, G.F. Woodworth, K.A. Sailor, T.-Y. Shih, Q. Xu, G. Swaminathan, D. Xiang, C. Eberhart, J. Hanes, A Dense Poly(Ethylene Glycol) Coating Improves Penetration of Large Polymeric Nanoparticles Within Brain Tissue, Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3003594.
- [267] Z.R. Stephen, P.A. Chiarelli, R.A. Revia, K. Wang, F. Kievit, C. Dayringer, M. Jeon, R. Ellenbogen, M. Zhang, Time-Resolved MRI Assessment of Convection-Enhanced Delivery by Targeted and Nontargeted Nanoparticles in a Human Glioblastoma Mouse Model, Cancer Res. 79 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1158/ 0008-5472. CAN-18-2998.
- [268] L. Battaglia, P.P. Panciani, E. Muntoni, M.T. Capucchio, E. Biasibetti, P. de Bonis, S. Mioletti, M. Fontanella, S. Swaminathan, Lipid nanoparticles for intranasal administration: application to nose-to-brain delivery, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv, 15 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2018.1429401.
- [269] F. Sousa, H.K. Dhaliwal, F. Gattacceca, B. Sarmento, M.M. Amiji, Enhanced anti-angiogenic effects of bevacizumab in glioblastoma treatment upon intranasal administration in polymeric nanoparticles, J. Control. Release 309 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.07.033.
   [270] T. Musumeci, A. Bonaccorso, G. Puglisi, Epilepsy Disease and Nose-to-Brain
- [270] T. Musumeci, A. Bonaccorso, G. Puglisi, Epilepsy Disease and Nose-to-Brain Delivery of Polymeric Nanoparticles: An Overview, Pharmaceutics 11 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics11030118.
- [271] F.A. Bruinsmann, G. Richter Vaz, A. de Cristo Soares, T. Alves, A.R. Aguirre, S.S. Pohlmann, F.S. Guterres, Nasal Drug Delivery of Anticancer Drugs for the Treatment of Glioblastoma: Preclinical and Clinical Trials, Molecules 24 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24234312.
- [272] M. Patarroyo, K. Tryggvason, I. Virtanen, Laminin isoforms in tumor invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis, Semin. Cancer Biol. 12 (2002), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1044-579X(02)00023-8.
- [273] T. Würdinger, B.A. Tannous, Cell Adhesion & Migration Glioma angiogenesis Towards novel RNA therapeutics, (2009). http://doi.org/ 10.4161/cam.3.2.7910.
- [274] G. Bergers, D. Hanahan, Modes of resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2442.
- [275] L.M. Ellis, D.J. Hicklin, VEGF-targeted therapy: mechanisms of anti-tumour activity, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2403.
- [276] J. Folkman, Angiogenesis: an organizing principle for drug discovery?, Nat Rev. Drug Discov. 6 (2007), https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2115.
   [277] C. Murdoch, M. Muthana, S.B. Coffelt, C.E. Lewis, The role of myeloid cells in
- [277] C. Murdoch, M. Muthana, S.B. Coffelt, C.E. Lewis, The role of myeloid cells in the promotion of tumour angiogenesis, Nat. Rev. Cancer 8 (2008), https://doi. org/10.1038/nrc2444.
- [278] O. Benny, O. Fainaru, A. Adini, F. Cassiola, L. Bazinet, I. Adini, E. Pravda, Y. Nahmias, S. Koirala, G. Corfas, R.J. D'Amato, J. Folkman, An orally delivered small-molecule formulation with antiangiogenic and anticancer activity, Nat. Biotechnol. 26 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1415.
- [279] F. Doñate, G.C. Parry, Y. Shaked, H. Hensley, X. Guan, I. Beck, Z. Tel-Tsur, M.L. Plunkett, M. Manuia, D.E. Shaw, R.S. Kerbel, A.P. Mazar, Pharmacology of the Novel Antiangiogenic Peptide ATN-161 (Ac-PHSCN-NH 2): Observation of a U-Shaped Dose-Response Curve in Several Preclinical Models of Angiogenesis

and Tumor Growth, Clin. Cancer Res. 14 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-07-4530.

- [280] E.A. Murphy, B.K. Majeti, L.A. Barnes, M. Makale, S.M. Weis, K. Lutu-Fuga, W. Wrasidlo, D.A. Cheresh, Nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery to tumor vasculature suppresses metastasis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803728105.
- [281] S. Banerjee, M. Dowsett, A. Ashworth, L.-A. Martin, Mechanisms of Disease: angiogenesis and the management of breast cancer, Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol. 4 (2007), https://doi.org/10.1038/ncponc0905.
- [282] C.M. Peterson, J.-G. Shiah, Y. Sun, P. KopeČKovÁ, T. Minko, R.C. Straight, J. KopeČEk, HPMA Copolymer Delivery of Chemotherapy and Photodynamic Therapy in Ovarian Cancer, in: Polymer Drugs in the Clinical Stage, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, n.d. http://doi.org/ 10.1007/0-306-47932-X\_7.
- [283] R. Satchi-Fainaro, M. Puder, J.W. Davies, H.T. Tran, D.A. Sampson, A.K. Greene, G. Corfas, J. Folkman, Targeting angiogenesis with a conjugate of HPMA copolymer and TNP-470, Nat. Med. 10 (2004), https://doi.org/10.1038/ nm1002.
- [284] E. Yeini, P. Ofek, N. Albeck, D.R. Ajamil, L. Neufeld, A. Eldar-Boock, R. Kleiner, D. Vaskovich, S. Koshrovski-Michael, S.I. Dangoor, A. Krivitsky, C.B. Luna, G. Shenbach-Koltin, M. Goldenfeld, O. Hadad, G. Tiram, R. Satchi-Fainaro, Targeting Glioblastoma: Advances in Drug Delivery and Novel Therapeutic Approaches, Adv. Therapeut. 4 (2021) 2000124, https://doi.org/10.1002/ ADTP.202000124.
- [285] R. Duncan, The dawning era of polymer therapeutics, Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery 2 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1088.
- [286] T.W. LeBien, T.F. Tedder, B lymphocytes: how they develop and function, Blood 112 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-02-078071.
- [287] N. Seyfizadeh, N. Seyfizadeh, J. Hasenkamp, S. Huerta-Yepez, A molecular perspective on rituximab: A monoclonal antibody for B cell non Hodgkin lymphoma and other affections, Crit. Rev. Oncol./Hematol. 97 (2016), https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.09.001.
- [288] M.-A. Ghetie, H. Bright, E.S. Vitetta, Homodimers but not monomers of Rituxan (chimeric anti-CD20) induce apoptosis in human B-lymphoma cells and synergize with a chemotherapeutic agent and an immunotoxin, Blood 97 (2001), https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V97.5.1392.
- [289] R.N. Johnson, P. Kopečková, J. Kopeček, Synthesis and Evaluation of Multivalent Branched HPMA Copolymer–Fab' Conjugates Targeted to the B-Cell Antigen CD20, Bioconjug. Chem. 20 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1021/ bc800351m.
- [290] R.N. Johnson, P. Kopečková, J. Kopeček, Biological activity of anti-CD20 multivalent HPMA copolymer-fab' conjugates, Biomacromolecules 13 (2012) 727–735, https://doi.org/10.1021/bm201656k.
- [291] T.-W. Chu, J. Yang, J. Kopeček, Anti-CD20 multivalent HPMA copolymer-Fab' conjugates for the direct induction of apoptosis, Biomaterials 33 (2012), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.024.
- [292] T.-W. Chu, J. Kopeček, Drug-free macromolecular therapeutics a new paradigm in polymeric nanomedicines, Biomater. Sci. 3 (2015), https://doi. org/10.1039/C4BM00442F.
- [293] K. Wu, J. Liu, R.N. Johnson, J. Yang, J. Kopeček, Drug-Free Macromolecular Therapeutics: Induction of Apoptosis by Coiled-Coil-Mediated Cross-Linking of Antigens on the Cell Surface, Angew. Chem. 122 (2010), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ange.200906232.
- [294] K. Wu, J. Yang, J. Liu, J. Kopeček, Coiled-coil based drug-free macromolecular therapeutics: In vivo efficacy, J. Control. Release 157 (2012), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.08.002.
- [295] R. Zhang, J. Yang, T.-W. Chu, J.M. Hartley, J. Kopeček, Multimodality Imaging of Coiled-Coil Mediated Self-Assembly in a "Drug-Free" Therapeutic System, Adv. Healthcare Mater. 4 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201400679.
- [296] T.-W. Chu, J. Yang, R. Zhang, M. Sima, J. Kopeček, Cell Surface Self-Assembly of Hybrid Nanoconjugates via Oligonucleotide Hybridization Induces Apoptosis, ACS Nano 8 (2014), https://doi.org/10.1021/nn4053827.
- [297] J.M. Hartley, T.-W. Chu, E.M. Peterson, R. Zhang, J. Yang, J. Harris, J. Kopeček, Super-Resolution Imaging and Quantitative Analysis of Membrane Protein/ Lipid Raft Clustering Mediated by Cell-Surface Self-Assembly of Hybrid Nanoconjugates, ChemBioChem 16 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1002/ cbic.201500278.
- [298] J.M. Hartley, R. Zhang, M. Gudheti, J. Yang, J. Kopeček, Tracking and quantifying polymer therapeutic distribution on a cellular level using 3D dSTORM, J. Control. Release 231 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jconrel.2016.02.005.
- [299] L. Zhang, Y. Fang, J. Yang, J. Kopeček, Drug-free macromolecular therapeutics: Impact of structure on induction of apoptosis in Raji B cells, J. Control. Release 263 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.12.025.
- [300] T.W. Chu, K.M. Kosak, P.J. Shami, J. Kopeček, Drug-free macromolecular therapeutics induce apoptosis of patient chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells, Drug Delivery and Translational, Research. 4 (2014) 389–394, https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13346-014-0209-8.
- [301] T.-W. Chu, R. Zhang, J. Yang, M.P. Chao, P.J. Shami, J. Kopeček, A Two-Step Pretargeted Nanotherapy for CD20 Crosslinking May Achieve Superior Anti-Lymphoma Efficacy to Rituximab, Theranostics. 5 (2015), https://doi.org/ 10.7150/thno.12040.
- [302] L. Li, J. Yang, J. Wang, J. Kopeček, Amplification of CD20 Cross-Linking in Rituximab-Resistant B-Lymphoma Cells Enhances Apoptosis Induction by Drug-Free Macromolecular Therapeutics, ACS Nano 12 (2018), https://doi. org/10.1021/acsnano.8b00797.

- [303] L. Li, J. Yang, J. Wang, J. Kopeček, Drug-free macromolecular therapeutics exhibit amplified apoptosis in G2/M phase arrested cells, J. Drug Target. 27 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1080/1061186X.2018.1521414.
- [304] J. Wang, L. Li, J. Yang, P.M. Clair, M.J. Glenn, D.M. Stephens, D.C. Radford, K.M. Kosak, M.W. Deininger, P.J. Shami, J. Kopeček, Drug-free macromolecular therapeutics induce apoptosis in cells isolated from patients with B cell malignancies with enhanced apoptosis induction by pretreatment with gemcitabine, Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 16 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2018.12.011.
- [305] J. Yang, L. Li, J. Kopeček, Biorecognition: A key to drug-free macromolecular therapeutics, Biomaterials 190–191 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biomaterials.2018.10.007.
- [306] L. Li, J. Yang, S. Soodvilai, J. Wang, P. Opanasopit, J. Kopeček, Drug-free albumin-triggered sensitization of cancer cells to anticancer drugs, J. Control. Release 293 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.11.015.
- [307] L. Li, J. Yang, J. Wang, J. Kopeček, Drug-Free Macromolecular Therapeutics Induce Apoptosis via Calcium Influx and Mitochondrial Signaling Pathway, Macromol. Biosci. 18 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1002/mabi.201700196.
- [308] J. Georgieva, D. Hoekstra, I. Zuhorn, Smuggling Drugs into the Brain: An Overview of Ligands Targeting Transcytosis for Drug Delivery across the Blood-Brain Barrier, Pharmaceutics 6 (2014), https://doi.org/10.3390/ pharmaceutics6040557.
- [309] İ. Gómez-Aguado, J. Rodríguez-Castejón, M. Vicente-Pascual, A. Rodríguez-Gascón, M.Á. Solinís, A. del Pozo-Rodríguez, Nanomedicines to Deliver mRNA: State of the Art and Future Perspectives, Nanomaterials 10 (2020), https:// doi.org/10.3390/nano10020364.
- [310] D. Ulkoski, A. Bak, J.T. Wilson, V.R. Krishnamurthy, Recent advances in polymeric materials for the delivery of RNA therapeutics, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 16 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1080/17425247.2019.1663822.
- [311] A. Rodriguez-Gascon, A. del Pozo-Rodríguez, M.A. Solinís, Development of nucleic acid vaccines: use of self-amplifying RNA in lipid nanoparticles, Int. J. Nanomed. (2014), https://doi.org/10.2147/IJN.S39810.
- [312] Gene Therapy Clinical Trials Worldwide, (n.d.). https://a873679. fmphost.com/fmi/webd/GTCT (accessed June 29, 2021).
- [313] M. Carvalho, B. Sepodes, A.P. Martins, Regulatory and Scientific Advancements in Gene Therapy: State-of-the-Art of Clinical Applications and of the Supporting European Regulatory Framework, Front. Med. 4 (2017), https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2017.00182.
- [314] A. del Pozo-Rodríguez, M.Á. Solinís, A. Rodríguez-Gascón, Applications of lipid nanoparticles in gene therapy, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 109 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.10.016.
- [315] H. Yin, R.L. Kanasty, A.A. Eltoukhy, A.J. Vegas, J.R. Dorkin, D.G. Anderson, Nonviral vectors for gene-based therapy, Nat. Rev. Genet. 15 (2014), https://doi. org/10.1038/nrg3763.
- [316] A. Rodríguez-Gascón, A. del Pozo-Rodríguez, A. Isla, M.A. Solinís, Vaginal gene therapy, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 92 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. addr.2015.07.002.
- [317] C. Lorenz, M. Fotin-Mleczek, G. Roth, C. Becker, T.C. Dam, W.P.R. Verdurmen, R. Brock, J. Probst, T. Schlake, Protein expression from exogenous mRNA: Uptake by receptor-mediated endocytosis and trafficking via the lysosomal pathway, RNA Biol. 8 (2011), https://doi.org/10.4161/rna.8.4.15394.
- [318] S. Golombek, M. Pilz, H. Steinle, E. Kochba, Y. Levin, D. Lunter, C. Schlensak, H. P. Wendel, M. Avci-Adali, Intradermal Delivery of Synthetic mRNA Using Hollow Microneedles for Efficient and Rapid Production of Exogenous Proteins in Skin, Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids 11 (2018), https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.03.005.
- [319] S.A. Moody, Microinjection of mRNAs and Oligonucleotides, Cold Spring Harbor Protocols. 2018 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot097261.
- [320] M.A. Islam, Y. Xu, W. Tao, J.M. Übellacker, M. Lim, D. Aum, G.Y. Lee, K. Zhou, H. Zope, M. Yu, W. Cao, J.T. Oswald, M. Dinarvand, M. Mahmoudi, R. Langer, P.W. Kantoff, O.C. Farokhzad, B.R. Zetter, J. Shi, Restoration of tumour-growth suppression in vivo via systemic nanoparticle-mediated delivery of PTEN mRNA, Nat. Biomed. Eng. 2 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-018-0284-0.
- [321] V.F.I. van Tendeloo, P. Ponsaerts, F. Lardon, G. Nijs, M. Lenjou, C. van Broeckhoven, D.R. van Bockstaele, Z.N. Berneman, Highly efficient gene delivery by mRNA electroporation in human hematopoietic cells: superiority to lipofection and passive pulsing of mRNA and to electroporation of plasmid cDNA for tumor antigen loading of dendritic cells, Blood 98 (2001), https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood.V98.1.49.
- [322] B.A. Aderibigbe, S.S. Ray, Preparation, characterization and in vitro release kinetics of polyaspartamide-based conjugates containing antimalarial and anticancer agents for combination therapy, J. Drug Deliv. Sci. Technol. 36 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2016.09.006.
- [323] S. Guan, J. Rosenecker, Nanotechnologies in delivery of mRNA therapeutics using nonviral vector-based delivery systems, Gene Ther. 24 (2017), https:// doi.org/10.1038/gt.2017.5.
- [324] J.L. Mikitsh, A.-M. Chacko, Pathways for Small Molecule Delivery to the Central Nervous System across the Blood-Brain Barrier, Perspect. Med. Chem. 6 (2014), https://doi.org/10.4137/PMC.S13384.
- [325] R. Mannhold, G.I. Poda, C. Ostermann, I.v. Tetko, Calculation of Molecular Lipophilicity: State-of-the-Art and Comparison of LogP Methods on more than 96,000 Compounds, J. Pharm. Sci. 98 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1002/ jps.21494.
- [326] T. Kanazawa, M. Kaneko, T. Niide, F. Akiyama, S. Kakizaki, H. Ibaraki, S. Shiraishi, Y. Takashima, T. Suzuki, Y. Seta, Enhancement of nose-to-brain

delivery of hydrophilic macromolecules with stearate- or polyethylene glycol-modified arginine-rich peptide, Int. J. Pharm. 530 (2017), https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.07.077.

- [327] L. Jena, E. McErlean, H. McCarthy, Delivery across the blood-brain barrier: nanomedicine for glioblastoma multiforme, Drug Deliv. Transl. Res. 10 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1007/s13346-019-00679-2.
- [328] A. del Pozo-Rodríguez, A. Rodríguez-Gascón, J. Rodríguez-Castejón, M. Vicente-Pascual, I. Gómez-Aguado, L.S. Battaglia, M.Á. Solinís, Gene Therapy, in: Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology, Springer, 2020, pp. 321–368. http://doi.org/10.1007/10\_2019\_109.
- [329] Z. Zhong, S. Mc Cafferty, F. Combes, H. Huysmans, J. de Temmerman, A. Gitsels, D. Vanrompay, J. Portela Catani, N.N. Sanders, mRNA therapeutics deliver a hopeful message, Nano Today 23 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nantod.2018.10.005.
- [330] K.J. Kauffman, J.R. Dorkin, J.H. Yang, M.W. Heartlein, F. DeRosa, F.F. Mir, O.S. Fenton, D.G. Anderson, Optimization of Lipid Nanoparticle Formulations for mRNA Delivery in Vivo with Fractional Factorial and Definitive Screening Designs, Nano Lett. 15 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b02497.
- [331] D. Adams, A. Gonzalez-Duarte, W.D. O'Riordan, C.-C. Yang, M. Ueda, A. v. Kristen, I. Tournev, H.H. Schmidt, T. Coelho, J.L. Berk, K.-P. Lin, G. Vita, S. Attarian, V. Planté-Bordeneuve, M.M. Mezei, J.M. Campistol, J. Buades, T.H. Brannagan, B.J. Kim, J. Oh, Y. Parman, Y. Sekijima, P.N. Hawkins, S.D. Solomon, M. Polydefkis, P.J. Dyck, P.J. Gandhi, S. Goyal, J. Chen, A.L. Strahs, S. v. Nochur, M.T. Sweetser, P.P. Garg, A.K. Vaishnaw, J.A. Gollob, O.B. Suhr, Patisiran, an RNAi Therapeutic, for Hereditary Transthyretin Amyloidosis, New Engl. J. Med. 379 (2018). http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1716153.
- [332] X. Zhang, V. Goel, G.J. Robbie, Pharmacokinetics of Patisiran, the First Approved RNA Interference Therapy in Patients With Hereditary Transthyretin-Mediated Amyloidosis, J. Clin. Pharmacol. (2019), https://doi. org/10.1002/jcph.1553.
- [333] K.A. Hajj, K.A. Whitehead, Tools for translation: non-viral materials for therapeutic mRNA delivery, Nat. Rev. Mater. 2 (2017), https://doi.org/ 10.1038/natrevmats.2017.56.
- [334] B. Vallazza, S. Petri, M.A. Poleganov, F. Eberle, A.N. Kuhn, U. Sahin, Recombinant messenger RNA technology and its application in cancer immunotherapy, transcript replacement therapies, pluripotent stem cell induction, and beyond, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: RNA. 6 (2015), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/wrna.1288.
- [335] K.J. Kauffman, M.J. Webber, D.G. Anderson, Materials for non-viral intracellular delivery of messenger RNA therapeutics, J. Control. Release 240 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.12.032.
- [336] B. Li, X. Zhang, Y. Dong, Nanoscale platforms for messenger RNA delivery, Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 11 (2019), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/wnan.1530.
- [337] W.-Z. Zhou, D.S.B. Hoon, S.K.S. Huang, S. Fujii, K. Hashimoto, R. Morishita, Y. Kaneda, RNA Melanoma Vaccine: Induction of Antitumor Immunity by Human Glycoprotein 100 mRNA Immunization, Hum. Gene Ther. 10 (1999), https://doi.org/10.1089/10430349950016762.
- [338] M.A. McNamara, S.K. Nair, E.K. Holl, RNA-Based Vaccines in Cancer Immunotherapy, Journal of Immunology Research. 2015 (2015), https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/794528.
- [339] D. Boczkowski, S.K. Nair, D. Snyder, E. Gilboa, Dendritic cells pulsed with RNA are potent antigen-presenting cells in vitro and in vivo, J. Exp. Med. 184 (1996), https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.184.2.465.
- [340] R.M. Conry, A.F. Lobuglio, M. Wright, L. Sumerel, M.J. Pike, F. Johanning, R. Benjamin, D. Lu, D.T. Curiel, Characterization of a Messenger RNA Polynucleotide Vaccine Vector', 1995.
- [341] Z. P. Y. XL, W. XG, H. B, Z. L, Z. W, S. HR, Z. Y, L. B, H. CL, C. HD, C. J, L. Y, G. H, J. RD, L. MQ, C. Y, S. XR, W. X, Z. XS, Z. K, C. QJ, D. F, L. LL, Y. B, Z. FX, W. YY, X. GF, S. ZL, A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin, Nature. 579 (2020) 270–273. http://doi.org/10.1038/S41586-020-2012-7.
- [342] Fda, Cber, Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee December 17, 2020 Meeting Briefing Document - FDA, (2020).
- [343] M. Hoffmann, H. Kleine-Weber, S. Schroeder, N. Krüger, T. Herrler, S. Erichsen, T.S. Schiergens, G. Herrler, N.H. Wu, A. Nitsche, M.A. Müller, C. Drosten, S. Pöhlmann, SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor, Cell 181 (2020) 271–280.e8, https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2020.02.052.
- [344] W. D, W. N, C. KS, G. JÄ, H. CL, A. O, G. BS, M. JS, Cryo-EM structure of the 2019-nCoV spike in the prefusion conformation, Science (New York, N.Y.). 367 (2020) 1255–1260. http://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABB2507.
- [345] P. Js, S. Wc, Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7 (2007) 803–815, https://doi.org/10.1038/NRI2171.
- [346] A.J. Chauhan, L.J. Wiffen, T.P. Brown, COVID-19: A collision of complement, coagulation and inflammatory pathways, J. Thromb. Haemost. 18 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.14981.
- [347] L.C. Barbosa, T.L. Gonçalves, L.P. de Araujo, L.V.de O. Rosario, V.P. Ferrer, Endothelial cells and SARS-CoV-2: An intimate relationship, Vasc.Pharmacol. 137 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vph.2021.106829.
- [348] C. Pelaia, C. Tinello, A. Vatrella, G. de Sarro, G. Pelaia, Lung under attack by COVID-19-induced cytokine storm: pathogenic mechanisms and therapeutic implications, Therapeutic Adv. Respiratory Dis. 14 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1753466620933508.
- [349] N. Vabret, G.J. Britton, C. Gruber, S. Hegde, J. Kim, M. Kuksin, R. Levantovsky, L. Malle, A. Moreira, M.D. Park, L. Pia, E. Risson, M. Saffern,

B. Salomé, M. Esai Selvan, M.P. Spindler, J. Tan, V. van der Heide, J.K. Gregory, K. Alexandropoulos, N. Bhardwaj, B.D. Brown, B. Greenbaum, Z.H. Gümüş, D. Homann, A. Horowitz, A.O. Kamphorst, M.A. Curotto de Lafaille, S. Mehandru, M. Merad, R.M. Samstein, M. Agrawal, M. Aleynick, M. Belabed, M. Brown, M. Casanova-Acebes, J. Catalan, M. Centa, A. Charap, A. Chan, S.T. Chen, J. Chung, C.C. Bozkus, E. Cody, F. Cossarini, E. Dalla, N. Fernandez, J. Grout, D.F. Ruan, P. Hamon, E. Humblin, D. Jha, J. Kodysh, A. Leader, M. Lin, K. Lindblad, D. Lozano-Ojalvo, G. Lubitz, A. Magen, Z. Mahmood, G. Martinez-Delgado, J. Mateus-Tique, E. Meritt, C. Moon, J. Noel, T. O'Donnell, M. Ota, T. Plitt, V. Pothula, J. Redes, I. Reyes Torres, M. Roberto, A.R. Sanchez-Paulete, J. Shang, A.S. Schanoski, M. Suprun, M. Tran, N. Vaninov, C.M. Wilk, J. Aguirre-Ghiso, D. Bogunovic, J. Cho, J. Faith, E. Grasset, P. Heeger, E. Kenigsberg, F. Krammer, U. Laserson, Immunology of COVID-19: Current State of the Science, Immunity 52 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2020.05.002.

- [350] S. de Biasi, M. Meschiari, L. Gibellini, C. Bellinazzi, R. Borella, L. Fidanza, L. Gozzi, A. Iannone, D. Io Tartaro, M. Mattioli, A. Paolini, M. Menozzi, J. Milić, G. Franceschi, R. Fantini, R. Tonelli, M. Sita, M. Sarti, T. Trenti, L. Brugioni, L. Cicchetti, F. Facchinetti, A. Pietrangelo, E. Clini, M. Girardis, G. Guaraldi, C. Mussini, A. Cossarizza, Marked T cell activation, senescence, exhaustion and skewing towards TH17 in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia, Nat. Commun. 11 (2020). http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17292-4.
- [351] S. Felsenstein, J.A. Herbert, P.S. McNamara, C.M. Hedrich, COVID-19: Immunology and treatment options, Clin. Immunol. 215 (2020), https://doi. org/10.1016/j.clim.2020.108448.
- [352] H.F. Florindo, R. Kleiner, D. Vaskovich-Koubi, R.C. Acúrcio, B. Carreira, E. Yeini, G. Tiram, Y. Liubomirski, R. Satchi-Fainaro, Immune-mediated approaches against COVID-19, Nat. Nanotechnol. 15 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41565-020-0732-3.
- [353] M. Noris, A. Benigni, G. Remuzzi, The case of complement activation in COVID-19 multiorgan impact, Kidney Int. 98 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.kint.2020.05.013.
- [354] W. L, S. D, C. AE, F. H, G. BD, S. E, P. SP, C. AF, G. J, A Human 3D neural assembloid model for SARS-CoV-2 infection, BioRxiv: Preprint Server Biol. (2021). http://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.09.430349.
- [355] J. Qiao, W. Li, J. Bao, Q. Peng, D. Wen, J. Wang, B. Sun, The expression of SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 and CD147, and protease TMPRSS2 in human and mouse brain cells and mouse brain tissues, (2020). http://doi.org/10.1016/j. bbrc.2020.09.042.
- [356] I. Hamming, W. Timens, M. Bulthuis, A. Lely, G. Navis, H. van Goor, Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis, J. Pathol. 203 (2004), https:// doi.org/10.1002/path.1570.
- [357] R. Chen, K. Wang, J. Yu, D. Howard, L. French, Z. Chen, C. Wen, Z. Xu, The Spatial and Cell-Type Distribution of SARS-CoV-2 Receptor ACE2 in the Human and Mouse Brains, Front. Neurol. (2021) 1860, https://doi.org/ 10.3389/FNEUR.2020.573095.
- [358] M.F. DosSantos, S. Devalle, V. Aran, D. Capra, N.R. Roque, J. de M. Coelho-Aguiar, T.C.L. de S. e Spohr, J.G. Subilhaga, C.M. Pereira, I. D'Andrea Meira, P. Niemeyer Soares Filho, V. Moura-Neto, Neuromechanisms of SARS-CoV-2: A Review, Front. Neuroanatomy. 0 (2020) 37. http://doi.org/10.3389/ FNANA.2020.00037.
- [359] X. H, S. S, C. KH, L. E, Brain angiotensin-converting enzyme type 2 shedding contributes to the development of neurogenic hypertension, Circul. Res. 113 (2013) 1087–1096. http://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301811.
- [360] H. Xu, L Zhong, J. Deng, J. Peng, H. Dan, X. Zeng, T. Li, Q. Chen, High expression of ACE2 receptor of 2019-nCoV on the epithelial cells of oral mucosa, Int. J. Oral Sci. 2020 12:1. 12 (2020) 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41368-020-0074x.
- [361] Y. Ding, L. He, Q. Zhang, Z. Huang, X. Che, J. Hou, H. Wang, H. Shen, L. Qiu, Z. Li, J. Geng, J. Cai, H. Han, X. Li, W. Kang, D. Weng, P. Liang, S. Jiang, Organ distribution of severe acute respiratory syndrome(SARS) associated coronavirus(SARS-CoV) in SARS patients: implications for pathogenesis and virus transmission pathways, J. Pathol. 203 (2004), https://doi.org/ 10.1002/path.1560.
- [362] J. Gu, E. Gong, B. Zhang, J. Zheng, Z. Gao, Y. Zhong, W. Zou, J. Zhan, S. Wang, Z. Xie, H. Zhuang, B. Wu, H. Zhong, H. Shao, W. Fang, D. Gao, F. Pei, X. Li, Z. He, D. Xu, X. Shi, V.M. Anderson, A.-S.-Y. Leong, Multiple organ infection and the pathogenesis of SARS, J. Exp. Med. 202 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20050828.
- [363] K. Li, C. Wohlford-Lenane, S. Perlman, J. Zhao, A.K. Jewell, L.R. Reznikov, K.N. Gibson-Corley, D.K. Meyerholz, P.B. McCray, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Causes Multiple Organ Damage and Lethal Disease in Mice Transgenic for Human Dipeptidyl Peptidase 4, J. Infect. Dis. 213 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiv499.
- [364] D.H. Brann, T. Tsukahara, C. Weinreb, M. Lipovsek, K. van den Berge, B. Gong, R. Chance, I.C. Macaulay, H.-J. Chou, R.B. Fletcher, D. Das, K. Street, H.R. de Bezieux, Y.-G. Choi, D. Risso, S. Dudoit, E. Purdom, J. Mill, R.A. Hachem, H. Matsunami, D.W. Logan, B.J. Goldstein, M.S. Grubb, J. Ngai, S.R. Datta, Nonneuronal expression of SARS-CoV-2 entry genes in the olfactory system suggests mechanisms underlying COVID-19-associated anosmia, Sci. Adv. 6 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abc5801.
  [365] L. Mao, H. Jin, M. Wang, Y. Hu, S. Chen, Q. He, J. Chang, C. Hong, Y. Zhou, D.
- [365] L. Mao, H. Jin, M. Wang, Y. Hu, S. Chen, Q. He, J. Chang, C. Hong, Y. Zhou, D. Wang, X. Miao, Y. Li, B. Hu, Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China, JAMA Neurol. 77 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127.

- [366] M. Ghobrial, J. Charish, S. Takada, T. Valiante, P.P. Monnier, I. Radovanovic, G. D. Bader, T. Walchli, The human brain vasculature shows a distinct expression pattern of SARS-CoV-2 entry factors, BioRxiv (2021), https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.10.334664.
- [367] Z. Chen, G. Li, Immune response and blood-brain barrier dysfunction during viral neuroinvasion, Innate Immunity. 27 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1753425920954281.
- [368] I. Alquisiras-Burgos, I. Peralta-Arrieta, L.A. Alonso-Palomares, A.E. Zacapala-Gómez, E.G. Salmerón-Bárcenas, P. Aguilera, Neurological Complications Associated with the Blood-Brain Barrier Damage Induced by the Inflammatory Response During SARS-COV-2 Infection, Mol. Neurobiol. 58 (2021), https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-02134-7.
- [369] J.A. Siegenthaler, F. Sohet, R. Daneman, 'Sealing off the CNS': cellular and molecular regulation of blood-brain barriergenesis, Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23 (2013), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2013.06.006.
- [370] U.H. Langen, S. Ayloo, C. Gu, Development and Cell Biology of the Blood-Brain Barrier, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 35 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevcellbio-100617-062608.
- [371] M. Desforges, A. le Coupanec, P. Dubeau, A. Bourgouin, L. Lajoie, M. Dubé, P.J. Talbot, Human Coronaviruses and Other Respiratory Viruses: Underestimated Opportunistic Pathogens of the Central Nervous System?, Viruses 12 (2019), https://doi.org/10.3390/v12010014.
- [372] T.P. Buzhdygan, S.J. DeOre, A. Baldwin-Leclair, H. McGary, R. Razmpour, P.A. Galie, R. Potula, A.M. Andrews, S.H. Ramirez, The SARS-CoV-2 spike protein alters barrier function in 2D static and 3D microfluidic in vitro models of the human blood-brain barrier, BioRxiv. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1101/ 2020.06.15.150912.
- [373] A. Paniz-Mondolfi, C. Bryce, Z. Grimes, R.E. Gordon, J. Reidy, J. Lednicky, E.M. Sordillo, M. Fowkes, Central nervous system involvement by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2), J. Med. Virol. 92 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25915.
- [374] H. Puerta-Guardo, D.R. Glasner, D.A. Espinosa, S.B. Biering, M. Patana, K. Ratnasiri, C. Wang, P.R. Beatty, E. Harris, Flavivirus NS1 Triggers Tissue-Specific Vascular Endothelial Dysfunction Reflecting Disease Tropism, Cell Reports. 26 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.036.
- [375] COVID Live Update: 207,541,683 Cases and 4,367,373 Deaths from the Coronavirus - Worldometer, (n.d.). https://www.worldometers. info/coronavirus/ (accessed August 13, 2021).
- [376] A. Gras Navarro, A.T. Björklund, M. Chekenya, Therapeutic Potential and Challenges of Natural Killer Cells in Treatment of Solid Tumors, Front. Immunol. 6 (2015), https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00202.
- [377] L. W, G. W, C. R, W. W, L J, X. K, L. C, A. Q, L. W, L. H, L. S, H. J, Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China, The Lancet. Oncol. 21 (2020) 335–337. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30096-6.
- [378] Y. Meng, W. Lu, E. Guo, J. Liu, B. Yang, P. Wu, S. Lin, T. Peng, Y. Fu, F. Li, Z. Wang, Y. Li, R. Xiao, C. Liu, Y. Huang, F. Lu, X. Wu, L. You, D. Ma, C. Sun, P. Wu, G. Chen, Cancer history is an independent risk factor for mortality in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: a propensity score-matched analysis, J. Hematol. Oncol. 13 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13045-020-00907-0.
- [379] H. Wang, L. Zhang, Risk of COVID-19 for patients with cancer, Lancet Oncol. 21 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30149-2.
- [380] J. Yu, W. Ouyang, M.L.K. Chua, C. Xie, SARS-CoV-2 Transmission in Patients With Cancer at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Wuhan, China, JAMA Oncol. 6 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.0980.
- [381] P. Chai, J. Yu, S. Ge, R. Jia, X. Fan, Genetic alteration, RNA expression, and DNA methylation profiling of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) receptor ACE2 in malignancies: a pan-cancer analysis, J. Hematol. Oncol. 2020 13:1. 13 (2020) 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1186/S13045-020-00883-5.
- [382] H. Zhang, K. Quek, R. Chen, J. Chen, B. Chen, Expression of the SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 reveals the susceptibility of COVID-19 in non-small cell lung cancer, J. Cancer. 11 (2020) 5289, https://doi.org/10.7150/JCA.49462.
- [383] Cancer Labs Pivot to Battle COVID-19, Cancer Discov. 10 (2020). http://doi. org/10.1158/2159-8290.CD-ND2020-006.
- [384] D. Chakravarty, S.S. Nair, N. Hammouda, P. Ratnani, Y. Gharib, V. Wagaskar, N. Mohamed, D. Lundon, Z. Dovey, N. Kyprianou, A.K. Tewari, Sex differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection rates and the potential link to prostate cancer, Commun. Biol. 3 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-1088-9.
- [385] A. Desai, S. Sachdeva, T. Parekh, R. Desai, COVID-19 and Cancer: Lessons From a Pooled Meta-Analysis, JCO Glob. Oncol. (2020), https://doi.org/10.1200/ GO.20.00097.

- [386] Y. Ged, M.C. Markowski, P.M. Pierorazio, Advanced renal cell carcinoma and COVID-19 – a personal perspective, Nat. Rev. Urol. 17 (2020), https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41585-020-0345-5.
- [387] N.M. Kuderer, T.K. Choueiri, D.P. Shah, Y. Shyr, S.M. Rubinstein, D.R. Rivera, S. Shete, C.-Y. Hsu, A. Desai, G. de Lima Lopes, P. Grivas, C.A. Painter, S. Peters, M. A. Thompson, Z. Bakouny, G. Batist, T. Bekaii-Saab, M.A. Bilen, N. Bouganim, M.B. Larroya, D. Castellano, S.A. del Prete, D.B. Doroshow, P.C. Egan, A. Elkrief, D. Farmakiotis, D. Flora, M.D. Galsky, M.J. Glover, E.A. Griffiths, A.P. Gulati, S. Gupta, N. Hafez, T.R. Halfdanarson, J.E. Hawley, E. Hsu, A. Kasi, A.R. Khaki, C.A. Lemmon, C. Lewis, B. Logan, T. Masters, R.R. McKay, R.A. Mesa, A.K. Morgans, M.F. Mulcahy, O.A. Panagiotou, P. Peddi, N.A. Pennell, K. Reynolds, L.R. Rosen, R. Rosovsky, M. Salazar, A. Schmidt, S.A. Shah, J.A. Shaya, J. Steinharter, K.E. Stockerl-Goldstein, S. Subbiah, D.C. Vinh, F.H. Wehbe, L.B. Weissmann, J.T.-Y. Wu, E. Wulff-Burchfield, Z. Xie, A. Yeh, P.P. Yu, A.Y. Zhou, L. Zubiri, S. Mishra, G.H. Lyman, B.I. Rini, J.L. Warner, M. Abidi, J.D. Acoba, N. Agarwal, S. Ahmad, A. Ajmera, J. Altman, A.H. Angevine, N. Azad, M.H. Bar, A. Bardia, J. Barnholtz-Sloan, B. Barrow, B. Bashir, R. Belenkaya, S. Berg, E.H. Bernicker, C. Bestvina, R. Bishnoi, G. Boland, M. Bonnen, G. Bouchard, D.W. Bowles, F. Busser, A. Cabal, P. Caimi, T. Carducci, C. Casulo, J.L. Chen, J.M. Clement, D. Chism, E. Cook, C. Curran, A. Daher, M. Dailey, S. Dahiya, J. Deeken, G.D. Demetri, S. DiLullo, N. Duma, R. Elias, B. Faller, L.A. Fecher, L.E. Feldman, C.R. Friese, P. Fu, J. Fu, A. Futreal, J. Gainor, J. Garcia, D.M. Gill, E.A. Gillaspie, A. Giordano, (Mary) Grace Glace, A. Grothey, S. Gulati, M. Gurley, B. Halmos, R. Herbst, D. Hershman, K. Hoskins, R.K. Jain, S. Jabbour, A. Jha, D.B. Johnson, M. Joshi, K. Kelleher, J. Kharofa, H. Khan, J. Knoble, V.S. Koshkin, A.A. Kulkarni, P.E. Lammers, J.C. Leighton, M.A. Lewis, X. Li, A. Li, K.M.S. Lo, A. Loaiza-Bonilla, P. LoRusso, C.A. Low, M.B. Lustberg, D. Mahadevan, A.-H. Mansoor, M. Marcum, M.J. Markham, C. Handy Marshall, S.H. Mashru, S. Matar, C. McNair, S. McWeeney, J.M. Mehnert, A. Menendez, H. Menon, M. Messmer, R. Monahan, S. Mushtaq, G. Nagaraj, S. Nagle, J. Naidoo, J.M. Nakayama, V. Narayan, H.H. Nelson, E.R. Nemecek, R. Nguyen, P.V. Nuzzo, P.E. Oberstein, A.J. Olszewski, S. Owenby, M.M. Pasquinelli, J. Philip, S. Prabhakaran, M. Puc, A. Ramirez, J. Rathmann, S.G. Revankar, Y.S. Rho, T.D. Rhodes, R.L. Rice, G.J. Riely, J. Riess, C. Rink, E. v. Robilotti, L. Rosenstein, B. Routy, M.A. Rovito, M.W. Saif, A. Sanyal, L. Schapira, C. Schwartz, O. Serrano, M. Shah, C. Shah, G. Shaw, A. Shergill, G. Shouse, H.P. Soares, C.C. Solorzano, P.K. Srivastava, K. Stauffer, D.G. Stover, J. Stratton, C. Stratton, V. Subbiah, R. Tamimi, N.M. Tannir, U. Topaloglu, E. van Allen, S. van Loon, K. Vega-Luna, N. Venepalli, A.K. Verma, P. Vikas, S. Wall, P.L. Weinstein, M. Weiss, T. Wise-Draper, W.A. Wood, W. (Vincent) Xu, S. Yackzan, R. Zacks, T. Zhang, A.J. Zimmer, J. West, Clinical impact of COVID-19 on patients with cancer (CCC19): a cohort study, The Lancet. 395 (2020). http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31187-9.
- [388] P.A. van Dam, M. Huizing, G. Mestach, S. Dierckxsens, W. Tjalma, X.B. Trinh, K. Papadimitriou, S. Altintas, J. Vermorken, C. Vulsteke, A. Janssens, Z. Berneman, H. Prenen, L. Meuris, W. vanden Berghe, E. Smits, M. Peeters, SARS-CoV-2 and cancer: Are they really partners in crime? Cancer Treat. Rev. 89 (2020). http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.102068.
- [389] N. Šaheb Sharif-Askari, F. Saheb Sharif-Askari, M. Alabed, A.A. Tayoun, T. Loney, M. Uddin, A. Senok, S. al Heialy, R. Hamoudi, T. Kashour, A. Alsheikh-Ali, Q. Hamid, R. Halwani, Effect of Common Medications on the Expression of SARS-CoV-2 Entry Receptors in Kidney Tissue, Clin. Transl. Sci. 13 (2020). http://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12862.
- [390] A.C. Cameron, R.M. Touyz, N.N. Lang, Vascular Complications of Cancer Chemotherapy, Can. J. Cardiol. 32 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cjca.2015.12.023.
- [391] J. Herrmann, E.H. Yang, C.A. Iliescu, M. Cilingiroglu, K. Charitakis, A. Hakeem, K. Toutouzas, M.A. Leesar, C.L. Grines, K. Marmagkiolis, Vascular Toxicities of Cancer Therapies, Circulation 133 (2016), https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018347.
- [392] J.J. Breunig, R. Levy, C.D. Antonuk, J. Molina, M. Dutra-Clarke, H. Park, A.A. Akhtar, G.B. Kim, T. Town, X. Hu, S.I. Bannykh, R.G.W. Verhaak, M. Danielpour, Ets Factors Regulate Neural Stem Cell Depletion and Gliogenesis in Ras Pathway Glioma, Cell Rep. 12 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1016/j. celrep.2015.06.012.
- [393] G.B. Kim, D. Rincon Fernandez Pacheco, D. Saxon, A. Yang, S. Sabet, M. Dutra-Clarke, R. Levy, A. Watkins, H. Park, A. Abbasi Akhtar, P.W. Linesch, N. Kobritz, S.S. Chandra, K. Grausam, A. Ayala-Sarmiento, J. Molina, K. Sedivakova, K. Hoang, J. Tsyporin, D.S. Gareau, M.G. Filbin, S. Bannykh, C. Santiskulvong, Y. Wang, J. Tang, M.L. Suva, B. Chen, M. Danielpour, J.J. Breunig, Rapid Generation of Somatic Mouse Mosaics with Locus-Specific, Stably Integrated Transgenic Elements, Cell. 179 (2019). http://doi.org/10.1016/ j.cell.2019.08.013.